
 
 

CABINET 
Agenda 
 

Date Monday 26 March 2018 
 

Time 6.00 pm 
 

Venue Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on 
any item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect 
his/her ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul 
Entwistle or Liz Drogan in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Liz Drogan Tel. 0161 770 5151 
or email elizabeth.drogan@oldham.gov.uk  
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS – Any member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the Contact officer by 12 Noon on Wednesday, 21 
March 2018. 
 
4.  FILMING - The Council, members of the public and the press may 
record / film / photograph or broadcast this meeting when the public and the 
press are not lawfully excluded.  Any member of the public who attends a 
meeting and objects to being filmed should advise the Constitutional 
Services Officer who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio and visual 
will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a private 
meeting is held. 
 

Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 

including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 Councillors Akhtar, Brownridge, Chadderton, Harrison, F Hussain, Jabbar, 

Moores and Stretton 
 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

Public Document Pack



 
 

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of Previous Meetings (Pages 1 - 20) 

 The Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on 19th and 26th February 2018 
are attached for approval. 

6   Oldham Town Centre Masterplan Delivery Options (Pages 21 - 32) 

7   PFI Refinancing (Pages 33 - 38) 

8   Disposal of former Breeze Hill School, Roxbury Avenue, Salem [St. Marys] 
(Pages 39 - 42) 

9   Tree Surgery Framework of Contractors (Pages 43 - 46) 

10   Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2017/18 Quarter 3 - 
December 2017 (Pages 47 - 78) 

11   Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 (Pages 79 - 124) 

12   Highway Safety Inspection Policy (Pages 125 - 162) 

13   Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy (Pages 163 - 182) 

14   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they contain exempt information under 
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on 
balance, be in the public interest to disclose the reports. 

15   Oldham Town Centre Masterplan Delivery Options (Pages 183 - 412) 

16   PFI Refinancing (Pages 413 - 422) 

17   Disposal of former Breeze Hill School, Roxbury Avenue, Salem [St. Marys] 
(Pages 423 - 436) 

18   Tree Surgery Framework of Contractors (Pages 437 - 442) 

 



 

 

CABINET 
19/02/2018 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor   Stretton (Chair) 
Councillors Akhtar, Brownridge, Chadderton, F Hussain, Jabbar, 
and Moores  
 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Harrison.  

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

5   MINUTES OF THE PERFORMANCE AND VALUE SELECT 
COMMITTEE - ADMINISTRATION BUDGET HELD ON 25TH 
JANUARY 2018  

 

RESOLVED – That the deliberations and comments of the 
Performance and Value for Money Select Committee held on 
the 25th January 2018 be noted. 

6   MINUTES OF THE PERFORMANCE AND VALUE SELECT 
COMMITTEE - OPPOSITION BUDGET HELD ON 6TH 
FEBRUARY 2018  

 

Members considered the minutes of the opposition budget 
Performance and Value for Money Select Committee. 
Whilst the proposals were not recommended as 2018/19 budget 
amendments the Select Committee did recommend to Cabinet 
in future years: 

a) To consider saving proposals to replace traditional street 
lighting bulbs with LEDs following a review of feasibility 
and costs and to implement an increase in bus lane 
enforcement.  

b) Council Strategies put in place to achieve 
transformational change should be directly linked to 
budget proposals or income targets. 

Members agreed to incorporate the proposals into the budget for 
future years and this was detailed at Item 8 of the agenda.  
RESOLVED – That:  
The deliberations and comments of the Performance and Value 
for Money Select Committee held on 6th February 2018 be 
noted. 
The incorporation of two proposals into the budget for future 
years be agreed; 

c) To consider saving proposals to replace traditional street 
lighting bulbs with LEDs following a review of feasibility 
and costs and to implement an increase in bus lane 
enforcement.  

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 

d) Council Strategies put in place to achieve 
transformational change should be directly linked to 
budget proposals or income targets. 

7   REVENUE MONITOR AND CAPITAL INVESTMENT 
PROGRAMME 2017/18- MONTH 8 - NOVEMBER 2017  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Finance which provided Members with an update on the 
Council’s 2017/18 revenue budget position and the financial 
position of the capital programme as at 30 November 2017, 
together with the revised capital programme 2017/21.  
Revenue Position  
The current forecast outturn position for 2017/18 was a 
projected favourable variance of £0.150m after allowing for 
approved and pending transfers to and from reserves.  
Corporately, whilst there was a projected underspend at the end 
of the financial year, it was key to note the fluctuations contained 
within the net position. There were 2 portfolios: Health and 
Wellbeing and Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods with 
adverse variances, the most significant being that of Children’s 
Social Care within Health and Wellbeing, a demand led service 
that was under pressure to deliver within the current budget 
allocation.  
There was a projected overspend of £3.468m within the Health 
and Wellbeing Portfolio attributable in main to Children’s Social 
Care and a reported pressure of £0.553m within the Economy, 
Skills and Neighbourhoods Directorate. 
The total forecast overspend within the Health and Wellbeing 
and Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods portfolios was being 
offset by a projected underspend of £3.995m within Capital, 
Treasury and Corporate Accounting.  
Capital Position  
The most up to date capital spending proposals for 2017/21 
were provided to Members. The revised Capital programme 
budget was £35.882m at the close of month 8, a net decrease of 
£5.118m from the revised budget at quarter 2 of £41.00m. 
Actual expenditure to 30 November 2017 was £12.739m (35.5% 
of forecast outturn).  
It was reported that at this stage in the financial year, the 
forecast position would continue to change with additional re-
profiling into future years.  
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – To approve the forecast revenue and capital 
positions presented in the report including proposed changes. 
Option 2 – To approve some of the forecasts and changes 
detailed within the report. 
Option 3 – Not to approve any of the forecasts and changes 
detailed within the report.  
 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The forecast revenue outturn for 2017/18 at Month 8 
being a £0.150m under spend be approved.  

2. The forecast positions for both the Housing Revenue 
Account and Collection Fund as detailed within the report 
be approved.  

Page 2



 

 

3. The use of reserves as detailed in Appendix 1 to Annexe 
1 of the report be approved.  

4. The revised capital programme for 2017/21 as at 30 
November 2017, Month 8 be approved.  

8   REVENUE BUDGET 2018/19 AND MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2018/19 TO 2021/22  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Finance 
which presented to the Cabinet the current Administration’s 
budget and budget proposals for 2018/19 together with the 
forecast budget gap estimates for the period 2019/20 to 
2021/22, having regard to the Provisional Local Government 
Finance Settlement published on 19th December 2017 and 
subsequent Final Local Government Settlement published on 6th 
February 2018.  
This report set out the proposals for the Council’s Revenue 
Budget for 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
2018/19 to 2021/22. 
Cabinet were provided with details of the key financial 
challenges and issues which would be faced by the Council over 
the forecast period.  
The report included an update on the national and regional 
policy landscape within which the council operated including a 
summary of the economic outlook published alongside the most 
recent Autumn Statement, key aspects of the Local Government 
Finance regime including the Greater Manchester 100% 
business rates retention pilot scheme and the pooling of 
Business Rates for 2018/19. 
Section 8 of the report provided details of the key budget 
adjustments and expenditure pressures underpinning the 
forecast. 
Section 9 of the report included details of the Provisional Local 
Government Finance Settlement published on 19th December 
2017. 
The report also provided the latest available forecasts for 
Government Grant income and locally generated income from 
retained Business Rates and Council Tax.  
Based on the latest estimates the budget reduction 
requirements for 2018/19 had reduced from the previously 
reported figure of £24.818m to £13.950m, the significant 
improvement was due to a range of favourable changes to the 
estimates, set out in detail at Section 12 to the report.  
Section 13 of the report detailed the Administration’s budget 
reduction proposals. There were a total of 35 proposals, 
delivering savings of £6.686m in 2018/19. If approved the 
proposals would further reduce the budget reduction 
requirement to £7.264m for 2018/19.  
Section 14 of the report explained the approach to balancing the 
2018/19 budget through the use of reserves. To protect services 
from deeper spending reductions it was proposed to finance the 
Early Help pressure of £0.689m from reserves and to utilise a 
further £2.658m of Business Rates resource carried over from 
2017/18.   
Section 18 of the report presented proposed Council Tax and 
Adult Social Care precept levels for Oldham Council comprising 

Page 3



 

 

a general increase of 1.99% and a 2% increase for Adult Social 
Care precept (3.99% in total).  
The overall Council Tax level in Oldham incorporated the 
Council Tax charges by precepting Authorities. On the 26th 
January 2018 the GM Mayor proposed to the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority a £12 increase to the Police 
element in line with Government limits and a £9 increase to the 
general precept. The proposals were subject to formal approval 
on 20th February 2018. Section 18 also provided detail of the 
Precepts for the Shaw and Crompton and Saddleworth 
Parishes.  
Councillor Jabbar Cabinet Member for Finance and HR, moved 
an amendment to the report. Paragraph 8.7 at Section 8 to the 
report and paragraph 12.28 at Section 12 to the report to be 
amended to reflect the following: The £701k Adult Social Care 
Support Grant for 2018/19 would not be passported directly to 
Adult Social Care but would be held for general social care. This 
was agreed unanimously.  
It was reported that approval of the proposals set out in the 
report in full by Council would deliver a balanced revenue 
budget for 2018/19. The budget reduction for subsequent years 
was forecast to be £17.986m 2019/20, £7.817m for 2020/21 and 
£7.470m for 2021/22. 
The Fees and Charges proposals for 2018/19 were presented at 
Appendix and the Council’s Pay Policy Statement was 
presented at Appendix 5.  
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – Cabinet accept the assumptions and resulting 
financial forecasts presented within the report and the budget 
position at Appendix 1.  
Option 2 – Cabinet propose amendments to the assumptions 
which would change the resulting budget gap and financial 
forecasts.  
Option 3 – Cabinet approves and commends to Council all the 
budget reduction proposals included in this report to the value of 
£6.686m for approval and the approach to the use of reserves 
and balances and as well as Council Tax and Adult Social Care 
Precept increases and Cabinet considers comments from the 
PVFM Select Committee of 6 February 2018.  
Option 4 - Cabinet requests that further work is undertaken on 
some or all of the budget proposals and the approach to 
reserves and balances and that Cabinet considers a revised 
position.  
 
RESOLVED – That:  

1. That Cabinet approves and commends to Council:  

a) The national and regional policy landscape determining 

the context in which the Council is setting its revenue 

budget for 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Strategy 

to 2021/22;  

b) The impact of Oldham Council Policies and Strategies on 

the Council’s budget setting process and the 

development of its Medium Term Financial Strategy;  

Page 4



 

 

c) The financial forecasts for 2018/19 to 2021/22 having 

regard to the Provisional and Final Local Government 

Finance Settlement and associated funding 

announcements;  

d) The key issues to be addressed in continuing to respond 

to the financial challenges facing the Council;  

e) The 2018/19 Budget Reduction Proposals at a value of 

£6.686m;  

f) The proposed use of £7.264m of reserves to balance the 

2018/19 budget;  

g) Paragraph 8.7 at Section 8 to the report and paragraph 

12.28 at Section 12 to the report be amended to reflect 

the following: The £701k Adult Social Care Support Grant 

for 2018/19 would not be passported directly to Adult 

Social Care but would be held for general social care. 

h) The fees and charges schedule included at Appendix 4;  

i) The pay policy statement included at Appendix 5;  

j) A proposed Council Tax increase of 3.99% for Oldham 

Council services resulting in the charges set out at 

paragraph 18.3 and Table 22 of the report;  

k) The proposal to draw on the Collection Fund for major 

preceptors of £100.494m for Borough Wide services and 

£86.953m for Council services;  

l) The proposed budget for 2018/19 for the Council set at 

£216.921m; and  

m) Revised budget reduction targets of £17.986m for 

2019/20, £7.817m for 2020/21 and £7.470m for 2021/22.  

2. The comments of the PVFM Select Committee from its 
meeting of 6 February 2018 as set out at paragraph 13.9; 

a) To consider saving proposals to replace traditional street 
lighting bulbs with LEDs following a review of feasibility 
and costs and to implement an increase in bus lane 
enforcement.  

b) Council Strategies put in place to achieve 
transformational change should be directly linked to 
budget proposals or income targets; 

 be incorporated into the budget for future years.  

9   HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT ESTIMATES FOR 2018/19 
TO 2021/22 AND PROPOSED OUTTURN 2017/18  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Finance which out the latest Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
outturn estimate for 2017/18, the detailed budget for 2018/19 
and strategic estimates for the three years 2019/20 through to 
2021/22. The report also sets out the recommended dwelling 
and non-dwelling rents and service charge increases to be 
applied from April 2018. 
It was reported that after taking all relevant issues into account, 
the projected financial position for 2017/18 was estimated to be 
a £1.785m positive variance when compared to the original 
budget forecast for 2017/18 approved by Council 1st March 
2017. The majority of this variance was attributed to the re-

Page 5



 

 

profiling of HRA funded capital schemes into later years due to 
revisions to planned spending profiles. 
The financial position for 2018/19 showed an estimated HRA 
closing balance of £18.870m which was considered to be 
sufficient to meet future operational commitments and the 
potential financial pressures identified in the risk assessment. 
The 2018/19 position had been presented after allowing for an 
increase in rent of 4%.  
Members noted the Government had already advised that 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) properties would be exempt from 
Central Government’s 1% Social Rent Reduction Programme. 
As all Oldham housing stock was contained within two PFI 
schemes, the 2018/19 budget would follow historic rent setting 
guidance of Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 1%, resulting in an 
increase of 2% (CPI was taken as at September 2017).  
The proposed HRA budget report was presented for 
consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Performance and 
Value for Money Select Committee on 25 January 2018. The 
Select Committee was content to commend the report to 
Cabinet for approval.  
Options/Alternatives considered  
In order that the Council complied with legislative requirements it 
must consider and approve a Housing Revenue Account budget 
for 2018/19. 
Within the summer budget announcement of July 2015, the 
Government imposed a 1% per annum social rent reduction for 
4 years. All Oldham housing stock would be exempt from this 
decrease and an increase would be applied in accordance with 
current Government guidance.  
Should the Council not wish to continue with the established 
practice of following Government guidelines, 2 potential 
scenarios had been assessed: 

- proposed rent increase of 4% is changed to 2% 
- proposed rent increase is removed altogether  
The loss to the Housing Revenue Account in terms of 
income would be in 2018/19, a 2% increase £157,000 and 
0% increase £315,000 and impact over the life of the 
business plan at 2% £3,954m and 0% £7,908m. 

 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The forecast Housing Revenue Account outturn for 
2017/18 as per Appendix A to the report be approved and 
commended to Council.   

2. The proposed Housing Revenue Account budget for 
2018/19 as per Appendix B to the report be approved and 
commended to Council.  

3. The strategic estimates for 2019/20 to 2021/22 as per 
Appendix D to the report be approved and commended to 
Council.  

4. The proposed increase to dwelling rents for all properties 
of 4% be approved and commended to Council.  

5. The proposed increase to be as per individual contracts 
be approved and commended to Council.  

Page 6



 

 

6. The proposed increase to Private Finance Initiative 2 
service charges to continue previously approved 
transitional arrangements but without an inflationary uplift 
be approved and commended to Council.  

7. The proposed no inflationary increase to Private Finance 
Initiative 4 service charges be approved and commended 
to Council.  

10   CAPITAL STRATEGY AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
2018/19 TO 2021/22  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Finance which set out the proposed Capital Strategy and 
Programme for 2018/19 to 2021/22, utilising the essential 
elements of the 2017/21 and previous years’ strategies and 
programmes and progressed those elements in the context of 
the financial and political environment for 2018/19.  
In preparing the 2018/19-2021/22 Capital Strategy, account had 
been taken of local issues, the increase and change in the 
nature of central Government funding and the continued 
uncertainty regarding the level of funding in future years. 
The principles of the Strategy had been prepared in light of all 
available information and listed areas of potential future 
investment, subject to the availability of resources.  
In overall terms, the Capital Programme included proposed 
expenditure for 2018/19 of £89.658m, with the largest area of 
expenditure being on development and infrastructure projects 
within the Economy, Skills and Neighbourhood Directorate. Total 
expenditure increased to £105.681m in 2019/20, falling to 
£36.605m in 2020/21, and £11.234m in the final year of the 
current programme.  
The main sources of funding were prudential borrowing and 
Government grants. The programme in 2018/19 relied on 
£40.664m of prudential borrowing. In addition there was 
£29.504m of Government grants and other contributions and 
£17.347m of capital receipts. The Housing Revenue Account 
contributed £2.143m towards housing projects. Future years 
were also predominantly reliant on prudential borrowing and 
Government grants.  
It was, however, likely that the capital position would change 
prior to the start of 2018/19 and during the year:  

- it was possible that there would be further Government 
funding allocations prior to the start of 2018/19.  

- the outcome of specific grant bids would become known.  
- it was likely that there would be additional initiatives 

announced.  
- there may also be the opportunity to bid for additional 

funding e.g. transport initiatives.  
- the Council may identify other funding sources, including 

capital receipts, to finance additional capital expenditure.  
Therefore the overall Capital Programme position would be kept 
under review and any new information about funding allocations 
would be presented to Members in future reports.  
The proposed Capital Strategy and Capital Programme for 
2018/19 to 2021/22 was presented for scrutiny to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Performance and Value for Money Select 

Page 7



 

 

Committee on 25 January 2018. The Select Committee was 
content to commend the report to Cabinet for approval.  
Options/Alternatives considered  
Members could choose to accept the proposed Capital Strategy 
and Capital Programme or revise and suggest an alternative 
approach to capital investment.  
 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The Capital Strategy for 2018/19 to 2021/22 detailed at 
Appendix 1 and summarised at section 2.1 of the report 
be approved and commended to Council.  

2. The Capital Programme for 2018/19 and indicative 
programmes for 2019/20 to 2021/22 at Annex D of 
Appendix 1 and summarised at section 2.2 of the report 
be approved and commended to Council.  

11   TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2018-19   

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Finance 
that outlined the strategy for 2018/19 Treasury Management 
activities including Prudential Indicators, the Annual Investment 
Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement. 
It was reported that the strategy for 2018/19 covered two main 
areas, capital issues and treasury management issues and the 
report therefore outlined the implications and key factors in 
relation to each of the two main areas and made 
recommendations with regard to the Treasury Management 
Strategy for 2018/19. 
The Council was required to operate a balanced budget which 
broadly meant that cash raised during the year would meet cash 
expenditure and part of the treasury management operation was 
to ensure that cash flow was adequately planned with cash 
being available when needed.  
The second main function of the treasury management service 
was the funding of the Council’s capital plans, which provided a 
guide to the borrowing need of the Council, essentially the 
longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council could 
meet its capital spending obligations.  
The Treasury Management Strategy 2018/19 was based on the 
current guidance at the time of writing. The Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) released revised and 
updated versions of the Prudential Code and Treasury 
Management Code in early January 2018. The guidance notes 
had not yet produced which would provide clarity in interpreting 
the new requirements.  
In February 2018, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) released the consultation and 
Government responses to the proposed changes to the 
prudential framework and capital finance, in particular MRP and 
investment guidance. Further information would be provided in 
the non-statutory explanatory notes to clarify the MRP guidance.  
This report had been based on the current guidance /information 
available and it may be necessary to revise the Treasury 
Management Strategy at a later date.  

Page 8



 

 

The report was considered by the Performance and Value for 
Money Select Committee on the 25th January 2018 and was 
commended to Cabinet.  
Options/Alternatives considered 
The Council was required to comply with the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice 
on Treasury Management the Council and has no option other 
than to consider and approve the contents of the report. 
Therefore no options/alternatives were considered. 
RESOLVED – That:  

1. The Capital Expenditure Estimates as per paragraph 
2.1.2 be approved and commended to Council.  

2. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) projections as 
per paragraph 2.2.4 of the report be approved and 
commended to Council.  

3. The Minimum Revenue Provision policy and method of 
calculation as per appendix 1 of the report be approved 
and commended to Council.  

4. The projected treasury position as at 31/03/2018 as per 
paragraph 2.3.3.of the report be approved and 
commended to Council.  

5. The Treasury Limits for 2018/19 to 2020/21 as detailed in 
section 2.4 of the report be approved and commended to 
Council.  

6. The Borrowing Strategy for 2018/19 as per section 2.6 of 
the report be approved of the report be approved and 
commended to Council.  

7. The Annual Investment Strategy as per section 2.10, the 
creditworthiness policy at section 2.11 of the report be 
approved and commended to Council. 

8. The level of investment in non-specified investments as 
detailed at appendix 4 to the report be approved and 
commended to Council.  

12   STATEMENT OF THE ROBUSTNESS OF ESTIMATES AND 
ADEQUACY OF THE RESERVES IN THE 2018-19 BUDGET 
SETTING PROCESS  

 

The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Finance 
(Chief Financial Officer) that was prepared in accordance with 
the requirement of Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 
to report on the robustness of the estimates made for the 
purposes of the budget calculations and the adequacy of the 
proposed reserves. 
The level of general balances to support the budget and an 
appropriate level of earmarked reserves maintained by the 
Council in accordance with the agreed Council policy on 
earmarked reserves was an integral part of its continued 
financial resilience supporting the stability of the Council.  
The report p also included the Director of Finance’s 
consideration of the affordability and prudence of capital 
investment proposals.  
It was reported that Members could be assured that the Council 
continued to be well placed to meet the challenging financial 
future facing Local Authorities and that the Council was 
preparing a detailed revenue budget within a four year Medium 

Page 9



 

 

Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), a four year approved capital 
programme and an early closure of accounts. This would allow 
early focus on the coming challenges and a robust financial 
transformation programme. 
The financial resilience depended in part on the Council 
maintaining an adequate level of reserves which were set out in 
the report. The Audit Committee at its meeting in July 2017 
considered the policy on earmarked reserves and it was 
proposed to action the same review after the closure of 
accounts for 2017/18. 
Options/Alternatives considered 
The Cabinet could comment on the recommendations of the 
report however Members had a statutory duty to have regard to 
the Chief Financial Officer’s report on the robustness of the 
estimates and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves 
when making decisions. 
The robustness of the estimates and reserves were satisfactory, 
however this was only the case provided the action necessary 
were taken to ensure the balances were set at the level 
recommended, that all budget options or in year alternatives 
were delivered as planned and monitored.  
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The General Balances currently calculated for 2018/19 at 
£13.991m be approved. Any Excess funding in general 
balances ay the financial year end were to be transferred 
to the financial mitigations reserves to support future 
budgets.  

2. The initial estimate of General Balances to support the 
2019/20 and 2020/21 budgets were amounts of 
£13.832m and £13.123m reflecting the budgetary 
challenges for these financial years be noted.  

3. Submission of the intended report to the Audit Committee 
to ensure the Council reserves were subject to 
appropriate scrutiny, be noted.  

4. The actions necessary to secure a properly balanced 
budget as noted in paragraph 3.5 of the report be 
approved.  

5. The actions necessary to ensure the prudence of the 
capital investments as noted in paragraph 4.4 of the 
report be approved.  

6. The report be commended to Council for approval.  
 
 
 

The meeting started at 6.00pm and finished at 6.18pm. 
 

Page 10



 

CABINET 
26/02/2018 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor   Stretton (Chair) 
Councillors Akhtar, Brownridge, Chadderton, F Hussain, Jabbar, 
and Moores  

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Harrison. 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

Councillor Jabbar declared a personal Interest at Item 15 – 
Reshaping UPL, by virtue of his appointment to the Unity 
Partnership Board and Councillor Stretton by virtue of her 
appointment to the Unity Joint Venture Board.  

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

5   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETINGS HELD ON 11TH 
DECEMBER 2017 AND 22ND JANUARY 2018  

 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Cabinet meetings held on 
11th December 2017 and 22nd January 2018 be approved.  

6   DEVELOPMENT OF OLDHAM CARES SINGLE 
COMMISSIONING FUNCTION  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Executive 
Director, Health and Wellbeing which outlined proposals that 
would drive development and improvements to the way health 
and care services were commissioned and delivered in the 
Borough of Oldham. 
The creation of the new arrangements needed to be considered 
in a wider whole system context due to the interdependencies 
and further reports would be brought to Cabinet in due course.  
Oldham’s ambition for integration was outlined in Oldham 
Locality Plan agreed in December 2015 and was built on a 
number of principles including focusing on improving health 
outcomes and performance, patient and public centred with 
effective engagement mechanisms in place to enable people to 
live healthy lives, enabling patient to make informed choices and 
reducing unwarranted interventions.  
Since that time significant work had been carried out by the 
Council and Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to 
develop the vision, structures and processes that were needed 
to be put in place to make the vision a reality.  
Oldham’s Greater Manchester Transformation Fund agreement 
was a central part to the Borough’s plans to increase the pace 
and scale of delivery, the Council, CCG and a number of key 
providers have aligned around the need for system-wide 
transformation in Health and Social Care and this had included a 

Public Document Pack

Page 11



 

high level agreement that a Local Care Organisation model 
would be core to future delivery.  
This report provided an overview of the proposed Oldham 
Health & Care commissioning structures. The Oldham Cares 
outcomes framework was designed to set out the outcomes that 
wanted to be achieved in Oldham over the next decade. These 
will be the headline outcomes for the system which the Council 
and CCG will work together to deliver, with the aim of improving 
the health of the population and the way the local health and 
social care system operates. The outcomes framework would 
inform commissioning priorities and the performance 
management of the health and care system.  
Agreeing the outcomes framework was a key step in moving 
towards an outcomes-based commissioning model, with a single 
budget for clearly defined populations that rewarded outcomes 
and not activity, promoted earlier investment and reduced 
duplication across the health and care system. 
The proposed Health Care System structure was outlined within 
the report, a single commissioning arrangements, Alliance and 
an Integrated Care Organisation.  
There were a number of significant proposed changes as to how 
the health & care system in Oldham operated. These changes 
were necessary to help the whole system meeting the ever 
growing depth and complexity of need for health & care 
services, whilst working to an ever more constrained financial 
envelope. 
In order to facilitate the health integration agenda across the 
commissioning and provider element, the current health, care 
and wellbeing estate in Oldham had undergone a 
comprehensive review to ensure it was fit for purpose and was 
able to locate the reconfigured teams. There were four key aims 
to be considered in planning the use of the estate and that were 
all connected; 

 To enable the Joint Commissioning team to locate at 
Ellen House 

 An aim to use the Southlink site to provide 
accommodation for all children social care services. This 
would require the existing adult social care services to 
move out 

 To establish estate in each geographical cluster to enable 
the newly formed health and social care teams to be 
located. The aim was for the teams to locate in one GP 
practice in each cluster 

 To develop the plans for the Link Centre which would 
support the above and also enable community groups to 
continue to use part of the building. 

Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 - The establishment of the Commissioning Partnership 
Board, in shadow form, which is the joint committee between the 
Council and the CCG. 
The proposed section 75 agreement for Commissioning 
Partnership Board that would enable a scaling up of the 
integration of health and care commissioning in Oldham.   
The proposed early areas for integrated commissioning, which 
the Commissioning Partnership Board would focus on in Page 12



 

2018/19 and use to test how effective the new system was 
before further budgets and responsibilities were added in to the 
Section 75 agreement in future years. 
The use of Adult Social Care capital funding for the 
refurbishment and refit of the Link Centre. 
The temporary closure of the Link Centre and relocation of 
public facing services whilst this work was completed. 
Option 2 – Partial Agreement. Cabinet can choose to approve a 
selection of the above points, and either ask for more 
information to be provided or refuse to agree any of the points 
Option 3 – No Agreement. Cabinet could chose to agree to none 
of the above points. 
 
RESOLVED – That:  

1. The establishment of the Commissioning Partnership 
Board, in shadow form, which would be the joint 
committee between the Council and the CCG be agreed.  

2. The proposed section 75 agreement for Commissioning 
Partnership Board that would enable a scaling up of the 
integration of health and care commissioning in Oldham.   

3. The proposed early areas for integrated commissioning, 
which the Commissioning Partnership Board would focus 
on in 2018/19 and use to test how effective the new 
system was before further budgets and responsibilities 
were added in to the Section 75 agreement in future 
years be agreed. 

4. The use of Adult Social Care capital funding for the 
refurbishment and refit of the Link Centre be agreed. 

5. The temporary closure of the Link Centre and relocation 
of public facing services whilst the work was completed 
be agreed. 

6. The appointment of a Single Accountable Officer be 
noted. 

7. The proposed Alliance provider structure to be developed 
between the key providers within Oldham be noted.  

7   JOINT LOCAL AREA SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS 
AND DISABILITY (SEND) INSPECTION IN OLDHAM 2 - 6 
OCTOBER 2017  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director, 
Economy and Skills and Neighbourhoods which sought to 
update the Cabinet on the recent Ofsted/CQC inspection on the 
provision of Special Educational Needs (SEND) support in 
Oldham and sought approval for the additional revenue required 
to support the service.  
It was reported that the Local Authority together with the local 
Clinical Commissioning Group had responsibility under the 
Children’s and Families Act 2014 for an effective SEND process 
and provision.  
The recent inspection by Ofsted/CQC found that arrangements 
were not satisfactory and required the Council and the CCG to 
co-produce a Written Statement of Action (WOSA) by the 2nd 
March 2018. 
The report provided details of the actions taken by the Council 
and CCG since the inspection and identified revenue funding 
requirements to develop a robust, effective and quality process Page 13



 

to support improvement in educational attainment of pupils 
within Oldham with SEND.  
Options/Alternatives considered 
Option 1 – To agree the proposed actions, revenue funding and 
final sign off of the WOSA to be delegated to the Executive 
Director Health and Wellbeing and Executive Director Economy 
Skills and Neighbourhoods and Oldham CCG . 
Option 2 – No to agree the proposals.  
 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The proposed actions to improve the outcomes for 
children and young people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disability in Oldham as set out in the report be 
agreed. 

2. The additional permanent funding of up to £500,000 in 
order to increase the capacity of the Special Educational 
Needs Assessment Service undertaking the Education 
Health and Care Plan (EHCP) process to improve quality 
and timeliness and to provide the management oversight 
required to do so be agreed.  

3. Delegation be given to the Cabinet Member for Education 
and Early Years together with the Executive Director 
Health and Wellbeing (as Director of Children’s Services), 
the Executive Director Economy, Skills and 
Neighbourhoods and Oldham Clinical Commissioning 
Group for the final sign off on the Written Statement of 
Action in order for it to be submitted to Ofsted by 2 March 
2018. A report containing the submitted Written 
Statement of Action together with any feedback from 
Ofsted would be brought back for Cabinet to note on 26 
March 2018. 

8   RESHAPING UNITY PARTNERSHIP LIMITED   

This Item was to be heard in the restricted part of the agenda 

9   SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 2019-2020   

Consideration was given to a report of the Director Education 
and Early Years which provided the Cabinet with details of: 
1. The Council’s statutory obligations to determine the 

admission arrangements for community and voluntary 
controlled schools in Oldham for the academic year 2019-20. 

2. The proposed Co-ordinated Scheme for admissions for 
2019-20 as detailed at appendix A to the report. 

3. To proposed admission arrangements for admission to 
community and voluntary controlled primary and secondary 
schools for the Academic year 2019-20 as detailed at 
Appendices B and C. 

4. The continuation of the current arrangements for appeals to 
the Independent Appeal Panel. 

Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – To approve the proposed coordinated scheme at 
Appendix A and the arrangements for admission to community 
and voluntary controlled primary and secondary schools as set 
out in Appendices B and C and continue the existing 
arrangements for Independent appeals.  

Page 14



 

Option 2 – To request changes to the proposed admission 
arrangements.  
 
RESOLVED – That the Co-ordinated Scheme and 
arrangements for admissions to community and voluntary 
controlled primary and secondary schools, as set out in 
Appendices A to C and the current arrangements for appeals to 
the Independent Appeal Panel be approved for 2019-20. 

10   DISPOSAL OF FORMER COPSTERHILL ROAD DEPOT, 
COPSTERHILL ROAD, OLDHAM [MEDLOCK VALE]  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director 
Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods which provided the 
Cabinet with details of two offers received by the Council to 
purchase the Copsterhill Depot site following future clearance, 
he offers had been received following a restricted tender 
exercise.  
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – Reject the offer and advertise the opportunity on the 
open market. 
Option 2 – Accept any of the offers submitted as a result of the 
restricted tender exercise. 
Options 3 – Accept the most economically advantageous offer.  
 
RESOLVED – That the Cabinet would consider the 
commercially sensitive information as detailed at Item 16 of the 
agenda. 

11   CONTRACT AWARDS FOR OLDHAM HEALTHWATCH 
AND NHS INDEPENDENT COMPLAINTS ADVOCACY 
SERVICES 2018  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Executive 
Director Health and Wellbeing which sought approval to award 
contracts for the provision of Healthwatch Oldham and the 
National Health Service Independent Complaints Advocacy 
service (NHS ICA).  
The report also requested approval to extend the contract 
provision for Heathwatch Oldham and Oldham NHS ICA for one 
month to allow for an incumbent provider to implement the new 
contract and any TUPE implications. 
Option/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – Approve the contract awards on the basis of the 
tender exercise for Healthwatch Oldham and NHS Independent 
Complaints Advocacy. 
Option 2 – Do not approve contract awards on the basis of the 
tender exercise for Healthwatch Oldham and NHS Independent 
Complaints Advocacy. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Cabinet would consider the 
commercially sensitive information contained at Item 17 of the 
agenda.  

12   REPORT ON OLDHAM MAGISTRATES' COURT   

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods which sought approval to 
purchase and demolish the former Oldham Magistrates Court in Page 15



 

the context of Members 2035 regeneration vision and the 
Oldham Town Centre Masterplan.  
Option 1 – Do not purchase the Oldham Magistrates Court 
building  
Option 2 – Purchase the Magistrates Court building and land 
form the Homes and Communities Agency for immediate 
demolition of the building. This would enable the Council to 
manage the long term future of the site in line with the aims of 
the Oldham Town Centre Master Plan.  
 
RESOLVED – that the Cabinet would consider the commercially 
sensitive information contained at Item 18 of the agenda before 
making a decision.  

13   REQUEST FOR AN EXEMPTION TO EXTEND CURRENT 
CONTRACTS FOR THE PROVISION OF HOUSING-
RELATED SUPPORT  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Executive 
Director, Health and Wellbeing which sought an exemption to 
the Contract Procedure Rules to extend three contracts 
providing supported housing for homeless people with additional 
support needs. 
The Government had proposed significant changes to the 
funding received for short term supported and to proceed to a 
tender process at this time, could subject the Council to 
significant financial risk.  
Options/Alternatives considered    
Option 1 - To allow the existing contracts to end on 31 March 
2018 and do not commission replacement provision. This was 
not the recommended option. With this option: 

 Homelessness was increasing both nationally and locally. 
The provision of supported housing makes a significant 
contribution to the prevention and relief of homelessness: 
these services were also less costly than other options 
such as Temporary Accommodation/B+B or out of 
borough placements. Whilst Oldham had seen an 
increase in homelessness presentations and associated 
costs, it had not experienced the 400% increases seen by 
some (non-City) neighboring Local Authorities who have 
less supported housing provision.  

 The provision of supported housing reduced from 146 
units to 104 in 2016/17 to meet savings targets from 
these contracts: to cease provision would severely 
compromise the council’s ability to meet its statutory 
homelessness obligations. 

 In Oldham from 2015/16 to 2016/17 there was a 90% 
increase in the number of households at risk of 
homelessness, and the number of households owed a 
statutory duty increased from 47 in 2015/16 to 71 in 
2016/17. From April - November 2017, 334 statutory 
homelessness decisions were taken, with 90 households 
owed the statutory duty. The number of households in 
Temporary Accommodation (TA) also increased: on 30 
September 2015, there were 20 households in TA, 
increasing to 28 on 30 September 2016 and to 66 on 31 
March 2017, including 30 households in B + B many Page 16



 

households accessing the services have a high degree of 
vulnerability/complexity and there would be negative 
impacts for them and potentially on the wider community 
if their housing and support needs are not met. 

Option 2 - To allow the existing contracts to end on 31 March 
2018 and competitively tender for new services to be in place by 
1st April 2018. This this is not the recommended option. With this 
option: 
There was now not sufficient time to undertake a procurement 
process and have in place a new contract by 1st April 2018. It 
was the preferred option when Government was due to release 
its Green Paper in spring 2017, with details of each local 
authorities funding distribution expected in autumn 2017. 
However the delay to the Governments timetable (with the 
eventual release of revised proposals on 31st October 2017) 
created a ’limbo period’ for local authorities, landlords and 
support providers, where risks couldn’t be adequately scoped / 
costed by any party. 
The revised Government proposals were subject to further 
consultation, and entail a more comprehensive change to the 
funding arrangements for short-term services.  
The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 would be enacted in 
April 2018. This change to Homelessness legislation impacts on 
pathways and processes which needed to be tested before 
incorporating into a new tender. 
Option 3 - To allow extension of existing contracts from 01/04/18 
to 30/06/19 at the current contract charges. This is the 
recommended option, with this option: 
The extension could be accommodated within the councils 
Contract Procedure Rules as the proposed Modification is for an 
increase in value of not more than 50% of the initial contract 
value.  
The contracts contain a ‘no fault’ termination clause and the 
Council may tender the services sooner if Government release 
details / make changes sooner than expected. 
The opportunities potentially afforded by a funding transfer to 
the Local Authority were less likely to be compromised.  
This option carried the risk of needing to have arrangements 
that cut across two different funding regimes: if funding 
transferred was less than the actual costs of provision, such that 
cannot be resolved by negotiated service reconfiguration, there 
may be the need for another competitive tendering exercise 
within a short period. 
Option 4 - To allow extension of existing contracts from 01/04/18 
to 31/03/20 at the current contract charges. This is not the 
recommended option.  
This would be the preferred option, however as the proposed 
extension cannot be accommodated within the council CPRs - 
as the proposed Modification would be for an increase in value 
of more than 50% of the initial contract value - there are greater 
legal risks with this option. 
This would maximize opportunities potentially afforded by a 
funding transfer to the Local Authority, and avoid the need to 
have arrangements that cut across two different funding regimes 
- which carries a risk of incurring costly use of Council resources 
for a contract that could potentially be relevant for a very short Page 17



 

period, if funding transferred is less than the actual costs of 
provision. 
There would be less risk to the council of taking decisions on 
service redesign and pricing, as the policy and funding 
landscape was likely to be clearer and its implications for the 
Council and for service provision better scoped.  
The council had a ‘no fault’ termination clause which could be 
utilized if Government make changes sooner than expected. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Cabinet would consider the 
commercially sensitive information at Item 19 of the agenda 
before making a decision.  

14   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   

RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraphs 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on 
balance, be in the public interest to disclose the reports. 

15   RESHAPING UNITY PARTNERSHIP LIMITED   

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Executive 
Director, Corporate and Commercial Services which outlined the 
basis of the changes necessary to realign the Unity Partnership 
Ltd with the strategic direction of the Council, to continue to 
assure sustainability and performance of services provided by it 
to the Council.  
The report followed on from recommendations agreed by the 
Cabinet at the meeting held on 23rd October 2017. 
Options/Alternatives  
Due the commercial sensitivity of the report it was not in the 
public interest to disclose the options and alternatives because 
of the commercial sensitivity with respect to the discussions. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations 1-4 as detailed within 
the report be agreed with an amendment to recommendation 3 
b, the first sentence, to remove the words ‘to take such steps as 
necessary to:’ and replace with ‘if necessary’.  

16   DISPOSAL OF FORMER COPSTERHILL ROAD DEPOT, 
COPSTERHILL ROAD, OLDHAM [MEDLOCK VALE]  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 16, Disposal of former Copsterhill 
Road Depot, Copsterhill Road, Oldham [Medlock Vale]. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendation as detailed within the 
commercially sensitive report be agreed.  

17   CONTRACT AWARDS FOR OLDHAM HEALTHWATCH 
AND NHS INDEPENDENT COMPLAINTS ADVOCACY 
SERVICES 2018  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 17, Contract Awards for Oldham 
Healthwatch and NHS Independent Complaints Advocacy 
services 2018. Page 18



 

 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The contract awards for the Healthwatch and NHS 
Independent Complaints Advocacy Service contract, 
following a tender process be agreed.  

2. The extension of the existing contract arrangements and 
Action Together for the provision of Healthwatch Oldham 
and the NHS Independent Complaints Advocacy Service, 
for one month (1st April-30th April 2018), allowing the new 
contract to commence 1st May 208, concluding 31st March 
2021 be agreed. 

18   REPORT ON OLDHAM MAGISTRATES' COURT   

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 18, Report on Oldham 
Magistrates' Court 
 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The purchase of land and former Oldham Magistrates 
Court, located at West Street Oldham OL1 1QE from the 
Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) be approved.  

2. The subsequent demolition of the former Oldham 
Magistrates Court building be approved.  

19   REQUEST FOR AN EXEMPTION TO EXTEND CURRENT 
CONTRACTS FOR THE PROVISION OF HOUSING-
RELATED SUPPORT  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 19, Request for an Exemption to 
extend current contracts for the provision of housing-related 
support 
 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The extension of existing contracts from 1st April 2018 to 
30th June 2019 at the current contract charge be 
approved.  

2. Work be undertaken with partners to ensure supported 
housing options for vulnerable people are maximized and 
fit for purpose.  

20   DISPOSAL OF LAND AT WARD LANE DIGGLE   

Cabinet considered a report that was agreed under emergency 
powers detailed within the Land and Property Protocol, in 
relation to Land at Ward Lane Diggle.  
The decision was taken due to commercial risk and was agreed 
and signed by the Executive Director, Economy, Skills and 
Neighbourhoods.  
 
RESOLVED – That the decision taken under emergency powers 
in relation to Land at Ward Lane Diggle be noted.  
 

The meeting started at 6.00pm and finished at 6.24pm 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Reason for Decision 
To approve recommendations relating to the delivery of the Oldham Town Centre 
masterplan. 
 
Executive Summary 
In July 2017 Cabinet approved a masterplan for the redevelopment of the northern part of 
the town centre, incorporating the sites of the current Civic Centre, Tommyfield Market, the 
former Leisure Centre and Magistrates’ Courts and current police station. The delivery of 
the masterplan is anticipated to take 10-15 years and is likely to require the involvement of 
one or more private sector partners. 
 
Cabinet also approved that officers carry out further due diligence on the preferred delivery 
strategy for the implementation of the masterplan with a view to reporting back to Cabinet. 
 
This paper provides: 

 A refresh of the vision on which the masterplan is based, including the Council’s 
key objective for the delivery of the masterplan.   

 Public consultation results 

 Tommyfield Market trader consultation and temporary market hall delivery strategy 

 An update of the masterplan 
 

Report to CABINET  

 
Oldham Town Centre Masterplan delivery 
options 
 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jean Stretton, Cabinet Member for Economy 
and Enterprise 
 
Officer Contact:   Tom Stannard, Director of Economy and Skills 
Ext. 4846 
 
Report Author:  Roger Frith, Head of Strategic Regeneration and 
Development 
Ext. 4120 
 
26 March 2018 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendations 
 
Cabinet are asked to:  
 

 Note the Oldham town centre regeneration vision and delivery objectives. 
 

 Note the appointments to date. 
 

 Note the soft market testing to date. 
 

 Note the public consultation results. 
 

 Approve the delivery strategy for the temporary market hall, and note that a further 
report will be presented to Cabinet in summer 2018 seeking approval for the 
delivery of the temporary market hall. 

 

 Note the amendments to the Oldham town centre masterplan, and approve the 
updated Masterplan. 

 

 Authorise further recommendations as outlined in the report in the restricted part of 
this agenda.  

  

Page 22



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

Report to Cabinet  26 March 2018 
  
 
Oldham Town Centre Masterplan delivery options 
 
1.0 Background  
 In July 2017 Cabinet approved a masterplan for the redevelopment of the northern part of 

the town centre, incorporating the sites of the current Civic Centre, Tommyfield Market, 
the former Leisure Centre and Magistrates’ Courts and current police station. The delivery 
of the masterplan is anticipated to take 10-15 years and is likely to require the involvement 
of one or more private sector partners. 

 
 Cabinet also approved that officers carry out further due diligence on the preferred 

delivery strategy for the implementation of the masterplan with a view to reporting back to 
Cabinet. 

 
 This paper provides: 

 A refresh of the vision on which the Masterplan is based and delivery objectives  

 Public consultation results 

 Tommyfield Market trader consultation and temporary market hall 

 Update of the Masterplan 

 Market analysis and challenges 
  
2.0 Oldham Town Centre Regeneration Vision and Objectives  
 
2.1 Strategic Vision 

The development and delivery of the Masterplan is grounded on the following vision that 
aims to make Oldham ‘Greater Manchester’s place to be’: 

 A vibrant borough where people want to relocate to live 

 An economy where businesses want to invest, with high skilled residents they can 
employ 

 Thriving town centres where residents want to live and spend time with excellent 
cultural and shopping facilities 

 A redeveloped night time economy with enhanced attractions for all and 
recognised as a destination across the City Region 

 Ambitious town centre schemes with housing, schools and neighbourhood 
regeneration reflecting of the needs of our communities 

 New developments that feature high quality design as standard with sustainability 
at its core 

 
All of which are to be ‘delivered by a Council with Oldham residents’ needs as its top 
priority’. 

 
2.2 Town Centre Vision 

Consideration needs to be given to developing an inclusive economy for Oldham, a part of 
which will be influenced by the delivery of the town centre masterplan. In a competitive 
market for private sector investment it is vital that Oldham continues to develop different 
models of investment to support sustainable employment and business growth and to take 
‘community wealth building’ role, to encourage retention of income and wealth within the 
local economy. 

 This role as a ‘community wealth builder’ can be used to harness the potential of existing 
wealth, assets and institutions within a place and thus bring benefits for local economies 
and residents.  In short, this is about maximising the impact of Council spend (both direct 
and indirect) to keep money in the local economy, to generate opportunities for local 
employment and skills development for residents of all ages.  

 

Page 23



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

The Council is working with the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) to review all 
aspects of the Council’s procurement cycle and decision-making to identify opportunities to 
increase wealth retention and social value within Oldham. 
 
The Masterplan can and should be delivered with this in mind to not only boost the local 
economy, but to also ‘design in’ opportunities for increased social value through renewable 
technologies and health and wellbeing.   
 
The UK energy marketplace is evolving rapidly, including the transition of Distribution 
Network Operators (in our case Electricity North West) to Distribution Systems Operators. 
This transition brings new opportunities and drivers to create the Masterplan in a way which 
maximises renewable energy generation within the town centre as well as combining it with 
building efficiency, battery storage and ‘demand side response’ to ensure the new Town 
Centre is a low running cost, low carbon development fit for the future.  
 
Additionally, the development of the town centre should draw on evidence that exists on 
the contribution of place to good physical and mental health and wellbeing, and we want to 
create a town centre which provides a healthy place where people can grow, live, work and 
socialise.  
 

This should include, but is not limited to, creating a place which: 

 meets basic needs (for food, water, shelter, safety, income and work) for 
everyone regardless of age, gender, ethnicity or abilities 

 provides a clean, safe physical environment of high quality  

 enables equity in health - everyone should have a fair opportunity to attain his or 
her full health potential, and that no-one should be disadvantaged from achieving 
this potential 

 has well designed streets and traffic management to reduce reliance on cars, 
enable use of public transport and active travel (walking and cycling) and offer 
good air quality 

 provides a built environment & public realm which is life-course friendly and 
which: 

- encourages healthier lifestyle choices and exercise 
- aids connections within and between communities, encourages social 

cohesion and aids a sense of community,  providing attractive space for 
social interaction by people of all ages and abilities, including families with 
children, older people, people with dementia or other long term health 
conditions  

- harnesses natural benefits of green and blue space for relaxation, physical 
health and mental wellbeing 

- provides  access to education and employment opportunities  
- enables access to essential facilities and services for health, wellbeing and 

social care  
- provides including leisure and entertainment 

 

 provides high quality homes suitable throughout  life enabling  residents to live 
healthily and maintain independence 

 enables residents to participate in civic life  and in decisions affecting their 
lives 

 
2.3 Public Realm 
 High quality public realm is an essential piece of the masterplan, not an optional extra. 

Space creates settings which organise our lives, activities and relationships. Good 
design does this for us without our noticing and so it is necessary to work in the human 
language of space.  Space and time in the human context is recognised as becoming 
place and occasion.  

Page 24



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
Places should provide for people to walk with some leisure and in the main, with 
physical comfort.  Places and streets should have definition, with boundaries that 
communicate where the edges of the street are to promote way-finding and interest.  
This encourages the visitor to keep moving and thereby investigate the wider Oldham 
town centre, and not just one street or place.  
 
Places should be defined vertically and horizontally using elements including walls, 
trees and monuments etc., and should have qualities that engage the senses such as: 

• Trees and soft/ hard landscaping; 
• Beginnings and endings; 
• Diversity; 
• Variation in the old and new buildings, to be contrasting or complementary; 
• Work with the topography of Oldham to help increase views and add drama; 
• Include special design features: details, streetlights, signs, public art. 

 
Places are more than just intersections, breaks in small plazas, or open spaces. They 
provide stopping places, pauses, reference points along the path and should practically 
support the users of that space such as adequate places to sit and with accessible 
toilets nearby.  
 

Well designed and defined places will help to deliver the health equality objectives as 
noted previously by creating opportunities for social interaction, movement, natural 
surveillance and environments enjoyed by all.  

 
2.4 Delivery objectives 

Following on from the vision above, a series of objectives have been identified as being 
the Council’s key objectives for the delivery of the Masterplan: 

 Comprehensive town centre development. The requirement that the development 
of the Masterplan is one which is not delivered in isolation of the wider town centre. 

 Securing phased delivery over the long term.   A structure which will provide the 
Council with most certainty in respect of delivery of the Masterplan over the longer 
term. 

 Holistic approach to development which enables flexibility across phases. 

 Private sector engagement: 

 Accessing private sector expertise and innovation in relation to design, 
quality and placemaking. 

 Accessing private sector capacity and resource to deliver the Masterplan. 

 Financial Objectives: 

 Minimising the Council’s funding risk. 

 Accessing private sector funding/access to funding and covenant. 

 A risk share structure which enables the Council to share in risk alongside 
the private sector in return for a share in value uplifts/capture 
commensurate to its own investment(s). 

 Flexibility.  A structure which is flexible in the following areas: 

 Enabling the Council to contribute to phased delivery both in monetary 
and/or covenant terms.  

 Flexing to market conditions over the long term.  

 Enabling the Council to add additional sites to the arrangement at a future 
date. 

 Council participation.   A structure which enables the Council to participate in the 
development of the Masterplan both in terms of decision making as to phase delivery 
and in terms of development returns over the longer term. 

 
 
 

Page 25



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

3.0 Progress on the masterplan 
 

3.1 Soft market testing  
Over the last 12 months a number of meetings have taken place with prospective 
development partners and funds who are active in the North West. All have expressed a 
strong interest in working with the Council over the long term to implement the proposals 
as set out in the masterplan. The key comments from prospective partners are as follows; 

 Strong support for the ambitions behind the masterplan and the proposed 
phasing 

 A willingness to work with the Council in partnership over the long term  

 Council ownership is key to implementation of the masterplan and backed the 
Council’s acquisition of the former magistrates court site 

 Support the idea of a JV structure where both parties share risk and reward 
over the long term 

 
3.2 Public Consultation  

An important aspect of the due diligence on the Masterplan proposals has been to gather 
feedback from residents and businesses. The public consultation was launched on 21st 
September in the Egyptian Room at the Old Town Hall. Over 20 consultation events were 
held across the borough in venues such as libraries, markets, schools and Council offices. 
The events allowed residents the opportunity to view more detail on the proposals and to 
provide feedback on both the Masterplan as a whole and the individual sites. Visitors to 
the events were asked to complete a feedback questionnaire. In addition to the events an 
online questionnaire was placed on the Council website. 
 
Around 500 people attended the events and 285 people completed the questionnaire. The 
list of events, the questionnaire, the results and a selection of the comments are in 
Appendix A. In summary the results of the questionnaire show: 

 83% of respondents either agree or strongly agree with the concept behind the 
Masterplan; 

 76% of respondents either agree or strongly agree that a new Tommyfield Market 
with a multi-storey (MSCP) car park should be built on the existing market hall site; 

 79% of respondents either agree or strongly agree with the plans to create a new 
Civic Hub; 

 70% of respondents either agree or strongly agree with the plans to create a new 
hotel with the QE Hall as a conference facility; 

 78% of respondents either agree or strongly agree with the plans to build good 
quality homes.  

 
Consultation and engagement will continue throughout the delivery of the masterplan. 
 

3.3 Tommyfield Market Hall  
Consultation with market traders over the provision of a temporary and a replacement 
market hall has continued, with Tommyfield Market tenant liaison meetings having taken 
place on 27th June 2017, 24th October 2017 and 7th February 2018.  During the February 
meeting attended by over 30 traders, the Council outlined its intention to construct and 
open a temporary market hall in late 2019, and to start work on a permanent replacement 
hall on the existing Tommyfield Market site during 2020.   

 
In addition to tenant liaison meetings, there have also been informal discussions between 
traders and the Markets and Town Centre Manager about the market plans, revealing that 
approximately half of traders are in favour of the redevelopment and half are 
against.  Those in favour are supportive of creating a modern market experience whilst 
those opposed are worried about potential disruption and the availability of stalls in the new 
scheme.  Consultation continues, with a further tenant liaison meeting being scheduled for 
summer 2018. 

Page 26



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
As part of the consultation with tenants, the Council has been encouraging the market 
traders to re-establish the Tommyfield Market Traders’ Association since September 
2017.  Whilst a group has yet to be formed, several traders have expressed an interest in 
participating. 

 
3.4 Updated Masterplan 

Key changes to the masterplan from the previous version dated June 2017 are to sites A 

and B only and are outlined in the table below. The updated masterplan is in Appendix B.  

 

Site 

 

June 2017 January 2018 

A Residential  

New 120-bed Hotel 

Refurbished Queen 

Elizabeth Hall. 

Retain Tower. 

Residential 

Retain Tower. 
 

B Residential only  

 

New hotel and integrated 

conference facilities; 

Residential  

C Residential only  No change 

D Office space only No change 

E Market Hall 

Retail/ Leisure 

MSCP 

No change 

 

 

Previous masterplan proposals included the retention of the Queen Elizabeth Hall. 
Following further appraisal of the hall it was determined that spatially and functionally it fell 
way short of the required current event and conference venue standards.  External 
consultants, Amion Consulting Limited, have advised that a significant project spend 
would still not bring the hall into a position where it could effectively compete in the local 
and regional market for a wide range of event types.  
 
Further, it must be considered that other capital programmes are underway which may 
offer alterative options to the Queen Elizabeth Hall as a venue.  For example, there may 
not be a case for improving the theatre performance area within the Queen Elizabeth Hall 
as the Council is currently building a new Coliseum Theatre which will provide a 
dedicated, high quality performance space. 
 
In response, the retention of the Queen Elizabeth Hall has been removed from the 
Masterplan, thereby relocating the proposed hotel, but with combined new conference 
facilities on an alternative site. This was recommended by Amion Consulting Ltd who 
advised that “The option which emerges most strongly is to demolish the building and 
reuse the site to deliver the town centre masterplan.”  
 
As a result, this means that the remainder of the existing Civic Centre site is released for 
redevelopment.  This in turn means that a more considered design response including 

Page 27



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

public green space will be possible for this site, without having to design residential units 
around an existing asset which could have potential noise/ juxtaposition implications.  
 
The masterplan sets out a series of outline concepts for potential development and zoning 
across the town centre.  It does not have the status of a statutory document, or for that 
matter a planning application; rather it acts as a guide to potential for future development 
options Members and the development community may wish to consider, which in due 
course would be subject to the normal rigour of the planning process.  

 

3.5 Strategic Acquisitions to facilitate the masterplan 
Oldham Magistrates’ Court is one of several public sector-owned assets in Oldham town 
centre identified as no longer fit for purpose in the Oldham Town Centre Masterplan 
approved by Cabinet on 10th July 2017.  On 26th February 2018, Cabinet approved the 
purchase of the Magistrates’ Court building and land from the Government’s Homes 
England (formerly Homes and Communities Agency).   
 
Approval was also granted, subject to planning permission, for the demolition of the 
building to ground level and clearance of the site ready for development.  The potential for 
a temporary ‘pay and display’ car park on site and the associated costs will be known 
once a traffic count is completed in March 2018 and once subsequent modelling has been 
undertaken and preliminary junction design completed.  The cost of any temporary car 
park will be the subject of further approvals. 
 
The consequence of this acquisition is that the new hotel and conference facilities could 
be located on this site, and potentially as an early phase.   Four brands remain interested, 
with further update on the revised proposed hotel location and procurement of franchise, 
Management Company and construction to be arranged. 

 
4.0 Market analysis and challenges 
 
4.1 Oldham Town Centre 

In recent years, the Council as part of its regeneration strategy has invested in a number 
capital projects in the town centre, such as the new leisure centre, Independent Quarter 
and Old Town Hall. The Old Town Hall scheme, apart from winning a number of national 
design awards, has transformed the leisure offer in the town centre. Since opening in 
October 2016, over 300,000 people have visited the new Odeon cinema.  
 
The Council’s planned investment in the new Heritage centre and Coliseum theatre will 
strengthen the town’s already established cultural offer when they open in early 2020. 
 

4.2 Town Centre Residential Development 
Residential development in Oldham town centre currently suffers from the same viability 
issues that affect many of Greater Manchester’s outer boroughs. However on the back of 
the success of Manchester city’s transformation and the urbanisation trend, there is 
growing demand for residential units in vibrant centres that are accessible to employment 
opportunities and areas that offer excellent amenities including food, drink and 
entertainment and attractive places. 

 
4.3 Retail 

One of the key sites in the masterplan area is the Tommyfield Market. Replacement of the 
existing facility will provide the town with a modern, fit for purpose market to meet the 
needs of traders and visitors and provide a welcome boost to this part of the centre. 
 
As part of an enhanced retail provision and alongside the new leisure offer within the Old 
Town Hall and other cultural attractions in the town centre, the new Market Hall and other 
retail development will help to strengthen the attractiveness of the town to investors, raise 
confidence and contribute to an overall increase in values. Partners will recognise and 

Page 28



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

endorse the importance of “stitching” development in the masterplan to the remainder of 
the town centre. This is key to achieving the necessary symbiosis between existing and 
new, and in further shaping Oldham town centre as an attractive place to live, shop and 
spend leisure time.  
 
Whilst the masterplan proposes new retail and leisure space, there is no intention to 
substantially increase the amount of retail in the town centre, as the new space 
predominantly replaces existing accommodation which will be demolished. 

 
4.4 Economic Benefits of Masterplan 

An assessment of the economic benefits has been carried out by Amion on the updated 
Masterplan proposals. The findings of the assessment can be found in Appendix C, 
however key highlights include: 

 the creation of 520 full time equivalent jobs supported over the length of the build; 

 670 net operational jobs within Oldham; 

 54,000 sq ft of new and refurbished employment space; and 

 an additional £48m GVA contributing to the growth of the economy. 
 
5.0  Options/Alternatives 
 
 Option 1: 

 
Proceed with the project as detailed in this Report accepting the recommendations set out 
in this report and proceeding with the delivery strategy for the Oldham Town Centre 
Masterplan,  
 
Option 2: 

 
Do not accept the recommendations detailed in this Report to proceed with the delivery 
strategy of the town centre masterplan  

 
Option 3: 

 
Do not accept the recommendations and do not proceed with the delivery of the town 
centre masterplan  

 
6.0  Preferred Option 

  
 The preferred option is Option 1  
 
7.0  Consultation 
 
 The following groups have been consulted on the Oldham Town Centre Masterplan 

proposals: 

 Town Centre Partnership 

 Tommyfield Market Traders 

 Public consultation events 

 Oldham Civic Society 
 
8.0  Financial Implications 
  

   Financial implications are covered in the report in the restricted part of this agenda.  
 
9.0 Legal Services Comments 
 

   Legal implications are covered in the report in the restricted part of this agenda.  

Page 29



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

10.0  Co-operative Agenda 
 
 As a Co-operative Council, we are committed to delivering key regeneration projects, 

creating jobs and transforming opportunities for our residents. The proposals and 
recommendations outlined in this report will attract investment and encourage business 
and enterprise to thrive, ensuring residents are able to access a high quality town centre, 
with jobs and a strong retail offer. (Jonathan Downs) 

 
11.0  Human Resources Comments 
 
 None. 
 
 
12.0  Risk Management 
 

The delivery of the Masterplan will be a number of complex projects which will need 
appropriate risk management systems in place to manage the risks on each project.   

 (Mark Stenson) 
 
13.0 IT Implications 
 
 None. 
 
14.0  Property Implications 
 
 The property comments are contained herewith throughout this report. As and when 

developments progress, individual tenancy and letting arrangements will be reported at 
the relevant time to satisfy governance and approval requirements. (Peter Wood)  

 
15.0  Procurement Implications 
 
 Public procurement is subject to the EU Treaty principles of non-discrimination; free 

movement of goods; freedom to provide services; and freedom of establishment. In 
addition to these fundamental treaty principles, the procurement process will need to 
ensure equality of treatment; transparency; mutual recognition; proportionality; and 
comply with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the Councils Contract Procedure 
Rules. 

 
16.0 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
  

Environmental and Health & Safety Implications are covered in Part B of the report.  
 
17.0  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
 The report highlights the impact of proposals on a number of different equality groups 

including age and disabilities. It outlines how community wealth building will bring benefits 
to the local economy and residents whilst generating opportunities for residents of all 
ages. It will also enable equity in health, where everyone has a fair opportunity to achieve 
their full health potential. As well as supporting connections between communities, 
providing attractive space for social interaction by people of all ages and abilities, 
including families with children, older people, people with dementia or other long term 
health conditions. (Dominic Coleman) 

 
18.0  Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
 No  

Page 30



______________________________________________________________________________________ 

  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

It is not envisaged the proposal will have a disproportionate negative impact on equality 
groups and an EIA screening will be completed as the plans are further developed. 
 

19.0  Key Decision 
 
 Yes  
 
20.0  Key Decision Reference 
 
 ECEN-26-17 
 
21.0 Background Papers 
 

 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in accordance 
with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 1972.  It does not 
include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information as defined by 
the Act: 
 
Name of File: Oldham Town Centre JV Cabinet Report Part A V2 
Records held in Economy, Skills & Neighbourhoods Directorate, Civic Centre, West 
Street, Oldham, OL1 1UH 
Officer Name: Roger Frith 
Contact No: 0161 770 4120 
 

22.0  Appendices  
 

Attached to the report in the restricted part of this agenda.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Reason for Decision 
 
To enable the Council to pursue a PFI Refinancing opportunity in accordance with the 
budget reduction proposal entitled ‘Prepayments & Refinancing of Outstanding Long Term 
Liabilities’ (Ref CCS-COM-044) approved by Council on 14 December 2016. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
On 14 December 2016, Council approved a range of budget reduction proposals to 
contribute to the delivery of a balanced revenue budget for 2017/18.  One approved 
proposal, entitled ‘Prepayments & Refinancing of Outstanding Long Term Liabilities’ (Ref 
CCS-COM-044) envisaged the delivery of savings by seeking out refinancing opportunities 
across the Council’s portfolio of seven PFI projects.  The Council subsequently reviewed 
its portfolio of projects to highlight potential gains from refinancing. 
 
The review concluded that potential gains from PFI debt refinancing may be available.  A 
proposal for PFI refinancing has been developed and further details are set out in Part B of 
this report. 
 
Arrangements are now being made to assemble the appropriate legal agreements and 
financial model in order to deliver the proposed debt refinancing. 
 
Recommendations 
 
In accordance with budget reduction proposal CCS-COM-044 (Prepayments & 
Refinancing of Outstanding Long Term Liabilities) approved by Council on 14 December 
2016, it is recommended that Cabinet: 

 Note the progress achieved to date with regard to identifying PFI Refinancing 
opportunities. 

Report to CABINET 

 
PFI Refinancing 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Cllr Abdul Jabbar MBE, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and HR 
 
Officer Contact:  Anne Ryans, Director of Finance 
 
Report Author: Andrew Moran, Assistant Director of Finance 
Ext. 4467 
 
26 March 2018 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



 

   

 Authorise the Director of Finance and Director of Legal Services to finalise the 
detailed arrangements in respect of the proposal set out in Part B of this report, and 
to progress the financial and legal work associated with it. 

 Agrees that the matter be exempt from call in as the decision is time limited and 
there is a risk the refinancing opportunity would be lost. 

 
  

Page 34



 

   

Cabinet 26 March 2018 
 
PFI Refinancing 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1. On 14 December 2016, Council approved a range of budget reduction proposals to 

contribute to the delivery of a balanced revenue budget for 2017/18.  One approved 
proposal, titled ‘Prepayments & Refinancing of Outstanding Long Term Liabilities’ (Ref 
CCS-COM-044) envisaged the delivery of savings by seeking out refinancing 
opportunities across the Council’s portfolio of seven PFI projects.  The Council 
subsequently reviewed its portfolio of projects to highlight potential gains from refinancing. 
 
PFI Refinancing - Explanation 

 
1.2. Most PFI contracts contain standard provisions whereby if the debt used to finance the 

initial construction phase of a project can be refinanced at a lower cost, then the benefit 
(after transaction costs, advisory fees and disbursements) is split equally between the 
Council and the PFI Contractor.  In these arrangements, the debt to be refinanced is often 
referred to as Senior Debt and the providers of it are known as Senior Funders. 

 
1.3. The interest rate charged to the PFI Contractor broadly comprises two elements: 

 The underlying interest (swap) rate; 

 A profit margin charged by the Senior Funder. 
 

1.4. Refinancing opportunities generally exist where the market rate for the profit margin 
element falls below that currently charged by the incumbent Senior Funder. However, any 
refinancing exercise would attract significant early redemption penalties as well as legal 
and advisory fees. The reduction in margins must therefore be significant enough to offset 
these costs. 

 
1.5. Reductions in the underlying swap rate do not yield any refinancing gains because the 

benefit of lower interest rates is offset by early redemption costs. Early redemption costs 
wholly eliminate any saving associated with reductions in the swap rate. 

 
Review of Potential for Refinancing Gains 

 
1.6. The initial review of refinancing potential quickly ruled out any projects that were signed 

prior to the global financial crisis of 2008 (four schemes in total). Refinancing such 
schemes will not at present deliver financial savings as the original funding terms are 
more competitive than those available in the current market. 

 
1.7. Also ruled out for refinancing were other projects where it is either not possible to secure 

more competitive funding terms or where it would be uneconomic to pursue due to 
transaction costs outweighing any saving on funding costs. 

 
1.8. More positively, the review did identify a refinancing opportunity the details of which are 

set out in Part B of this report. The position will continue to be monitored in case market 
conditions and circumstances change giving rise to further refinancing opportunities. 

 
2. Current Position 
 
2.1. The PFI Contractor has now sourced improved funding terms and advisers have been 

appointed to finalise the arrangements. It is now necessary to assemble the appropriate 
legal agreements and financial model in order to deliver the proposed debt refinancing.  

Page 35



 

   

Further details of the proposed refinancing arrangement are set out in Part B of this 
report. 

 
3. Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1. There are two options: 

 Option 1 – Proceed with the proposed refinancing; 

 Option 2 – Do not proceed with the proposed refinancing. 
 
4. Preferred Option 
 
4.1. Option 1 is the preferred option as it will give rise to a financial benefit for the Council. 
 
5. Consultation 
 
5.1. The approved savings proposal ‘Prepayments & Refinancing of Outstanding Long Term 

Liabilities’ which prompted the proposed refinancing passed through the Council’s 
standard budget consultation process which includes a period of public consultation as 
well as consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Performance and Value for Money 
Select Committee. 

 
6. Financial Implications  
 
6.1. Proceeding with the proposed refinancing will give rise to a financial benefit for the 

Council.  Financial and legal advisers have been engaged to support the Council in its 
efforts to pursue refinancing opportunities. (Andrew Moran, Assistant Director of Finance) 

 
7. Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1. The report author has confirmed that the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules have been 

complied with.  The Council has external legal and financial advice in place to support this 
project.  The Council has the power to make this decision in the interests of good financial 
management. (Rebecca Boyle, Legal Services) 

 
8. Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1. The pursuit of PFI refinancing opportunities supports the Council’s co-operative agenda 

by generating resources that can be utilised to support the aims, objectives and co-
operative ethos of the Council. 

 
9. Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1. There are no Human Resources implications. 
 
10. Risk Assessments 
 
10.1. The risks and any associated mitigations are included in Part B of this report. 
 
11. IT Implications 
 
11.1. There are no IT implications. 
 
12. Property Implications 
 
12.1. There are no property implications. 

Page 36



 

   

 
13. Procurement Implications 
 
13.1. There are no procurement implications. 
 
14. Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1. There are no Environmental and Health & Safety implications. 
 
15. Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1. There are no equality, community cohesion and crime implications. 
 
16. Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
16.1. No 
 
17. Key Decision 
 
17.1. No 
 
18. Key Decision Reference 
 
18.1. N/A. 
 
19. Background Papers 
 
19.1. The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in accordance 

with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 1972.  It does not 
include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information as defined by 
the Act: 
 
File Ref: Report entitled ‘Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 to 2020/21 – 

Administration Budget Proposals’ considered by Council on 14 December 
2016. This report considered and approved budget reduction proposal CCS-
COM-044 (Prepayments & Refinancing of Outstanding Long Term 
Liabilities). 

 
Officer Name: Andrew Moran 
Contact No:  0161 770 4467 
 

20. Appendices  
 
20.1. None. 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

Reason for Decision 
The purpose of the report is to outline details of recent discussions with the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (formerly the Department for Communities 
and Local Government) in respect to the proposed sale of part of the former Breeze Hill 
School site (Asset 175). 
 
Recommendations 
It is recommended that Cabinet notes the contents of the report only, with a further, 
restricted report – outlining the full background and proposed sale terms – due for 
consideration under Part B of the agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report to CABINET 

 
Disposal of former Breeze Hill School, Roxbury 
Avenue, Salem [St. Marys] 

 

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr Jean Stretton – Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Economy and Enterprise  
 
Officer Contact:  Helen Lockwood, Executive Director - Economy, Skills & 
Neighbourhoods 
 
Report Author: Mark Prestwich, Principal Development Surveyor 
Ext. 1660 
 
26 March 2018 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



 

   

 
 
Cabinet [26 March 2018] 
 
Disposal of former Breeze Hill School, Roxbury Avenue, Salem [St.Marys] 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 On 31 August 2010, Breeze Hill School and Counthill School merged to become 

Waterhead Academy as part of the Building Schools for the Future initiative. Whilst  the 
Academy operated from the ‘Roxbury Campus’ in the short-term, in November 2012, the 
School closed with all operations transferring to the new building on Huddersfield Road, 
Waterhead. 

 
1.2 Following the receipt of approval under Section 77 of the School Standards and 

Framework Act 1998 and Schedule 1 of the Academies Act 2010, the Council started 
work to demolish the School buildings in August 2013.  The site has remained vacant 
since completion of the clearance works albeit, one of the two former caretakers houses 
remains occupied – by the former caretaker at Breeze Hill. 

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 In early 2017 Oasis Academy Trust made a successful application to open a new high 

school. The Trust currently runs 48 Academies across the country, including two in 
Oldham.   

 
2.2 In July 2017, the Council’s Cabinet resolved to work with the Education, Skills and 

Funding Agency (‘ESFA’) to provide a site, which would be transferred at Market Value 
in support of the proposals.  The favoured site for the new school was agreed as being a 
portion of the land formerly occupied by Breeze Hill School as shown edged red on the 
attached plan (see Appendix One).  Note, this area excludes the two caretakers houses 
which, would be retained by the Council and subject to a further report in due course. 

 
2.3 The land edged red measures approximately 18.77 acres and forms part of Asset 175. 
 
2.4 Heads of terms have provisionally been agreed based on a jointly commissioned, 

independent valuation prepared by District Valuer Services.  
 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 Cabinet have previously resolved to sell a portion of the former Breeze Hill School site in 

order to support the delivery of a new school. 
 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 Cabinet are asked to note the contents of the report only, with a further, restricted report 

which details the recommended course of action due for consideration under Part B of 
the agenda. 

 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 None. 
 
6 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 Cabinet are asked to note the contents of the report only, with a further, restricted report 

which detail the financial implications due for consideration under Part B of the agenda. 

Page 40



 

   

 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 Cabinet are asked to note the contents of the report only, with a further, restricted report 

which detail the legal implications due for consideration under Part B of the agenda. 
 
8. Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 Cabinet are asked to note the contents of the report only, with a further, restricted report 

which details the Council’s Co-operative agenda due for consideration under Part B of 
the agenda. 

 
9 Risk Assessments 
 
9.1 Not applicable. 
 
10 Property Implications 
 
10.1 Cabinet are asked to note the contents of the report only, with a further, restricted report 

which details the property implications due for consideration under Part B of the agenda. 
 
11 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
11.1 None. 
 
12 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
12.1 None. 
 
13 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
13.1  No. 
 
14 Key Decision 
 
14.1 Yes.  
 
15 Key Decision Reference 
 
15.1 ECEN-01-18 
 
16 Background Papers 
 
16.1 None. 
 
17 Appendices  
 
17.1 Appendix One - Plan of site. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 

   

 
Appendix One 

 

Page 42



 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To create a robust and comprehensive framework of tree surgery contractors to undertake 
all of Oldham’s tree surgery and urban forestry needs. 
 
Recommendations 
 
To select Option 1; to appoint a framework of contractors comprising 6 Tree Surgery 
Contractors to undertake all of Oldham’s Tree Surgery and Urban Forestry work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report to CABINET 

 
Tree Surgery Framework of Contractors 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Cllr Barbara Brownridge – Neighbourhoods and Co-operative 
 
Officer Contact:  Helen Lockwood – Executive Director Economy 
Skills and Neighbourhoods 
 
Report Author: Nik Anderson 
Ext. X4066 
 
26th March 2018 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



 

   

Cabinet 26th March 2018 
 
Tree Surgery Framework of Contractors 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 Oldham has 466,000 trees many of which are situated in the urban setting. Trees and 

woodlands need active management in order to be safe and to maximize their ecosystem, 
social and economic benefits. 

 
1.2        Prior to approximately 2004/5 all of Oldham’s tree and woodland work was carried out by 

in-house tree teams, but since then as the tree team decreased (through natural wastage) 
in size to 30% of its original size and as a result more and more reliance was placed on 
well vetted local contractors to undertake the shortfall in capacity. 

 
1.3      From about 2007/8 we have had a procured framework of contractors which has been 

renewed and refreshed on several occasions. 
 
1.4       The purpose of this report is to present the results of the latest procurement exercise to 

appoint a new and resilient framework of tree surgery contractors. 
 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 A large proportion of Oldham’s tree work is undertaken by a framework of private 

contractors with the intention of increasing this going forward. This will require the 
framework of contractors to have greater capacity and be more resilient in order to 
undertake the volumes of work that will be required. 

 
2.2      A budget has been identified to cover the cost of procured tree surgery and urban forestry 

work within the existing resources and work will be prioritized so as to stay within 
designated budget. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 Option 1 – to appoint a framework of 6 contractors listed below to a framework to 

undertake Oldham’s tree surgery and woodland management needs, which could result in 
a much improved service to Oldham’s residents. 

 
3.2        Option 2 – do not appoint the framework of tree surgery contractors resulting in Oldham 

not having any capacity to undertake essential tree surgery and woodland works across 
the borough. 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 Option 1 – to appoint a framework of 6 contractors to a framework to undertake Oldham’s 

tree surgery and woodland management needs, which could result in a much improved 
service to Oldham’s residents. 

 
              Cabinet grants the Director of Neighbourhoods Skills and Economy in consultation with 

the relevant portfolio holder authority to award framework contracts to each of the 
successful bidders selected as a result of the tender process for the delivery of 
professional tree surgery services and authorizes the Director of Legal Services to seal 
the framework agreement and any incidental and ancillary documentation. 

 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 All departments and Trade Unions 

Page 44



 

   

 
6 Legal Services Comments 
 
6.1 Legal Services have assisted with the drafting of the terms and conditions for the 

framework agreement with a provision for direct awards for services with a value of less 
than five thousand pounds and a provision for a mini competition for larger projects with a 
value of more than five thousand pounds.   

 
6.2 The opportunity to tender has been openly advertised in accordance with the Council’s 

Contract Procedure Rules via the Council’s procurement portal The Chest and resultant 
bids will be evaluated using the published criteria to select the most economically 
advantageous tenders.  (Elizabeth Cunningham-Doyle) 

 
8. Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 The creation/renewal of a resilient framework of professional tree surgery contractors will 

ensure that residents of Oldham get the best delivery of service possible to deliver service 
excellence. 

 
8.2     It is anticipated that the greater capacity will see waiting lists for work reduced and 

programmed work being carried out to the highest standard and in a more timely manner.     
 
8.3         # Our Bit – We provide the expertise, knowledge and contractors to manage the trees of 

Oldham to the highest standard. 
               # Your Bit – Take an active role in tree management in your area and bring your ideas 

and concerns to the Council. 
               # Result – Oldham has a safe and healthy urban forest that works hard providing eco-

system benefits for the residents of Oldham. 
 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 There are no staffing implications as the service is no longer provided by Council 

employees. (Stewart Hindley) 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 N/A   (Mark Stenson) 
 
11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 None 
 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 None 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 The procurement has been carried out in line with EU Regulations and Oldham Council’s 

Contract Procedure Rules. The open procedure was used and the contract was 
advertised via The Chest. 

 
 As part of their tender submission, bidders were asked to demonstrate how they would 

ensure social value in operation of the contract.  
 
 
 

Page 45



 

   

14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 With over 466,000 trees across Oldham many of which situated in high occupancy areas 

such as town centres, schools, highways, and parks, we have a duty of care to manage 
and maintain these trees in a safe and healthy condition. 

 
14.2      This means not only regular inspection, but the requirement to undertake works such as 

the removal of dead diseased and dying trees. The removal of obstructions over highways 
and footpaths, reduction of trees from properties that may cause damage, along with a 
variety of other necessary works 

 
14.3    Trees are high functioning assets providing many eco system benefits to Oldham. These 

eco system benefits are maximized with a healthy well maintained urban tree stock. (Nik 
Anderson) 

 
14.4      Health and Safety 
 
              There have been no prosecutions or notices recorded on the Health and Safety Executive 

(HSE) enforcement website against the tenderers within the past three years.  
 
              Health and Safety critical documentation such as risk assessments, safe systems of work 

etc. have not been assessed by the health and safety service as these checks must be 
undertaken by the relevant project manager as should relevant supervisory checks of any 
contractors/works. (Matthew Hill) 

 
15 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1 None 
 
16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
16.1  N/A 
 
17 Key Decision 
 
17.1 Yes 
 
18 Key Decision Reference 
 

18.1 NEICO-13-17. 
 
19 Background Papers 
 
19.1   N/A 
 
20 Appendices  
 
20.1 N/A 
 
 

Page 46



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Reason for Decision 
 
The report provides Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 2017/18 forecast revenue 
budget position at Annex 1 and the financial position of the capital programme as at 31 
December 2017 (Quarter 3) together with the revised capital programme 2017/21, as 
outlined in section two of the report at Annex 2. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Revenue Position 
 
The current forecast outturn position for 2017/18 is a projected favourable variance of 
£0.146m after allowing for approved and pending transfers to and from reserves.  
 
The key issue to note is that there are two Portfolios which present the most significant areas 
of concern, Health and Wellbeing and Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods. An update on 
the major issues driving the projections within these Portfolios are detailed within Annex 1, 
paragraphs 2.7.11 to 2.7.30. 
 
Action is being taken and will continue for the remainder of the financial year to address 
variances and take mitigating action as detailed in the report.  
 
The overall corporate position is being managed by offsetting favourable variances, most 
noticeably from capital, treasury and corporate accounting budgets, in part caused by the 
anticipated cost of borrowing and capital financing being lower than budgeted.  
 

Report to Cabinet 

 
Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment 
Programme 2017/18 
Quarter 3 - December 2017 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Finance & Human Resources 
 
Officer Contact:  Anne Ryans, Director of Finance  
 
Report  Author:  Anne Ryans, Director of Finance 
Ext. 4902 
 
26 March 2018 

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



 

  2 

Information on the Quarter 3 position of the Dedicated Schools Grant, Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) and Collection Fund is also outlined in the report.  There are no significant 
issues of concern in these areas at this time. 

 
Capital Position 
 
The report outlines the most up to date capital spending position for 2017/21 after approved 
new schemes and variations. The revised capital programme budget is £25.490m at the 
close of Quarter 3, a net decrease of £10.393m from the revised budget at month 8 of 
£35.882m.  Actual expenditure to 31 December 2017 was £17.416m (68.15% of forecast 
outturn). 
 
It is probable that the forecast position will continue to change before the year end with 
additional re-profiling into future years. 

 
Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet approves the: 
 
1. Forecast revenue outturn for 2017/18 at Quarter 3 being a £0.146m under spend 
2. Forecast positions for both the HRA and Collection Fund 
3. Use of reserves as detailed in Appendix 1 to Annex 1 
4. Revised capital programme for 2017/2021 as at Quarter 3. 

 
 
 

 
  

Page 48



 

  3 

Cabinet                     26 March 2018 
 
Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2017/18 Quarter 3 – December 
2017 
 
1 Background  
 

1.1 The Authority’s 2017/18 revenue budget and capital programme was approved by 
Council on 1 March 2017. Under established budget procedures, all services are 
required to monitor and review their approved revenue and capital budgets during the 
financial year.  This is reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis with an additional 
report at month 8 which is used to inform the budget setting process for the following 
financial year. 

 
1.2 As part of the budget monitoring process, the forecast year-end position for revenue 

and capital has been prepared by all services. The forecast is based on a comparison 
of profiled budgets to the actual position as at 31 December 2017 together with 
commitments and known issues.  As the year progresses the outturn projections 
reflect the evolving position of management actions put in place to mitigate in-year 
pressures, new developments and changes in the profile of planned expenditure. 

 
2.  Current position 
 
2.1 The forecast revenue outturn for 2017/18 is a favourable variance of £0.146m.  

Further details of the current revenue budget position and a full description of this 
forecast can be found in Annex 1. 

 
2.2 The original approved capital programme for 2017/18 totalled £69.783m.  The revised 

capital programme as at Quarter 3 taking account of approved carry forwards, 
approved new schemes and variations and proposed variations/ re-phasing gives 
projected revised expenditure of £25.490m, compared to £35.882m at month 8.  
Actual expenditure at Quarter 3 was £17.416m (68.15% of forecast outturn), this has 
increased to £20.331m as at 15 March 2018.  Further details of expenditure and 
schemes within the capital programme can be found in Annex 2. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 The options that Cabinet might consider in relation to the contents of this report are; 
 

a) to approve the forecast revenue and capital positions presented in the 

report including proposed changes  

b) to approve some of the forecasts and changes included in the report  

c) not to approve any of the forecasts and changes included in the report  

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 The preferred option is that Cabinet approves all forecasts and changes within this 

report; option (a) at 3.1. 
 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 Consultation with the services within the Council and the Director of Finance. 

Page 49



 

  4 

 
6 Financial Implications 
 
6.1 The full financial implications are detailed in the report. 
 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 There are no legal issues at this time. 
 
8 Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 Improving the quality and timeliness of the financial information available to citizens 

of Oldham supports the co-operative ethos of the Council.   
 
8.2 The revenue budget and capital strategy/ programme have been prepared so that 

they embrace the Council’s co-operative agenda with resources being directed 
towards projects that enhance the aims, objectives and co-operative ethos of the 
Council.  Ongoing budget monitoring is key to ensuring this objective is met. 

 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 There are no Human Resource implications. 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 The risk is that the proposed management actions are not achieved in full.  Should 

this be the case then alternatives will be sought. 
 
11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 There are no IT implications. 
 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 There are no Property implications. 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 There are no Procurement implications. 
 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 There are no Environmental and Health and Safety implications. 
 
15 Equality, Community Cohesion and Crime Implications 
 
15.1 There are no Equality, Community Cohesion and Crime implications. 
 
16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed 
 
16.1 Not Applicable. 
 
 

Page 50



 

  5 

 
17 Key Decision  
 
17.1 Yes  
 
18 Key Decision Reference 
  
18.1 CFHR-07-17 
 
19 Background Papers 

 
19.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential 
information as defined by the Act: 

 
File Ref:  Revenue Background Papers are contained in Annex 1 including 
  Appendices 1 and 2 
Officer Name:  Andy Cooper 
Contact No:  0161 770 4925 
 
File Ref:  Capital Background Papers are contained in Annex 2 including 

Appendix A  
Officer Name:  Lee Walsh 
Contact No:  0161 770 6608 

 
20 Appendices  

 

Annex 1 Revenue Budget Monitoring Report 2017/18 Quarter 3 - 
December 2017 

Appendix 1      Quarter 3- Planned Transfers to/ from Reserves 
Appendix 2     Financing of the 2017/18 Budget at Quarter 3 

 
Annex 2 Capital Investment Programme 2017/18 Quarter 3 - December 

2017 
Appendix A    Expenditure and matching funding streams to be realigned at 31    

December 2017 
 

    
    
    

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

ANNEX 1 

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2017/18   

Quarter 3 - December 2017 
 

1 Background 
 

1.1 The Authority’s 2017/18 revenue budget was approved by Council on 1 March 2017. 
Under established budget procedures all services are required to monitor and review 
their approved budgets during the financial year. The approved budget for the year was 
£209.868m and included £9.498m of budget reductions and £6.525m use of reserves, 
including £0.789m to part finance the budget reductions. 

 
1.2 As part of the budget monitoring process, a forecast of the year-end position has been 

prepared by all services. The forecast is based on a comparison of profiled budgets to 
the actual position as at the end of Quarter 3 together with known commitments, issues 
and planned management actions. 

 

2 Current  Position 
 

2.1 The table below details the year-end forecast position against budget for each Portfolio 
after the planned transfers to and from reserves and compares the resulting variance to 
the previously reported position. The current budget position of £219.088m represents 
an increase of £9.220m on the originally approved budget. This is principally due to the 
receipt of additional Government grants since the budget was approved, the most 
significant of which was £5.095m of Improved Better Care Fund to support spending on 
Adult Social Care priorities. Additional capital grant of £2.227m is also included within 
the budget increase, reflecting the reporting arrangements required when preparing the 
Statement of Accounts. The forecast outturn to the end of the year, after the use of 
reserves, is an under spend of £0.146m. 
 

2.2 A detailed list of the approved and planned use of reserves between Month 8 and Quarter 
3 can be found at Appendix 1. The funding of the total net revenue expenditure is shown 
at Appendix 2. 

 
Table 1 - Summary Forecast Revenue Outturn 

Portfolio Budget 
 

£000 

Forecast  
 

£000 

Variance 
Month 8 

£000 

Variance 
Quarter 3 

£000 

Variance 
Quarter 3 

% 

Chief Executive 2,403 2,402 - (1) (0.04) 

Corporate and Commercial Services 5,041 4,772 (216) (269) (5.34) 

Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods 94,478 95,133 553 655 0.69 

Health and Wellbeing 115,549 119,431 3,468 3,882 3.36 

Capital, Treasury and Corporate 
Accounting 

1,617 (2,796) (3,955) (4,413) (272.91) 

NET EXPENDITURE 219,088 218,942 (150) (146) (0.06) 

FINANCED BY: (219,088) (219,088) - - - 

NET FORECAST VARIANCE - (146) (150) (146)  

 

Page 53



 

  2 

2.3 Corporately, whilst there is a projected under spend at the end of the financial year, 
largely similar to the one reported at month 8, it is key to note the fluctuations contained 
within that net position. 

 
2.4 The Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods Portfolio has reported a pressure of £0.655m. 

This shows an adverse movement of £0.102m compared to the month 8 position. The 
pressure is principally due to an increase in the maintenance costs of Council buildings 
and the additional costs associated with the introduction of the Oldham Living Wage, 
particularly in relation to the Catering and Cleaning services. A further contributing factor 
is the high cost of Home to School transportation in the Education and Early Years 
directorate.  The pressures are offset by the positive adjustment to the Councils Carbon 
Reduction Commitment (CRC) obligations reported at month 8.  

 
2.5 There is a £3.882m projected over spend within the Health and Wellbeing Portfolio 

attributable in the main to Children’s Social Care (£3.655m), an increase of £0.414m on 
the £3.468m reported at month 8. The main contributing factor is an adverse movement 
of £0.550m from the month 8 position within Children’s Social Care. The principal reason 
for this over spend and the subsequent increase from month 8 is related to the increase 
in numbers of looked after children, the cost of commissioning services for children with 
disabilities and also the cost of adoption and fostering. In addition there is a reported 
overspend of £0.428m within Public Health; the inclusion of a provision for the 
settlement of the outstanding NHS related premises costs (£0.565m) reported at month 
8 is netted down by an underspend of £0.137m within the Library Service.  

 
2.6 The total forecast over spends within the Health and Wellbeing and Economy, Skills and 

Neighbourhoods Portfolios are being offset by a projected under spend of £4.413m 
within Capital, Treasury and Corporate Accounting, supplemented by a much smaller 
underspend of £0.269m within Corporate and Commercial Services. A more detailed 
analysis of financial performance and the major variances can be found by Portfolio in 
the following sections. 

 
2.7 Portfolio Summaries 
 

Chief Executive 
 
2.7.1 The table below shows the forecast position after the approved and planned use of 

reserves. 
 

Table 2 - Chief Executive - Forecast Outturn 

  Revised 
Budget 

£000 

Forecast 
 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Variance  
 

% 

Chief Executive 2,403 2,402 (1) (0.04) 

Total Forecast Net Expenditure 2,403 2,402 (1) (0.04) 
 

  Summary 
 
2.7.2 The forecast outturn at Quarter 3 is showing a broadly balanced budget, with no major 

issues to report. 
 
2.7.3 The 2017/18 budget reductions for the Chief Executives portfolio of £0.511m are 

forecast to be fully achieved. 

Page 54



 

  3 

Corporate and Commercial Services 
 
2.7.4 The table below shows the forecast position after the approved and planned use of 

reserves. 
 

Table 3 – Corporate and Commercial Services - Forecast Outturn 

  Revised 
Budget 

£000 

Forecast 
 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Variance  
 

% 

People 141 71 (70) (49.65) 

Finance 4,158 4,045 (113) (2.72) 

Legal Services 474 355 (119) (25.11) 

Commercial and Transformation Services 268 301 33 12.31 

Total Forecast Net Expenditure 5,041 4,772 (269) (5.34) 

 
Summary 

 
2.7.5     The forecast outturn at Quarter 3 is an under spend of £0.269m.   
 

People 
 

2.7.6 The Directorate has a projected under spend of £0.070m which relates to vacant posts 
within the service. 

 
Finance 

  
2.7.7 The Directorate has a projected under spend of £0.113m which relates to vacant posts 

within the service. 
 

Legal Services 
 
2.7.8 The Directorate has a projected under spend of £0.119m as a result of vacancies and 

under spends on non-pay budgets. 
 
 Commercial and Transformational Services 
 
2.7.9 The Directorate is showing a slight overspend of £0.033m due to additional costs for the 

temporary management arrangements. 
 
2.7.10 The 2017/18 budget reductions for the Corporate and Commercial Services portfolio of 

£5.760m are forecast to be fully achieved. 
 

  Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods 
 
2.7.11 The following table shows the forecast position after the approved and planned use of 

reserves. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 

  4 

Table 4 – Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods - Forecast Outturn 

  

Revised 
Budget 

£000 

Forecast 
 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Variance  
 

% 

Environmental Services 65,909 65,716 (193) (0.29) 

Economic Development 9,538 10,011 473 4.96 

Enterprise and Skills 2,418 2,424 6 0.25 

Education and Early Years 16,613 16,982 369 2.22 

Total Forecast Net Expenditure 94,478 95,133 655 0.69 

          
   Summary 
 
2.7.12 The forecast outturn at Quarter 3 is an over spend of £0.655m, the main areas of which 

are explained in the following paragraphs. 
 

Environmental Services 
 

2.7.13 The Directorate has forecast an under spend of £0.193m. This shows a favourable 
movement of £0.025m from the month 8 position. The overall underspend is principally 
due to underspends within the Highways Operations, Fleet Operations, Streetscene and 
the Street Lighting service areas. 

 
Economic Development 

 
2.7.14 The Directorate has a projected over spend of £0.473m. The principal factors are 

detailed below. 
 

 The Catering and Cleaning services have forecast an over spend of 
£0.453m. The cost of provision has increased due to staffing costs, mainly 
as a result of the implementation of the Oldham Living Wage which has 
increased by more than the corresponding increases in charges. The 
Catering service is planning to make efficiencies by improving processes 
with potentially the introduction of IT equipment to order and record the 
number of meals. There is a need to reduce costs and/ or increase the 
charging unit price per meal to ensure a balanced position in future years.  
A further Service Review is planned for 2018/19. 

 

 The Corporate Landlord service has forecast an under spend of £0.276m, 
relating to the Carbon Reduction Commitment, as previously reported. 

 

 The Investment Estate service has forecast an over spend of £0.146m 
relating to an increase in property maintenance costs. In addition the 
Regeneration service has forecast an over spend of £0.150m as the target 
for capitalising staff costs is unlikely to be met this financial year.  

 

 Strategic Housing is currently projected to be in line with its budget, 
however, there are emerging pressures relating to the introduction of 
Universal Credit and other legislative changes, particularly impacting on the 
pressures associated with homelessness meaning that the position will 
need to be monitored closely with reserves having been identified to support 
these pressures if required. 

Page 56



 

  5 

Education and Early Years 
 
2.7.15 The Directorate has a projected over spend of £0.369m primarily due to the current costs 

of home to school transportation. The current routes will be re-procured for the 2018/19 
academic year but the position will be kept under review in order to minimise any 
adverse variance. Additionally there will be a review of the Home to School transport 
policy. 

 
2.7.16 The 2017/18 budget reductions for the Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods portfolio 

of £1.175m are forecast to be fully achieved. 
 

  Health and Wellbeing 
 
2.7.17 The table below shows the forecast position after the approved and planned use of 
 reserves. 
 

Table 5 – Health and Wellbeing - Forecast Outturn 

  

Revised Forecast Variance Variance 

Budget       

£000 £000 £000 % 

Children's Social Care 25,559 29,214 3,655 14.3 

Adults Social Care 55,221 55,018 (203) (0.37) 

Public Health  30,627 31,055 428 1.4 

Community Services 4,022 4,024 2 0.05 

Health and Wellbeing Management 120 120 - - 

Total Forecast Net Expenditure 115,549 119,431 3,882 3.36 

 

  Summary  
 
2.7.18 The forecast outturn at Quarter 3 is an overspend of £3.882m. The main area of 

overspend for the Portfolio remains within the Children’s Social Care Directorate which 
is reporting an increased pressure of £3.655m.  There is a further overspend of £0.428m 
within Public Health relating to premises costs.  The combined overspends are partly 
offset by a favourable variance of £0.203m in Adult Social Care. 

 
Children’s Social Care 

 
2.7.19 The overspend of £3.655m is an increase of £0.550m over the £3.105m that was 

reported at month 8.   
 
2.7.20  Fieldwork & Family Support is reporting an overspend of £0.28m, representing a 

reduction of £0.206m compared to month 8.  There are a number of areas reporting an 
increased overspend, the largest of which is legal fees (£0.107m), mainly as a result of 
additional specialist reports that are required over and above core legal fees.  Other 
contributors are mobile and laptop charges (£0.048m), Assistance to Families and No 
Recourse to Public Funds (£0.029m), translation costs (£0.022m), with the remaining 
£0.009m spread across a number of cost centres.  The over spend is netted down by a 
forecast reduction in staffing costs of £0.368m and staff transport costs of £0.053m. 

 
2.7.21 Children in Care is reporting an over spend of £3.621m, an increase of £0.756m on the 

month 8 position of £2.865m.  Demand and cost increases for the various types of 

Page 57



 

  6 

placements for Looked After Children have increased the forecast expenditure by 
£0.239m; Independent Fostering Agency (£0.064m) and Out of Borough (£0.244m), 
netted down by increased funding of £0.069m having been received to support 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children. 

 
2.7.22 Also within Children in Care, the over spend within Adoption and Fostering has 

increased by £0.491m.  The pool of adopters within the newly formed Regional Adoption 
Agency (RAA) remains low which has resulted in the Council incurring additional 
interagency fees. Furthermore the recruitment of adopters is lower than expected and 
this has also had a significant adverse impact on the income target for the sale of 
adopters. The closure and phased re-opening of the Fraser Street Children’s Homes 
has reduced the forecast overspend on the residential and support accommodation units 
by £0.099m and finally the number of young people who have their rent and 
accommodation costs paid for by the Aftercare team has increased significantly and is 
the highest on record, increasing the overspend by £0.125m.  

 
2.7.23 The Health and Wellbeing Financial Planning Recovery Group provided Portfolio 

Members with an update on the financial  and operational position within Children’s and 
Adults Social Care on 7 February including a review of the management actions that 
have been implemented to mitigate the projected over spending.  As previously reported 
there will be an inevitable lead in time for any benefits to be realised and as a result 
there is a risk that costs and the level of overspend could increase further in the short 
term. 

 
Adult Social Care 
 

 2.7.24  Adult Social Care is projecting a £0.203m favourable variance at Quarter 3; a decrease 
of £0.002m compared to the £0.205m reported at the end of month 8, reflecting minor 
refinements to forecasting in relation to salaries, the cost of community care and income 
and contributions. The improved financial position, compared to 2016/17 is the result of 
the combined effect of Central Government funding in the form of the Improved Better 
Care Fund and also the additional resources allocated by the Council.  

 
2.7.25 In general, whilst community care continues to present a budgetary risk, mainly due to 

high cost complex cases, the resultant pressures are being mitigated by savings on 
salaries together with  income generation and the recovery of direct payments.   

 
2.7.26 The forecast continues to assume full utilisation of the Improved Better Care Fund of 

£5.095m as notified in the Spring budget.  Current guidance would seem to confirm that 
there will be no claw-back of any unspent 2017/18 funding together with definite 
confirmation that the 2018/19 allocation will be received in full, any balance remaining 
will therefore be transferred to reserves at the end of the financial year for utilisation in 
the future. 

 
2.7.27 No provision has been made for a recent HMRC judgement on sleep-in payments which, 

as previously reported has a potential impact on both Adults and Children’s Social Care; 
there have been no further Government announcements since the launch of the Social 
Care Compliance Scheme (SCCS) on 1 November 2017.  

   
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

  7 

 Public Health 
 
2.7.28 Public Health is forecasting an over spend of £0.428m.  As previously reported the 

inclusion of a provision for the premises costs of the Sexual Health Clinic and the Health 
Visiting and School Nursing services delivered an overspend of £0.565m at month 8, a 
forecast underspend of £0.137m within the Library Service accounts for the reduced 
overspend reported at Quarter 3. 

 
2.7.29 The previously reported emerging pressure, estimated to be in the region £0.050m in 

relation to Oldham Community Leisure in the form of additional costs relating to changes 
in legislation for which the Council is contractually liable remains an issue.   

 
2.7.30 The 2017/18 budget reductions for the Health and Wellbeing portfolio are £2.012m of 

which £1.737m (86%) are currently forecast to be achieved.  The non-achievement of 
savings relates to Children’s Social Care and is therefore contributing to the over spend 
in that area.  Plans are underway to identify compensating savings but as described in 
2.7.23 it is unlikely that these will come to fruition until the next financial year. 

 
 Progress against Locality Plans 
 
2.7.31 A key element of the Health and Social Care devolution agenda is the submission of a 

Locality Plan setting out the Council and CCG vision for the greatest and fastest possible 
improvement in the health and wellbeing of our residents by 2021. This improvement 
will be achieved by supporting people to be more in control of their lives by having a 
health and social care system that is geared towards wellbeing and the prevention of ill 
health; access to health services at home and in the community; and social care that 
works with health and voluntary services to support people to look after themselves and 
each other. 

 
2.7.32 The financial performance against the latest version 20167/18 Locality Plan is 

highlighted below in Table 6; 
 

Table 6 – Locality Plan 

  

Revised     
Budget 

Forecast      Variance      Variance      

£000 £000 £000 % 

Public Health 17,337 17,765 428 2.47 

Adult Social Care 51,209 51,006 (203) (0.40) 

Children and Families 23,858 26,963 3,105 13.01 

Total Forecast Net Expenditure 92,404 95,734 3,330 3.60 
 

 
2.7.33 Although the headings in the Locality Plan do not completely align with the Council’s 

Health and Wellbeing Directorate the reasons for the variances against budget are 
consistent with those reported within sections 2.7.17 to 2.7.30 above. 
 
Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting 

 
2.7.34 The following table shows the forecast position after the approved and planned use of 

reserves. 
 
 

Page 59



 

  8 

Table 7 – Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting – Forecast Outturn 

  Revised 
Budget 

£000 

Forecast 
 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Variance  
 

% 

Capital, Treasury and Corporate Accounting (4,766) (9,189) (4,413) 92.40 

Total Forecast Net Expenditure (4,766) (9,189) (4,413) 92.40 

 
2.7.35 The forecast outturn at Quarter 3 is an under spend of £4.413m. This budget includes 

the income and expenditure from the Council’s investments and borrowings for both 
principal and interest payments. 

  
2.7.36 The under spend reported is largely is due to the anticipated costs for borrowing and 

capital financing being lower than the prudent amount that was originally budgeted for.  
 
2.7.37 In addition, the Council has received grant funding of £0.301m to compensate for 

payments it has made to ratepayers under the Business Rates Discretionary 
Revaluation Relief scheme. 

 
Schools 

 
2.7.38 The year-end forecast position for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) (a ring-fenced 

grant that supports the Schools budget and certain permitted Council Services) for 
2017/18 is a deficit of £3.450m, a reduction of £22k from the position reported at month 
8.  The forecast assumes the use of the Greater Manchester Sustainable Engineering 
University Technical College to expand Oasis Academy, the DSG has been adjusted, 
the financial plans are currently being worked through and the expectation remains that 
the proposal will be revenue neutral.  The Council will be developing a recovery plan to 
enable the DSG to move towards a balanced position over the medium term. 

 
  Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 
2.7.39 The original HRA forecast was a decrease in balances of £0.564m against the balance 

brought forward at the start of the year of £18.366m. This would have given an estimated 
balance at the end of the financial year of £17.802m. The revised forecast is for an in-
year increase in balances of £1.019m. The revised forecast HRA balance to the end of 
the year is therefore £19.385m. The current position differs from the original forecast by 
£1.583m.  This is a decrease of £0.202m on the position reported at month 8.  The 
overall, significant favourable variance is attributable to the major capital projects to 
which the HRA is contributing now being scheduled to start in 2018/19 rather than 
2017/18.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

  9 

Collection Fund  
 

2.7.40 The table below shows the forecast outturn position for the Collection Fund. 
 
 Table 8 Collection Fund Forecast Position 

Collection Fund Balance 
Council 

Tax 
NDR Total 

  £000 £000 £000 

Balance Brought Forward (1,093) 2,647 1,554 

(Surplus)/ Deficit for the Year (893) (1,142) (2,035) 

Balance Carried Forward (1,986) 1,505 (481) 

Share- Oldham Council (1,731) 167 (1,564) 

Share- Central Government - 1,323 1,323 

Share- Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(Police and Crime Commissioner) 

(186) - (186) 

Share- Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(Fire and Rescue Services)  

(69) 15 (54) 

Total (Surplus) / Deficit  (1,986) 1,505 (481) 

 
2.7.41 The increasing prominence of Council Tax and Business Rates in helping fund Council 

services means that the Collection Fund financial position is subject to constant review.  
A forecast in-year surplus of £2.035m means that the projected year-end Collection 
Fund position (incorporating both Council Tax and Business Rates) is a projected 
surplus of £0.481m of which the share for the Council is a favourable £1.564m.  

  
2.7.42 The forecast year-end position is an increase of £0.056m on the estimated position at 

month 8, at which point a surplus position of £0.425m was forecast. The reason for the 
movement in the forecast is an increase in the anticipated income from Council Tax 
payers partially offset by a reduction in the calculated provision for bad and doubtful 
debt for NDR. 

   
2.7.43 The Greater Manchester Combined Authority Area continues to pilot 100% Business 

Rates Retention. The pilot was first implemented on 1 April 2017. The purpose of the 
pilot is to develop and trial approaches to manage risk and reward in a Local 
Government finance system that includes the full devolution of Business Rates 
revenues. It is hoped the new system will provide a stable funding stream whilst 
incentivising economic growth.  Whilst the pilot is in place, a no detriment policy is in 
operation under which the Government guarantees that the Council can be no worse off 
than it would have been if it was not in the pilot area. 

 
2.7.44 The Collection Fund forecast is such that it will have a neutral impact on the 2018/19 

budget. 
 
3 Use of Reserves 
 
3.1 The total planned use of reserves increased by £0.043m between Month 8 and Quarter 

3 (detailed at Appendix 1), making a net cumulative use of reserves in the year to date 
of £5.171m comprising of the following: 
 

 £10.187m transfers from reserves representing 12.23% of the total available 
reserves  

Page 61



 

  10 

 £5.016m budgeted transfers to reserves  
 

3.2 In line with the Council’s reserves policy, the recommended use of reserves to fund 
spend during the year have been initially approved by the appropriate officers prior to 
consideration by Cabinet.  The reserve is then drawn down against the initial approval 
as expenditure is incurred.   

 
3.3 Members are reminded that the budget for 2017/18 was set after the utilisation of 

£6.525m of reserves in addition to the usage referred to at 3.1 above.  It is anticipated 
that the net use of reserves will continue to change up to the year end.   

 
4 Conclusion 
 
4.1 Whilst the current projected position, after adjustment for reserves, is an overall 

corporate under spend, the forecast over spending in two Portfolio areas remains a 
cause for concern.  Action is being taken to manage expenditure in all areas, particularly 
those that are not subject to demand changes, in order to offset expenditure over which 
the Council has little control.  

  
4.2 In relation to demand led pressures; work, in the form of mitigations and alternative 

delivery solutions is ongoing, there will, however be an inevitable lead in time for these 
benefits to be realised.  

 
 

Page 62



Appendix 1

Quarter 3 - Planned Transfers to/ from Reserves

Reserve Name

Opening 

Balance

30 November 

2017

£000

Use of

Contribution 

from/to 

Reserves

Quarter 3

£000

Expected 

Closing 

Balance

31 March 

2018

£000

Reason for Use of Reserve

Pay Review (266) 15 (251) To fund specialist advice in 2017/18 as part of the Reward and 

Recognition Strategy project.

Transformation – PMO resourcing 

element

(248) 19 (229) The Programme Management Office (PMO) is working on a large range of 

transformational projects for the Council and extra resources are required 

to facilitate the work. 

Corporate and Commercial 

Services 

(514) 34 (480)

District Partnership Carry Forwards (232) 9 (223) To fund District Partnership expenditure in 2017/18.

Health and Wellbeing (232) 9 (223)

Grand Total (746) 43 (703)

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

   
Appendix 2 

      

FINANCING OF THE 2017/18 BUDGET AT QUARTER 3    

      

  £'000 £'000 

Net Expenditure Budget    (219,088) 

      

Financed by:     

      

Business Rates Top-up Grant (54,747)   

Grants in Lieu of Business Rates (5,660)   

Business Rates Discretionary Relief (301)  

Business Rates Rebilling Grant (12)   

Improved Better Care Fund Grant - Tranche 1 (716)   

Improved Better Care Fund Grant – Tranche 2 (5,095)   

Independent Living Fund Grant (2,748)   

Adult Social Care Support Grant (1,127)   

Adult Personal Social Care Grant (209)   

Housing Benefit & Council Tax Administration Grant (1,294)   

Education Services Grant (740)   

School Improvement Monitoring & Brokerage Grant (150)   

New Homes Bonus Grant (2,784)   

Lead Local Flood Authority Grant (10)   

DWP New Burdens Grant  (24)   

SEND Implementation Grant (203)   

SEND Regional Leads (24)   

Universal Credit Grant (283)   

Flexible Homelessness Support Grant (104)   

Homelessness Reduction - New Burdens (53)   

Homelessness Overhauling Data Grant  (9)   

Discretionary Housing Payment Administration Grant (45)   

Benefit Cap Administration Grant  (39)   

Opportunity Area Grant (500)   

Extended Rights to Free Travel Grant  (22)   

Staying Put Grant (61)   

Capital Grants (2,227)   

Total Government Grant Funding    (79,187) 

      

Retained Business Rates (50,646)   

Council Tax Income - General  (79,615)   

Council Tax Income - Adult Social Care Precept (3,115)   

Total Locally Generated Income    (133,376) 

      

Total Grant and Income    (212,563) 

      

Balance to be addressed by Use of Reserves   (6,525) 

      

Total Financing   (218,787) 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

ANNEX 2 
 

CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 2017/18 
Quarter 3- December 2017 
 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The original capital programme for 2017/18 reflects the priorities outlined in the 

capital strategy as approved at Cabinet on 20 February 2017 and confirmed at the 
Council meeting on the 1 March 2017.   

 
1.2 The position as at 31 December 2017 is highlighted in this report but factors in 

activities that have taken place in the period up to the issuing of this report. 
 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The capital programme summary position for the four years 2017 to 2021 approved 

by Council on 1 March 2017 is summarised in Table 1 and shows planned capital 
programme expenditure of £69.783m in 2017/18.   

 

Table 1 : Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2020/21 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 TOTAL 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Original Budget (March 2017) 69,783 55,961 32,785 9,442 167,971 

 

2.2 Table 2 shows the revised capital programme for 2017/18 as at 31 December 2017.  
Using the approved Month 8 position as the starting point and taking account of 
approved new schemes, rephasing and/or adjustments there is a £10.393m net 
decrease over the period to give projected revised expenditure of £25.490m.   

 
     Table 2 – 2017/18 Capital Programme 

Directorate 

Revised 
Budget 
(M08) 
£000 

Approved 
Amendments 

(to M09) 
£000 

Proposed 
Virement / 
Rephasing 

£000 

Revised 
Budget 
(M09) 
£000 

Forecast 
(M09) 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Corporate and 
Commercial Services 

5,594 (2,757) (1,131) 1,707 1,707 0 

Economy, Skills and 
Neighbourhoods 

27,882 (154) (5,806) 21,923 21,923 0 

Health and Wellbeing 1,362 169 (171) 1,360 1,360 0 

Housing Revenue 
Account 

1,044 0 (544) 500 500 0 

Funds Yet to be 
Allocated 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

Grand Total 35,882 (2,741) (7,652) 25,490 25,490 0 

  (subject to rounding – tolerance +/- £1k) 

 

2.3 There is a net decrease in the budget for 2017/18 of £2.741m as a result of already 
approved amendments to the capital programme, these are detailed below; 
 

Page 67



(£1,055k) - Rephase of the IT Capital Programme schemes 
(£       3k) - District Executive contribution to Transport scheme 
 £   146k - Section 106 contribution to Westwood MUGA scheme 
 £   103k - Acceleration of Corporate Property schemes 
 £     10k - Springhead Primary School Contribution to capital scheme 
 £       4k - Private Contribution to Early Years nursery scheme 
 £     NIL - Realignment of Transport schemes (18) 
(£1,701k) - Rephase of IT projects 
(£   417k) - Rephase/Realignment of Corporate Property schemes 
 £   172k - Additional DFG grant (as part of Autumn Budget) 

 
2.4 In addition there is a further proposed decrease of £7.652m in the budget due to the 

rephasing of a number of schemes, for which a detailed analysis is attached at 
Appendix A. 

 
2.5 Taking the above movements into consideration the revised 2017/18, 2018/19 and 

2019/20 position for the overall capital programme are shown in the table below. The 
updated position reflects the Capital Strategy 2018-2022 approved at Council on 28 
February but also the additional slippage as shown in table 2.    

 
Table 3 – 2017/18 – 2020/21 Capital Programme 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Directorate £000 £000 £000 £000 

Corporate and Commercial Services 1,707 7,193 1,559 838 

Economy, Skills & Neighbourhoods 21,923 99,473 38,734 5,749 

Health and Wellbeing 1,360 2,931 600 600 

Housing Revenue Account 500 3,317 0 0 

Funds Yet to be Allocated 0 8,467 13,775 3,612 

Total 25,490 121,381 54,668 10,799 

 
2.6 Actual expenditure to 31 December 2017 was £17.416m (68.32% of forecast 

outturn).  This has increased to £20.331m as at 15 March 2018. The 2017/18 position 
will be kept under review and budgets will be managed in accordance with forecasts.  

 
Capital Receipts 

 
2.7 The revised capital programme requires the availability of £5.020m of capital receipts 

in 2017/18 for financing purposes. The total capital receipts currently received in year, 
inclusive of £4.164m carried forward from 2016/17 is £13.022m. 

 
2.8   The capital receipts position as at 31 December 2017 is as follows: 

 

 Table 4 – Capital Receipts 2017/18 

 £000 

Capital Receipts Financing Requirement 5,020 

Usable Capital Receipt b/fwd (4,164) 

Actual received to date (8,858) 

Surplus available to support future years capital 
receipts requirements 

(8,002) 

 

 

Page 68



2.9 As can be seen, there is currently a surplus of £8.002m of capital receipts in year.  
This surplus must be held until such time that it is clear that over the life of the capital 
programme sufficient receipts have been generated to allow further release of 
funding. Given the significant amount of receipts needed to finance the capital 
programme in future years it is imperative that the capital receipts/ disposal schedule 
is adhered to.   

 
2.10 The Capital Strategy and Capital Programme 2017/21 introduced an expectation of 

the level of receipts that is anticipated in each of the respective years and therefore 
an estimate as to the resultant level of over or under programming in order to present 
a balanced budget. The position as at 31 December 2017 is illustrated in the table 
below: 

 
Table 5 – Capital Receipts 2017/21  

Capital Receipts 
2017/18 

£000 
2018/19 

£000 
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 

Capital Receipts Received to Date (8,858) - - - 

Capital Receipts Anticipated in year (873) (5,298) (1,767) (803) 

C/fwd from previous year (4,164) (8,875) (839) (666) 

Total Receipts (13,895) (14,173) (2,606) (1,469) 

Capital Receipts Financing Requirement 5,020 13,334 1,940 1,469 

Over/(Under) programming (8,875) (839) (666) 0 

(subject to rounding – tolerance +/- £1k) 

 
2.11 The capital receipts position is monitored on a monthly basis.  The most recent 

projections are for receipts to exceed current planned requirements in later years of 
the programme.  However, until there is more confidence as to the timing of planned 
asset disposals, a prudent approach has been adopted and these are excluded from 
the current forecast. 

 
3. Conclusion 
 
3.1 The capital programme is continually being monitored and is reported to Members 

on a regular basis.  The outturn will be reported when the final accounts are prepared.  
 
 

Page 69



 

 

APPENDIX A- Expenditure and matching funding streams to be realigned at 31 December 2017. 
 

APPENDIX A- Expenditure and matching funding streams to be realigned at 31 December 2017. 

EXPENDITURE BUDGETS TO BE REPROFILED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017        

Directorate / Scheme  2017/18 2018/19 Reason 

Corporate and Commercial Services       

  IT/Business Systems (840,947.65) 840,947.65  Rephase to 2018/19 

  IT - Resident First - Phase 1 (105,383.34) 105,383.34  Rephase to 2018/19 

  IT - Delivering Customer Focused Services (185,000.00) 185,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

Corporate and Commercial Services Total (1,131,330.99) 1,131,330.99    

          

Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods       

  Devolved Capital General Provision (151,813.42) 151,813.42  Rephase to 2018/19 

  School Funded Capital Schemes - Primary 362,190.00    Schools contribution to 
Capital Scheme 

  Metrolink Highway and Footway works in Town Centre (45,000.00) 45,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Suitability in Schools (46,777.62) 46,777.62  Rephase to 2018/19 

  School Funded Capital Schemes - Secondary (62,238.00) 75,878.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  School Funded Capital Schemes - Special (20,038.37) 20,038.37  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Fleet Replacement Vehicles 7 years (270,870.00) 270,870.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Equity Homes Loans (378,209.26) 378,209.26  Rephase to 2018/19 

  2YO-Greenhill Primary- extension (4,557.07) 4,557.07  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Education Basic Need General Provision (1,150,000.00) 1,150,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Targeted Basic Need - Expansion of 4 Schools (96,092.33) 96,092.33  Rephase to 2018/19 

  2YO- General provision (79,382.50) 79,382.50  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Leisure Review - Boroughwide Sports Provision (81,692.86) 81,692.86  Rephase to 2018/19 

  SCHOOL PLACES- Greenfield Primary- temporary classroom & playing fields block (136,053.62) 136,053.62  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Clarksfield School  - complete rewire - Essential Condition (140,000.00) 140,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Shaw Market- improvements (7,000.00) 7,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Refuge Street Shaw (17,149.12) 17,149.12  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Essential Condition- funds yet to be allocated (31,022.01) 31,022.01  Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Oldham Road Corridor- Manchester Boundary to M60 Motorway- District Centres Business 
Support (Neighbourhood Developments) 

(18,000.00) 18,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

 

P
age 70



  

  5 

  Challenge Fund- A62 Oldham Way- A669 Middleton Road Bridge Strengthening  (40,000.00) 40,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance- Phase 2- Civic Centre lift (84,500.00) 84,500.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance- Phase 2- Alex Park- conservatory/greenhouse (10,000.80) 10,000.80  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Strategic Acquisitions- Metropolitan House (11,358.34) 11,358.34  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Yorkshire Street Connectivity (LGR2) (70,000.00) 70,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  LSTF Sustainable Access Enhancements (LGR2) (25,000.00) 25,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Kingfisher School Expansion of PAN and Hydro Pool Replacement (729,530.66) 729,530.66  Rephase to 2018/19 

  BR 224 Rhodes Hill Culvert, Rhodes Hill Lees  (7,000.00) 7,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Huddersfield Road, Scouthead (Near Doctor Lane) (9,000.00) 9,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  A670 Standedge Road, Diggle (Ackers Farm) (15,000.00) 15,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Oldham Road, Failsworth - Toucan Crossing, near Grafton Street/Evening Street (6,600.00) 6,600.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Manchester Road Byron Street to M60 Junction Southbound Tetlow Street to Frederick Street 
Southbound 

(28,106.34) 28,106.34  Rephase to 2018/19 

  A640 Huddersfield Road (Phase 1) (39,625.43) 39,625.43  Rephase to 2018/19 

  BR 460 Tame Water Culvert, A6052 Delph New Road, Delph (11,000.00) 11,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  BR 144 Ash Footbridge (11,000.00) 11,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Purchase of machinery (environmental services) (202,631.32) 202,631.32  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Creation of Digital Enterprise Hub in Oldham Town Centre (183,482.89) 183,482.89  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Emergency Planning  - essential works - Civic Centre security (50,000.00) 50,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Civic Centre – Phase 3 Heating Rochdale Road - Versatemp replacements to level 3 and 4.  (35,000.00) 35,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Mills Hill Infant School  - Kitchen Extension works (10,000.00) 10,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  South Failsworth Primary School - Phase 1 heating upgrade (10,000.00) 10,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Primary School Kitchens  - Essential upgrades to Council controlled kitchen facilities and catering 
equipment 

(13,810.65) 13,810.65  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Knowsley Primary School - Essential DDA works (67,778.32) 67,778.32  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Growth Deal 3 Match Funding (108,185.86) 108,185.86  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Torwood, Chadderton - Retaining Wall (40,000.00) 40,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maint. - Yew Tree School – Phase 2 heating works (to Infant and Junior Schools.  (103,262.86) 103,262.86  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Civic Centre Security Phase 2 (151,035.00) 151,035.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Moorhey Street Depot Roof (36,996.00) 36,996.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Gallery Oldham Roof (10,000.00) 10,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Stanley Road School Electrical/Lighting/Alarm (20,000.00) 20,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Flood Defence: Stoneswood Retaining Wall Reconstruction (39,000.00) 39,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

P
age 71



  

  6 

  Flood Defence: Minor Flood Damage Works (15,000.00) 15,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Early Years Estate Rationalisation  (199,000.00) 199,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  REP - Accident Reduction Schemes (750,000.00) 750,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Westwood Park MUGA (72,103.24) 72,103.24  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Diggle Railway Bridges - Weight Restriction Amendments (15,000.00) 15,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Moorhey Street Depot - Re-wire (50,000.00) 50,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Cemetery Pathways (175,000.00) 175,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Fieldsway at Medlock Vale and Edward Road, Shaw Flooding Alleviation (130,000.00) 130,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Huddersfield Road, Diggle - Retaining Wall (90,000.00) 90,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - The Lyceum Centre - Boiler (125,000.00) 125,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - South Failsworth Primary - External Cladding & Playground (150,000.00) 150,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Earl Mill (Dilapidations) 518,000.00    Acceleration from 
Funds yet to be 
Allocated 

Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods Total (5,805,713.89) 6,699,543.89    

          

Health and Wellbeing       

  District Investment Fund (DIF) (4,898.82) 4,898.82  Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Chadderton District Partnership (3 wards) (10,652.64) 10,652.64  Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Failsworth District Partnership (3 wards) (40,768.00) 40,768.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Oldham District Partnership (7 wards) (51,115.84) 51,115.84  Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Royton District Partnership (2 wards) (20,926.29) 20,926.29  Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Shaw & Crompton District Partnership (2 wards) (121.56) 121.56  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Coalshaw Green MUGA (5,000.00) 5,000.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Pocket Park, Victoria Street Chadderton (1,180.00) 1,180.00  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Adult Social Care Digital Enablement (36,448.36) 36,448.36  Rephase to 2018/19 

Health and Wellbeing Total (171,111.51) 171,111.51    

          

Housing Revenue Account       

  PFI2 Extra Care Housing Scheme (88,403.34) 88,403.34  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Sheltered Housing - Installation of Solar PV Panels (250,196.90) 250,196.90  Rephase to 2018/19 

  Supported Housing for adults with a Learning Disability and/or complex behaviour (SHALD) (205,000.53) 205,000.53  Rephase to 2018/19 

Housing Revenue Account Total (543,600.77) 543,600.77    

P
age 72



  

  7 

          

Funds Yet to be Allocated       

  Funds yet to be allocated -  (518,000.00) Acceleration for Earl 
Mill Scheme 

Funds Yet to be Allocated Total -  (518,000.00)   

          

TOTAL (7,651,757.16) 8,027,587.16    

 
(subject to rounding – tolerance +/- £1) 
 

  

P
age 73



  

  8 

 
FUNDING BUDGETS TO BE REPROFILED AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 

Funding / Scheme 2017/18 2018/19 Reason 

Grant & Other Contributions       

  Devolved Capital General Provision 151,813.42  (151,813.42) Rephase to 2018/19 

  School Funded Capital Schemes - Primary (375,830.00)   Schools contribution 
to Capital Scheme 

  Suitability in Schools 5,720.95  (5,720.95) Rephase to 2018/19 

  School Funded Capital Schemes - Secondary 75,878.00  (75,878.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  School Funded Capital Schemes - Special 20,038.37  (20,038.37) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Equity Homes Loans 113,162.92  (113,162.92) Rephase to 2018/19 

  2YO-Greenhill Primary- extension 4,557.07  (4,557.07) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Education Basic Need General Provision 1,150,000.00  (1,150,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  2YO- General provision 79,382.50  (79,382.50) Rephase to 2018/19 

  SCHOOL PLACES- Greenfield Primary- temporary classroom & playing fields block 136,053.62  (136,053.62) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Clarksfield School  - complete rewire - Essential Condition 33,607.22  (33,607.22) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Shaw Market- improvements 7,000.00  (7,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Refuge Street Shaw 17,149.12  (17,149.12) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Essential Condition- funds yet to be allocated 28,215.09  (28,215.09) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Challenge Fund- A62 Oldham Way- A669 Middleton Road Bridge Strengthening  40,000.00  (40,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance- Phase 2- Alex Park- conservatory/greenhouse 10,000.80  (10,000.80) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Yorkshire Street Connectivity (LGR2) 70,000.00  (70,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  LSTF Sustainable Access Enhancements (LGR2) 25,000.00  (25,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Kingfisher School Expansion of PAN and Hydro Pool Replacement 246,819.66  (246,819.66) Rephase to 2018/19 

  BR 224 Rhodes Hill Culvert, Rhodes Hill Lees  7,000.00  (7,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Huddersfield Road, Scouthead (Near Doctor Lane) 9,000.00  (9,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  A670 Standedge Road, Diggle (Ackers Farm) 15,000.00  (15,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Oldham Road, Failsworth - Toucan Crossing, near Grafton Street/Evening Street 6,600.00  (6,600.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Manchester Road Byron Street to M60 Junction Southbound Tetlow Street to Frederick Street 
Southbound 

28,106.34  (28,106.34) Rephase to 2018/19 

  A640 Huddersfield Road (Phase 1) 39,625.43  (39,625.43) Rephase to 2018/19 

  BR 460 Tame Water Culvert, A6052 Delph New Road, Delph 11,000.00  (11,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  BR 144 Ash Footbridge 11,000.00  (11,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

P
age 74



  

  9 

  Pocket Park, Victoria Street Chadderton 1,180.00  (1,180.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Mills Hill Infant School  - Kitchen Extension works 10,000.00  (10,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  South Failsworth Primary School - Phase 1 heating upgrade 10,000.00  (10,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Primary School Kitchens  - Essential upgrades to Council controlled kitchen facilities and catering 
equipment 

13,810.65  (13,810.65) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Knowsley Primary School - Essential DDA works 67,778.32  (67,778.32) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Supported Housing for adults with a Learning Disability and/or complex behaviour (SHALD) 205,000.53  (205,000.53) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Growth Deal 3 Match Funding 108,185.86  (108,185.86) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Torwood, Chadderton - Retaining Wall 37,000.00  (37,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maint. - Yew Tree School – Phase 2 heating works (to Infant and Junior Schools.  103,262.86  (103,262.86) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Stanley Road School Electrical/Lighting/Alarm 20,000.00  (20,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Flood Defence: Stoneswood Retaining Wall Reconstruction 39,000.00  (39,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Flood Defence: Minor Flood Damage Works 15,000.00  (15,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Early Years Estate Rationalisation  21,776.97  (21,776.97) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Westwood Park MUGA 72,103.24  (72,103.24) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Diggle Railway Bridges - Weight Restriction Amendments 15,000.00  (15,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

Grant & Other Contributions Total 2,704,998.94  (3,080,828.94)   

          

Prudential Borrowing       

  Fleet Replacement Vehicles 7 years 270,870.00  (270,870.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Equity Homes Loans 104,308.49  (104,308.49) Rephase to 2018/19 

  IT/Business Systems 830,388.05  (830,388.05) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Funds yet to be allocated   518,000.00  Acceleration for Earl 
Mill Scheme 

  Leisure Review - Boroughwide Sports Provision 81,692.86  (81,692.86) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Essential Condition- funds yet to be allocated 2,806.92  (2,806.92) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance- Phase 2- Civic Centre lift 0.42  (0.42) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Kingfisher School Expansion of PAN and Hydro Pool Replacement 482,711.00  (482,711.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Creation of Digital Enterprise Hub in Oldham Town Centre 183,482.89  (183,482.89) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Civic Centre Security Phase 2 151,035.00  (151,035.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  IT - Delivering Customer Focused Services 185,000.00  (185,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Early Years Estate Rationalisation  114,351.54  (114,351.54) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Moorhey Street Depot - Re-wire 30,000.00  (30,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

P
age 75



  

  10 

  Backlog Maintenance - Cemetery Pathways 49,977.45  (49,977.45) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Earl Mill (Dilapidations) (518,000.00)   Acceleration from 
Funds yet to be 
Allocated 

  Metrolink Highway and Footway works in Town Centre 45,000.00  (45,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Equity Homes Loans 72,737.85  (72,737.85) Rephase to 2018/19 

  IT/Business Systems 10,559.60  (10,559.60) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Targeted Basic Need - Expansion of 4 Schools 96,092.33  (96,092.33) Rephase to 2018/19 

  A62 Oldham Road Corridor- Manchester Boundary to M60 Motorway- District Centres Business 
Support (Neighbourhood Developments) 

18,000.00  (18,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Strategic Acquisitions- Metropolitan House 11,358.34  (11,358.34) Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Failsworth District Partnership (3 wards) 7,821.18  (7,821.18) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Purchase of machinery (environmental services) 202,631.32  (202,631.32) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Emergency Planning  - essential works - Civic Centre security 50,000.00  (50,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Civic Centre – Phase 3 Heating Rochdale Road - Versatemp replacements to level 3 and 4.  35,000.00  (35,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Adult Social Care Digital Enablement 36,448.36  (36,448.36) Rephase to 2018/19 

  IT - Resident First - Phase 1 105,383.34  (105,383.34) Rephase to 2018/19 

  REP - Accident Reduction Schemes 750,000.00  (750,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Cemetery Pathways 32,930.95  (32,930.95) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Fieldsway at Medlock Vale and Edward Road, Shaw Flooding Alleviation 130,000.00  (130,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

Prudential Borrowing Total 3,572,587.89  (3,572,587.89)   

          

Revenue       

  PFI2 Extra Care Housing Scheme 88,403.34  (88,403.34) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Sheltered Housing - Installation of Solar PV Panels 250,196.90  (250,196.90) Rephase to 2018/19 

Revenue Total 338,600.24  (338,600.24)   

          

Capital Receipts       

  Suitability in Schools 41,056.67  (41,056.67) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Equity Homes Loans 88,000.00  (88,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  District Investment Fund (DIF) 4,898.82  (4,898.82) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Clarksfield School  - complete rewire - Essential Condition 106,392.78  (106,392.78) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance- Phase 2- Civic Centre lift 84,499.58  (84,499.58) Rephase to 2018/19 

P
age 76



  

  11 

  DIF - Chadderton District Partnership (3 wards) 10,652.64  (10,652.64) Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Failsworth District Partnership (3 wards) 32,946.82  (32,946.82) Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Oldham District Partnership (7 wards) 51,115.84  (51,115.84) Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Royton District Partnership (2 wards) 20,926.29  (20,926.29) Rephase to 2018/19 

  DIF - Shaw & Crompton District Partnership (2 wards) 121.56  (121.56) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Coalshaw Green MUGA 5,000.00  (5,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Torwood, Chadderton - Retaining Wall 3,000.00  (3,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Moorhey Street Depot Roof 36,996.00  (36,996.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Gallery Oldham Roof 10,000.00  (10,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Early Years Estate Rationalisation  62,871.49  (62,871.49) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Moorhey Street Depot - Re-wire 20,000.00  (20,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Cemetery Pathways 92,091.60  (92,091.60) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - Huddersfield Road, Diggle - Retaining Wall 90,000.00  (90,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - The Lyceum Centre - Boiler 125,000.00  (125,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

  Backlog Maintenance - South Failsworth Primary - External Cladding & Playground 150,000.00  (150,000.00) Rephase to 2018/19 

Capital Receipts Total 1,035,570.09  (1,035,570.09)   

          

TOTAL 7,651,757.16  (8,027,587.16)   

 
 (subject to rounding – tolerance +/- £1) 
 
 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason for Decision 
 
This report presents an update of the Council’s Discretionary Rate Relief (DRR) policy to 
take into account Central Government funded Non-Domestic Rate Reliefs and reliefs 
provided by local discretion. 
 

Executive Summary 
 
The Council reviews and updates its Discretionary Rate Relief (DRR) policy on an annual 
basis and consideration is given to local priorities and national developments.  
 
In the 2017 Autumn Budget, the Government announced an extension to the Pub Relief 
discount of 1 year. This means the relief will be available from 1 April 2017 for 2 years. 
 
The policy has been amended to provide updated guidance in relation to Revaluation 
Relief for the 2018/19 financial year. Revaluation Relief is a discretionary scheme to 
support businesses that experienced a large increase in rateable value following the 2017 
revaluation.  
 
The DRR Policy has been revised to include additional guidance in respect of claims for 
DRR arising from an application for relief under the Localism Act 2011. The policy has also 
been updated to include a requirement for ratepayers requesting DRR to provide 
supporting evidence within 21 days of their initial application.  
 
Following feedback from ratepayers the opportunity has also been taken to reformat the 
policy into sections based on the type of reliefs available. It is believed this should help 
organisations to follow the guidelines more closely when preparing an application for relief. 
 
 

 
 
Report to Cabinet 

 
Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 
 

Portfolio Holder:  Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE , Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources 
 
Officer Contact:  Anne Ryans, Director of Finance 
 
Report Author: Adam Parsey, Exchequer Client Manager 
(Revenues) 
 
Ext. 1656 
 
26 March 2018 
 

Page 79

Agenda Item 11



Page 2 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

Other than in respect of the issues outlined above, the policy is unchanged from 2017/18. 
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
That the proposed Discretionary Rate Relief Policy for 2018/19 at Appendix 1 is approved.  

 
  

Page 80



Page 3 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

Cabinet                                                                                                                26 March 2018 

 
Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19          
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 Non-Domestic Rates or “business rates” are payable by owners of non-residential 

premises in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1988. Until April 
2013 Non-Domestic Rates income was collected by the Council and passed to 
Central Government, where it was redistributed on a national basis. However from 
April 2013, changes to the Local Government finance regime meant that income 
from Non-Domestic Rates more directly impacts upon the Council’s financial 
position. The Council retained 49% of Non-Domestic Rates collected from April 
2013 until March 2017, with 1% payable to the Greater Manchester Fire and 
Rescue Authority and 50% payable to Central Government. From April 2017, the 
Council has participated in the 100% rates retention Business Rates pilot scheme 
along with the other Greater Manchester Authorities. This means that the Council 
retains 99% of Non-Domestic Rates collected with 1% payable to the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority for Fire and Rescue Services. The Government 
has pledged that Greater Manchester authorities will suffer no financial detriment 
as a result of participating in the 100% pilot scheme.   

 
1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the Localism Act 2011 require the 

Council to maintain a Discretionary Rate Relief Scheme to award Non-Domestic 
Rates relief of up to 100% to certain organisations which operate within specified 
criteria. This criteria covers: 

 

 Charitable bodies already in receipt of Mandatory Relief at 80% – the Council 
has further discretion to ‘top up’ this relief to 100% of the rates due; 

 

 Registered community amateur sports clubs (CASCs) already in receipt of 
Mandatory Relief at 80% – again the Council has further discretion to ‘top up’ 
this relief to 100% of the rates due; 

 

 Non-profit making organisations – the Council has discretion to grant ‘standard’ 
Discretionary Rate Relief of between 0% -100% of the Non-Domestic Rates 
due; 

 
1.3 In addition to reliefs available under The Local Government Finance Act 1988 and 

the Localism Act 2011, the Government has introduced a number of temporary 
relief schemes. Any awards made under these schemes are fully reimbursed by 
Central Government. These include: 
 

 The permanent doubling of Small Business Rate Relief (SBRR) with a rise in 
the threshold to rateable values of up to £12,000, tapering to £15,000.  

 

 The introduction of a £1,500 business rates discount for office space occupied 
by local newspapers for two years from 1st April 2017. 

 
 

Page 81



Page 4 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 100% business rate relief for new full-fibre infrastructure for a 5 year period from 
1 April 2017; this is designed to support the roll out of new full fibre broadband 
infrastructure and future 5G communications to homes and businesses.  

 

 Full business rate relief for the following rural businesses serving populations of 
under 3,000: 
o The only village shop or post office with a rateable value of up to £8,500 
o The only public house or petrol station with a rateable value of up to £12,500 

 

 Supporting Small Business relief scheme for ratepayers who are losing some 
or all of their small business rate relief as a result of a large rateable value 
increase following the 2017 revaluation. The scheme is available for 5 years 
from 1 April 2017. 

 

 £1,000 discount for pubs that have a rateable value of below £100,000. In the 
2017 Autumn Budget the government announced an extension to the discount 
of 1 year. This means the relief will be available from 1 April 2017 for 2 years. 

 

 Revaluation Relief. This scheme is a discretionary rate relief scheme to support 
those businesses that have experienced a large increase in rateable value 
following the 2017 revaluation.  

 
1.4 The Council also has the power to reduce or remit the Non-Domestic Rates 

charged in certain circumstances where the applicant organisation is enduring 
temporary financial difficulties. This is known as Discretionary ‘Hardship’ Relief 
(DHR) and may be awarded where the Council is satisfied that: 
 

 The ratepayer would sustain financial hardship if the Council did not do so; 
      and, 

 It is reasonable for the Council to grant relief with regard to the interests of its 
Council Tax payers. 

 
1.5 The Council also receives requests from ratepayers asking that the rateable value 

of premises subject to Non-Domestic Rates is split between the occupied and 
unoccupied portions. This means that the Council would only apply and charge 
Non-Domestic Rates on the occupied portion of the property. The Council has 
discretion to accept or refuse a request that the rateable value is split between the 
occupied and unoccupied portions under Section 44a of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988. If the request is accepted, then the Valuation Office Agency is 
asked to supply a certificate indicating the relevant values for the occupied and 
unoccupied portions and this certificate is binding upon the Council. 
 

1.6 As per existing practice the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources 
in conjunction with the Director of Finance would be authorised to agree any 
revisions to the Discretionary Rate Relief policy. This will enable the Council to 
proactively introduce any additional Central Government initiatives funded by grant 
compensation that are announced within the financial year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



Page 5 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The proposed policy document (attached as Appendix 1) outlines the areas of local 

discretion and the Council’s approach to the various discretionary awards. This 
approach has been prepared having regard to the impact: 

 

 of granting Discretionary/Hardship Rate Relief on the Council’s wider financial 
position and Council Tax payers. 

 on the organisations and businesses that currently receive or may apply for 
relief in the future. 

 for Oldham residents if relief is awarded and also the regeneration benefits to 
the borough. 

 
2.2 When deciding whether to award any Discretionary Rate Relief, the principal 

consideration is that in making the award there should be a resultant positive 
impact for residents and Council Tax payers of Oldham. This consideration also 
includes long term benefits to both the community and the Council Tax payer, such 
as increasing employment or improving amenities available to the local 
community. 

 
3.  Amendments to the 2018/19 Policy 
 
3.1     The proposed amendments to the 2018/19 Discretionary Rate Relief policy are; 
 

 A revision to the policy to reflect the extension of the Central Government 
funded Pub Relief scheme for the 2018/19 financial year.  

 Additional guidance in respect of claims for Discretionary Rate Relief arising 
from applications for relief under the Localism Act 2011. This guidance has 
been included to formalise the process of the Revenues Team consulting with 
the Council’s Investment Team on receipt of a DRR application for new startup 
businesses. 

 A requirement for ratepayers requesting Discretionary Rate Relief to provide 
supporting evidence within 21 days of their initial application. This requirement 
has been included to provide transparency to ratepayers and officers involved 
within the decision making process of how applications should be processed 
if the applicant fails to provide the necessary supporting information.  

 An adjustment to the policy to reintroduce a requirement for potentially eligible 
ratepayers to apply for Discretionary Revaluation Relief. The revised policy 
also reflects the reduced Central Government grant funding for Discretionary 
Revaluation relief for 2018/19. 

 
3.2 Following feedback from ratepayers the opportunity has also been taken to 

reformat the policy into sections based on the type of reliefs available. It is believed 
this should help organisations to follow the guidelines more closely when preparing 
an application for relief. This is set out on a new contents page provided on page 
2 of the revised 2018/19 policy. 
 

3.3 Other than in respect of the issues outlined above, the policy is unchanged from 
2017/18. 

 
 
 

Page 83



Page 6 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

4.    Options/Alternatives 
 
4.1 The following options are available:  
 
4.2 Option 1 - do nothing 

 If the Council chose not to adopt the revised policy, the Council would continue 
using the current policy in place. This would mean the Council would not be able 
to award extensions of pub relief into the 2018/19 financial or introduce 
amendments to the Revaluation Relief scheme. 

 
4.3 Option 2 – Approve the amendments the Discretionary Rate Relief Policy   

This would ensure that the Council has a clearer, more transparent procedure in 
place to administer Non-Domestic Rate Reliefs and that it incorporates charges 
announced in the 2017 autumn budget. 
 

5.      Preferred Option 
 

5.1  Option 2 – Approval of the 2018/19 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy is the 
recommended option. This incorporates the 2018/19 extension of pub relief, the 
amended Revaluation relief guidelines and includes streamlined administrative 
procedures. 

 
6. Consultation 
 
6.1 The reformatting of the policy document has been informed by feedback from 

applicant ratepayers.   
  
7 Financial Implications 
 
7.1    The cost of financing existing categories of Discretionary Rate Relief has been 

factored into budget planning arrangements. 
 
7.2 When Discretionary Rate Relief cases are being considered, the financial impact 

upon the Collection Fund and ultimately the impact on the Council’s retained 
business rates income is one of the key determinants of the final decision. 

        (John Hoskins) 
 
8 Legal Services Comments 
 
8.1 The proposal is within the Council’s powers. The stage 1 Equality Impact 

Assessment at Appendix 2 is considered to be adequate for the options described 
in the report.                 (Colin Brittain) 

 
9  Co-operative Agenda 
 

9.1    The Discretionary Rate Relief Policy supports the Councils Co-operative approach 
in particular to support businesses and charities and by ensuring the Non-
Domestic Rate reliefs are administered correctly and that the use of Discretion to 
award Discretionary discounts is focused on maximising benefits to Oldham 
residents.  

 
 

Page 84



Page 7 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

10 Human Resources Comments 
 
10.1 Not applicable 
 
11 Risk Assessments 
 
11.1 To manage its risks, the Council needs to agree a Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 

before the start of the financial year.           (Mark Stenson) 
 
12 IT Implications 
 
12.1 Not applicable 
 
13 Property Implications 
 
13.1 Not applicable 
 
14 Procurement Implications 
 
14.1 Not applicable 
 
15 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
15.1 Not applicable 
 
16.  Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
16.1 Not applicable 

 
17 Equality Impact Assessment 
 
17.1  In taking financial decisions the Council must demonstrate that it has given “due 

regard” to the need to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of opportunity and 
promote good relations between different groups. 

 
17.2  Demonstrating that “due regard” has been given involves: 

 assessing the potential equality impacts of proposed decisions at an 
appropriate stage in the decision making process - so that it informs the 
development of policy and is considered before a decision is taken; 

 ensuring that decision makers are aware of the equality duties and any 
potential equality issues when making decisions.   

 
  NB – having due regard does not mean the Council cannot make decisions which 

have the potential to impact disproportionately, it means that we must be clear 
where this is the case, and must be able to demonstrate that we have consulted, 
understood and mitigated the impact. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



Page 8 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

17.3 To ensure that the process of impact assessment is robust, it needs to: 

 Be specific to each individual proposal; 

 Be clear about the purpose of the proposal; 

 Consider available evidence; 

 Include consultation and involvement with those affected by the decision, 
where appropriate; 

 Consider proposals for mitigating any negative impact on particular groups; 

 Set out arrangements for monitoring the actual impact of the proposal. 
 
17.4  The Equality Act 2010 extends the public sector equality duties to cover eight 

protected characteristics, namely: age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief and sexual orientation. 

 
17.5  There is no duty to undertake an equality impact assessment (EIA) but an EIA is 

recognised as a useful tool in performing and recording the duty to have due 
regard. Given the nature of the proposed change a stage one EIA review is 
considered adequate.  This is attached for reference as Appendix 2. 

 
18 Key Decision 
 
18.1 Yes. 
 
19 Key Decision Reference 
 
19.1 CFHR-01-18 
 
20 Background Papers 
 
20.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential 
information as defined by the Act: 
 

 File Ref:  Background papers are contained in Appendices 1 and 2 
 Officer Name:  Anne Ryans 
 Contact No:  0161 770 4902 

 
21 Appendices  
 
21.1    Appendix 1 - Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 
 
21.2 Appendix 2 – Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 
 

       APPENDIX 1 
 
 

  

 

 

Discretionary Rate 
Relief Policy 2018/19 

 
 
 
 
 

Guidelines for the Award of Discretionary Relief 
in relation to Non-Domestic Rates. 

 
 
March 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



Page 2 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

OLDHAM COUNCIL 
DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF POLICY 

2018/19 
 

Section Title Page 

1 
 

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE 3 

2 THE DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF SCHEME 5 

3 CHARITABLE BODIES (CHARITIES) 7 

4 REGISTERED COMMUNITY AMATEUR SPORTS CLUBS 
(CASC) 
 

10 

5 NON-PROFIT MAKING ORGANISATIONS INCLUDING 
COMMUNITY INTEREST COMPANIES (CIC) 
 

14 

6 LOCAL CHILD CARE PROVIDERS 
 

18 

7 RURAL RATE RELIEF 21 

8 DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF USING POWERS 
CONFERRED BY THE LOCALISM ACT 
 

22 

9 DISCRETIONARY HARDSHIP RELIEF 23 

10 SECTION 44A RELIEF (PARTLY OCCUPIED PROPERTIES) 
 

26 

11 SUPPORTING SMALL BUSINESSES 29 

12 APPEALS AGAINST DECISIONS 
 

30 

13 POLICY REVIEW 30 

 
Annex A – BUSINESS RATES RELIEF FOR LOCAL NEWSPAPERS 31 

Annex B – SUPPORT FOR PUBS 33 

Annex C – REVALUATION RELIEF SCHEME 2018/19 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



Page 3 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

1. INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE 
 
1.1 Oldham Council is committed to correctly administering the award of 

Discretionary Rate Relief on Non-Domestic Rates or “Business Rates” to 
qualifying organisations within the Borough of Oldham. 

 
1.2 With the introduction of the Non-Domestic Rates Retention regime from 1 April 

2013, Local Authorities share in the gains and losses associated with changes 
in Non-Domestic Rates income. 

 
1.3 Since April 2017, the Council has participated in the 100% Business Rates 

Retention pilot scheme. This means that: 
 

 Mandatory Relief is financed 99% by the Council and 1% by the Greater 
Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority 

 

 Discretionary Relief is financed 99% by the Council and 1% by the Greater 
Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority 

 
The Government has pledged that Greater Manchester authorities will suffer no 

financial detriment as a result of participating in the 100% pilot scheme. This 

extends to the awarding of mandatory and discretionary rate reliefs. 

1.4 In view of the additional cost of awarding Discretionary Rate Relief, the Council 
has determined that its Discretionary Rate Relief policy is reviewed annually to 
ensure that an award of Discretionary Relief is focused to maximise benefits to 
Oldham residents. 

 
1.5 This policy document outlines the areas of local discretion and the Council’s 

approach to the various awards. This approach has regard to the impact: 

 of granting Discretionary Rate Relief including Section 44a Relief and 
Hardship Rate Relief on the Council’s wider financial position and Council 
Tax payers; 

 

 on the organisations and businesses that currently receive or may apply for 
relief in the future; 

 

 for Oldham residents if relief is awarded and the regeneration benefits to the 
borough. 

 
1.6 The principal consideration when making an award is that any relief granted is 

in the best interests of the residents and taxpayers of Oldham and produces a 
local benefit. 

 
1.7 All Members and officers involved in the consideration and processing of 

Discretionary Rate Relief applications will adhere to this policy. 

Page 89



Page 4 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

1.8 This policy and the considerations made when making an award will be reflective 
and complementary to our commitment to be a Co-operative Council and in 
particular to work in line with our co-operative principles and values; actively 
engage residents in decision making; and encouraging delivery through co-
operatives, social enterprises and mutuals. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



Page 5 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

2 THE DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF SCHEME 
 
2.1 Discretionary Rate Relief (DRR) is granted in accordance with: 

 

 Section 43 and Section 44a of the Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 
1988; and 

 

 Section 47-49 of the Local Government Finance Act (LGFA) 1988 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011; 

 
Clause 69 of the Localism Act amended section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act (LGFA) 1988 to allow local billing authorities to fund their own local 
discounts. With effect from 1 April 2012, the Council has been able to grant Non-
Domestic Rates discounts entirely as it sees fit within the limits of the primary 
legislation and European rules on state aid. These powers can be used to 
encourage new business and investment, as well as to support local shops or 
community services. 

 
2.2 The legislation requires the Council to maintain a DRR Scheme to award Non- 

Domestic Rates relief of up to 100% to certain organisations which operate within 
specified criteria. This criteria covers: 

 

 Charitable bodies already in receipt of Mandatory Relief at 80% – the Council 
has further discretion to ‘top up’ this relief to 100% of the Non-Domestic Rates 
due; 

 

 Registered Community Amateur Sports Clubs (CASCs) already in receipt of 
Mandatory Relief at 80% – again the Council has further discretion to ‘top up’ 
this relief to 100% of the rates due; 

 

 Non-profit making organisations – the Council has discretion to grant 
‘standard’ Discretionary Rate Relief of between 0% -100% of the Non- 
Domestic Rates due; 

 

 Local child care providers – the Council has discretion to grant up to 100% 
DRR up to state aid limits. 

 

 For properties in a qualifying rural settlement and that are a qualifying village 
shop, Post Office, or sole petrol station already in receipt of Mandatory Relief 
of 50%,the Council has discretion to ‘top up’ this relief to 100% of the rates 
due.  

 

 Businesses the Council considers it wishes to grant relief to – the primary 
reasons will be to either encourage regeneration in the borough or promote 
co-operative values. 

 
2.3 Hardship Relief (Section 49 Relief) – The LGFA allows the Council to exercise 

its discretion to provide either partial or full relief from Non-Domestic Rates in 
cases of hardship where it would be reasonable to do so having due regard to 
the interests of council tax payers in general. 
 

Page 91



Page 6 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
2.4 Section 44a Relief allows the Council to consider requests from ratepayers for 

the rateable value of a property to be split between the occupied and unoccupied 
portions. If awarded the Council would then only charge Non-Domestic Rates for 
the occupied portion. This is permitted under Section 44a of the LGFA.  

 

2.5 There are five schemes administered by the Council, where any relief granted is 
wholly funded by central government subject to specific criteria. The Council will 
be using its discretionary powers under section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 as amended to grant relief. Central government will fully 
reimburse the Council using a grant under Section 31 of the Local Government 
Act 2003. 

 

These include: 

 

 Relief for Local Newspapers – the Council has discretion to award a discount 
of £1,500 office space occupied by local newspapers, up to a maximum of 
one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, and up to state 
aid limits, for two years from 1 April 2017. Annex A to this document gives 
further guidance on the criteria for determining this relief. 
 

 100% business rates relief for new full-fibre infrastructure for a 5 year period 
from 1 April 2017; this is designed to support roll out to more homes and 
businesses. 

 

 £1,000 discount for pubs that have a rateable value of below £100,000. To be 
eligible, the pub must be open to the general public. Further details and the 
full eligibility criteria are available in Annex B. In the 2017 Autumn Budget, the 
Government announced an extension to the discount of 1 year. This means 
the relief will be available from 1 April 2017 for 2 years. 

 The Supporting Small Business Relief scheme for ratepayers who are losing 
some or all of their small business rate relief as a result of a large rateable 
value increase following the 2017 revaluation. The scheme is available for 5 
years from 1 April 2017. 

 

 The Discretionary Revaluation Relief Scheme. The Government established 
a £300m discretionary fund over 4 years from 2017/18 to support businesses 
that have experienced a large increase in their rateable value following the 
2017 revaluation. Oldham’s remaining allocation of this funding is as follows. 

 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

£146k £60k £9k 

 
Further details and full eligibility criteria are available in Annex C. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



Page 7 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

3 CHARITABLE BODIES (CHARITIES) 
 
3.1 A Mandatory Rate Relief of 80% is granted to charities in the following 

circumstances. Where the: 
 

 ratepayer of a property is a charity or the trustees of a charity; and 

 

 property is wholly or mainly used for charitable purposes (including charity 
shops, where the goods sold are mainly donated and the proceeds are used 
for the purpose of the charity). 

 
3.2 The Council does not have discretion regarding awarding Mandatory Rate Relief, 

however the Council must be satisfied that the statutory criteria has been met. 
For this purpose the Council will use guidance provided in both the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988, and by reference to other enactments and case 
law. 

 
3.3 The Council will refer to the Charity Register for evidence of charitable status 

however absence from the register does not mean an organisation has not been 
established for charitable purposes as certain organisations are exempt from 
registration under the Charities Act 1993. 

 
3.4 In cases where a charity is in receipt of mandatory rate relief of 80%, the Council 

has discretion to grant up to 20% additional rate relief – Discretionary Rate Relief 
top up. 

 
3.5 The Council will consider applications for a Discretionary Rate Relief top up from 

charities based on their own merits, on a case by case basis. However the 
principal consideration is that the relief is in the best interests of the residents 
and taxpayers of Oldham and produces a local benefit as the Council must 
contribute to the cost of each award. As such, top up will be awarded to only the 
following type of registered charities: 

 

 Scouts, guides, cadets and other clubs/associations for young people; 

 

 Community schemes encompassing organisations providing support for 
those over the age of retirement, community transport, those based on 
volunteering and residents associations; 

 

 Organisations providing support in the form of advice, training for 
employment, counselling; 

 

 Organisations that provide services that address the consequences of ill 
health and disability; 

 

 Charitable sporting clubs (also see CASCs); 

 

 Locally based leisure and cultural organisations; 

 

 Armed forces veterans associations; 

 

Page 93



Page 8 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 Locally based charities; 
 

 Charity shops (operated by either locally based or national charities); 

 

 Local child care providers registered as charities. 
 
3.6 Applications for Discretionary Rate Relief top up must be supported by, and 

include: 
 

 The applicant organisation’s main purposes and objectives, as set out in, for 
example, a written constitution, a memorandum of association, or set of 
membership rules; 

 

 A full set of audited accounts relating to the two years preceding the date of 
application. Where audited accounts are not available, projected figures 
should be provided instead; 

 

 Details of how the organisation meets the criteria outlined in these guidelines. 
 
3.7 If an application is received without the necessary supporting information it will 

result in processing of the application to be delayed. 
 

3.8 In the event that supporting information isn’t provided within 21 working days of 
the initial application the application will be considered incomplete and closed. 

 
3.9 Applicants will be encouraged to submit their applications through the online 

Discretionary Rate Relief claim form. 
 
3.10 As a guide, for a charity to eligible for Discretionary Rate Relief top up, a charity 

must not have enough financial resources available in unrestricted funds to 
continue to operate for more than 12 months, nor should it have sufficient 
financial resources in unrestricted reserves to continue to operate for more than 
12 months, unless a business plan exists detailing how these additional reserves 
are to be used to benefit the local community. 

 
3.11 In exceptional cases, Discretionary Rate Relief top up will be granted to 

organisations which have enough financial resources in unrestricted funds to 
continue to operate for more than 12 months. This may include charities or 
community organisations which require large amounts of available resources to 
sustain the service they deliver to the community. In such cases, the applicant 
organisation must be able to prove that it offers a service which the Borough’s 
residents depend on, and which they would be unlikely to find elsewhere in the 
Borough. 

 
3.12 If an organisation in receipt of Discretionary Rate Relief top up ceases to meet 

the eligibility criteria outlined in this policy, it will cease to receive Discretionary 
Rate Relief. The Council will give such organisations twelve months written 
notice prior to the withdrawal of the Discretionary Rate Relief top up.  

 
 
 

Page 94



Page 9 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

3.13 The Council delegates the decision making power for Discretionary Rate Relief 
awards to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head 
of Revenues and Benefits (or equivalent post holders1). 

 
Each decision will adhere to the following process: 

 

 The initial recommendations to award or refuse a Discretionary Rate Relief 
top up will be made by the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues) (or 
equivalent post holder1). 
 

 Before making a recommendation the Exchequer Client Manager 
(Revenues) may consult with other Council departments as appropriate. 

 

 Final approval will be sought from the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and Benefits. All 
recommended action will be justified by an explanation supporting the 
proposed decision. 

 
3.14 Any officer or Member involved in the decision-making process for Discretionary 

rate relief must declare if they have an interest in or association with any 
organisation which is applying for the relief. 

 
3.15 The Non-Domestic Rates team will inform applicants in writing of any decision 

as soon as possible. This letter will also explain that relief has been granted for 
twelve months only. A revised Non-Domestic Rates bill will be sent where 
appropriate. 

 
3.16 Unsuccessful applicants will be notified by letter and provided instructions on 

how they can appeal the decision as set out in Section 12. 
 
3.17 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 

Discretionary Rate Relief will be asked to supply or confirm relevant information 
for the purpose of the review. 

 
3.18 The Council recognises that there will be occasions when the applicant body 

does not appear to satisfy the criteria generally applied but where the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits may choose to award relief. The Council has the ability to depart from 
its general policy as to granting relief if it sees fit to do so, taking into account 
the facts of each case and the interests of residents and Council Taxpayers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 These titles are correct at the time of approving this policy but may be subject to change during 2018/19. 

Page 95



Page 10 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

4 REGISTERED COMMUNITY AMATEUR SPORTS CLUBS (CASC) 
 
4.1 A mandatory rate relief of 80% is granted to registered community amateur 

sports Clubs (CASC). To qualify as a CASC, a sports club must fulfil all of the 
following criteria. It must be 

 

 Open to the whole community; 

 

 Run as an amateur club; 

 

 A non-profit making organisation; and 

 

 Aiming to provide facilities for, and encourage people to take part in, eligible 
sport. 

 
4.2 In cases where a CASC is in receipt of Mandatory Rate Relief of 80%, the 

Council has discretion to grant up to 20% additional rate relief as a Discretionary 
top up. 

 
4.3 The Council will consider applications for a Discretionary Rate Relief top up from 

CASCs based on their own merits on a case by case basis. The principal 
consideration is that any relief is in best interests of the residents and taxpayers 
of Oldham and produces a local benefit as the Council must bear a percentage 
of the cost of any relief granted. However in determining the application the 
following matters will be taken in to consideration: 

 

 How the CASC supports and links into the Council’s corporate vision and 
priorities; 

 

 A club should have an open access policy. If a club effectively discriminates 
by only accepting members who have reached a particular standard, rather 
than seeking to promote the attainment of excellence by enhancing access 
and the development of sporting aptitude, then it does not fulfil the 
requirements; 

 

 Although clubs should be open to all without discrimination, single sex clubs 
may be permitted where such restrictions are not discriminatory in intent but 
a genuine result of physical restraints (such as changing room facilities) or 
the requirements of the sport. In such cases, the organisation will be required 
to provide proof of such limiting factors; 

 
4.4 If the organisation applying for a Discretionary Rate Relief requires membership 

or an entry fee, the Council will consider whether: 
 

 membership must be open to everyone, regardless of race, ethnic origin, sex, 
marital or parental status, sexual orientation, creed, disability, age, religious 
affiliation or political belief, 

 

 The subscription or fee is set at a level which is not prohibitively high and 
considered to be affordable by most sections of the community; 

 

Page 96



Page 11 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 Fee reductions are offered for certain groups such as, for example, under 
18s or over 60s; 

 

 Membership is encouraged from groups who face social barriers, such as, 
for example, young people not in employment, education or training; people 
above working age; or people with disabilities; 

 

 Facilities are made available to people other than members. 

 
4.5 In making decisions about applications the Council may: 

 

 Grant relief up to a maximum of 100% of the rates due; 

 

 Grant relief for a sum less than 100% of the rates due; or 

 

 Refuse any application for additional relief. 

 

4.6 It should be noted that sports clubs which run a bar are unlikely to be awarded 
relief if their main purpose is the sale of food or drink. However, if the sale of food 
or drink by the organisation aids the overall operation and development of the 
organisation in achieving its objectives, this would be permissible as long as the 
principal objectives of the organisation meet the eligibility criteria detailed at 4.1.  
If the bar makes a profit, this profit must be reinvested to support the organisation 
in achieving its principal objectives. Financial information will be required to 
evidence any profit and its use. 
 

4.7 Applications for a Discretionary top up must be supported by, and include: 
 

 The applicant organisation’s main purposes and objectives, as set out in, for 
example, a written constitution, a memorandum of association, or set of 
membership rules; 

 

 A full set of audited accounts relating to the two years preceding the date of 
application. Where audited accounts are not available, projected figures 
should be provided instead; 

 

 Details of how the organisation meets the criteria outlined in these 
guidelines. 

 
4.8 If an application is received without the necessary supporting information it will 

result in processing of the application to be delayed. 
 

4.9 In the event that supporting information isn’t provided within 21 working days of 
the initial application the application will be considered incomplete and closed. 

 
4.10 Applicants will be encouraged to submit their applications through an online 

Discretionary Rate Relief claim form. 
 

4.11 As a guide, to be eligible for a Discretionary top up an organisation must not 
have enough financial resources available in unrestricted funds to continue to 
operate for more than 12 months, nor should it have sufficient financial resources 

Page 97



Page 12 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

in unrestricted reserves to continue to operate for more than 12 months, unless 
a business plan exists detailing how these additional reserves are to be used to 
benefit the local community. 

 
4.12 In exceptional cases, Discretionary top up will be granted to organisations which 

have enough financial resources in unrestricted funds to continue to operate 
for more than 12 months. This may include organisations which require large 
amounts of available resources to sustain the service they deliver to the 
community. In such cases, the applicant organisation must be able to prove that 
it offers a service which the Borough’s residents depend on, and which they 
would be unlikely to find elsewhere in the Borough. 

 
4.13 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 

Discretionary top up will be asked to supply or confirm relevant information for 
the purpose of the review. 

 
4.14 If an organisation in receipt of a Discretionary top up ceases to meet the eligibility 

criteria outlined in this policy, it will cease to receive Discretionary relief. The 
Council will give such organisations twelve months written notice prior to the 
withdrawal of a Discretionary top up award.  

 
4.15 The Council delegates the decision making power for Discretionary Rate Relief 

awards to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources and the 
Head of Revenues and Benefits. 

 
Each decision will adhere to the following process: 

 

 The initial recommendations to award or refuse a Discretionary Rate Relief 
top up will be made by the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues). 
 

 Before making a recommendation the Exchequer Client Manager 
(Revenues) may consult with other Council departments as appropriate. 

 

 Final approval will be sought from the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and Benefits. All 
recommended action will be justified by an explanation supporting the 
proposed decision. 

 
4.16 Any officer or Member involved in the decision-making process for Discretionary 

Rate Relief must declare if they have an interest in or association with any 
organisation which is applying for the relief. 

 
4.17 The Non-Domestic Rates team will inform applicants in writing of any decision 

as soon as possible. This letter will also explain that relief has been granted for 
twelve months only. A revised Non-Domestic Rates bill will be sent where 
appropriate. 

 
4.18 Unsuccessful applicants will be notified by letter and provided instructions on 

how they can appeal the decision as set out in Section 12. 
 
 
 

Page 98



Page 13 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

4.19 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 
Discretionary Rate Relief will be asked to supply or confirm relevant information 
for the purpose of the review. 

 
4.20 The Council recognises that there will be occasions when the applicant body does 

not appear to satisfy the criteria generally applied but where the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits may choose to award relief. The Council has the ability to depart from 
its general policy as to granting relief if it sees fit to do so, taking into account the 
facts of each case and the interests of residents and Council Taxpayers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 99



Page 14 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

5 NON-PROFIT MAKING ORGANISATIONS INCLUDING COMMUNITY 
INTEREST COMPANIES (CIC)  

 
5.1 The Council has the power to grant discretionary rate relief of up to 100% for the 

rates due to non-profit making organisations. The main objectives of the 
organisation must be related to: 

 

 Relief of poverty; 

 Advancement of religion; 

 Advancement of education; 

 Social Welfare; 

 Science; 

 Literature; 

 Fine arts; or 

 Recreation 

 

Or be otherwise beneficial to the community 

 
An organisation must be able to demonstrate how it: 

 

 meets local needs and benefit local people; and 

 provides a valuable service to the community; and 

 is open to all sections of the community; and operates in such a way that it 
does not discriminate against any section of the community; and 

 is not conducted or established for the primary purpose of accruing profit. 

 
5.2 The Council will consider applications for a DRR top up from non-profit making 

organisations based on their own merits, on a case by case basis. However the 
principal consideration is that the relief is in the best interests of the residents 
and Council taxpayers of Oldham and produces a local benefit as the Council 
must contribute to the cost of each award. As such, top up will only be awarded 
to the following type of non-profit making organisations: 

 

 Scouts, guides, cadets and other clubs/associations for young people; 
 

 Community schemes encompassing organisations providing support for 
those over the age of retirement, community transport, those based on 
volunteering and residents associations; 

 

 Organisations providing support in the form of advice, training for employment 
or counselling; 

 

 Organisations that provide services that address the consequences of ill 
health and disability; 

 

 Locally based leisure and cultural organisations; 

 

 Armed forces veterans associations. 
 
 

Page 100



Page 15 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

5.3 If the organisation applying for DRR requires membership or an entry fee, the 
Council will consider whether: 

 

 Membership must be open to everyone, regardless of race, ethnic origin, sex, 
marital or parental status, sexual orientation, creed, disability, age, religious 
affiliation or political belief, 

 

 The subscription or fee is set at a level which is not prohibitively high and 
considered to be affordable by most sections of the community; 

 

 Fee reductions are offered for certain groups such as, for example, under 18s 
or over 60s; 

 

 Membership is encouraged from groups who face social barriers, such as, for 
example, young people not in employment, education or training; people 
above working age; or people with disabilities; 

 

 Facilities are made available to people other than members. 

 
5.4 In making decisions about applications the Council may: 

 

 Grant relief up to a maximum of 100% of the rates due; 

 

 Grant relief for a sum less than 100% of the rates due; or 

 

 Refuse any application for additional relief. 

 
5.5 Applications for DRR must be supported by, and include: 

 

 The applicant organisation’s main purposes and objectives, as set out in, for 
example, a written constitution, a memorandum of association, or set of 
membership rules; 
 

 A full set of audited accounts relating to the two years preceding the date of 
application. Where audited accounts are not available, projected figures 
should be provided instead; 
 

 Details of how the organisation meets the criteria outlined in these guidelines. 
 

5.6 If an application is received without the necessary supporting information it will 
result in processing of the application to be delayed. 

 
5.7 In the event that supporting information isn’t provided within 21 working days of 

the initial application the application will be considered incomplete and closed. 

 
5.8 Applicants will be encouraged to submit their applications through an online 

Discretionary Rate Relief claim form. 
 
 
 

 

Page 101



Page 16 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

5.9 As a guide, to be eligible for DRR, a charity/organisation must not have enough 
financial resources available in unrestricted funds to continue to operate for more 
than 12 months, nor should it have sufficient financial resources in unrestricted 
reserves to continue to operate for more than 12 months, unless a business plan 
exists detailing how these additional reserves are to be used to benefit the local 
community. 

 
5.10 Where the applicant organisation requires membership, at least 50% of the 

members should reside within the boundaries of the Borough of Oldham (proof 
of this will be required). 

 
5.11 In exceptional cases, DRR will be granted to organisations which have enough 

financial resources in unrestricted funds to continue to operate for more than 
12 months. This may include charities or community organisations which require 
large amounts of available resources to sustain the service they deliver to the 
community. In such cases, the applicant organisation must be able to prove that 
it offers a service which the Borough’s residents depend on, and which they 
would be unlikely to find elsewhere in the Borough. 

 
5.12 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of DRR will 

be asked to supply or confirm relevant information for the purpose of the review. 
 

5.13 If an organisation in receipt of DRR ceases to meet the eligibility criteria outlined 
in this policy, it will cease to receive DRR. The Council will give such 
organisations twelve months written notice prior to the withdrawal of DRR.  

 
5.14 The Council delegates the decision making power for Discretionary Rate Relief 

awards to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources and the 
Head of Revenues and Benefits. 

 
Each decision will adhere to the following process: 

 

 The initial recommendations to award or refuse a Discretionary Rate Relief 
top up will be made by the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues). 
 

 Before making a recommendation the Exchequer Client Manager 
(Revenues) may consult with other Council departments as appropriate. 

 

 Final approval will be sought from the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and Benefits. All 
recommended action will be justified by an explanation supporting the 
proposed decision. 

 
5.15 Any officer or Member involved in the decision-making process for Discretionary 

rate relief must declare if they have an interest in or association with any 
organisation which is applying for the relief. 

 
5.16 The Non-Domestic Rates team will inform applicants in writing of any decision 

as soon as possible. This letter will also explain that relief has been granted for 
twelve months only. A revised Non-Domestic Rates bill will be sent where 
appropriate 

Page 102



Page 17 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
5.17 Unsuccessful applicants will be notified by letter and provided instructions on 

how they can appeal the decision as set out in section 12. 
 
5.18 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 

Discretionary Rate Relief will be asked to supply or confirm relevant information 
for the purpose of the review. 

 
5.19 The Council recognises that there will be occasions when the applicant body does 

not appear to satisfy the criteria generally applied but where the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits may choose to award relief. The Council has the ability to depart from 
its general policy as to granting relief if it sees fit to do so, taking into account the 
facts of each case and the interests of residents and Council Taxpayers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 103



Page 18 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

6 LOCAL CHILD CARE PROVIDERS 
 

6.1 The Council will consider applications for Discretionary Rate Relief (DRR) from local 
child care providers based on their own merits on a case by case basis. The principal 
consideration is that any relief is in best interests of the residents and taxpayers of 
Oldham and produces a local benefit as the Council must bear a percentage of the 
cost of any relief granted. 
 

 A local child care provider can be in receipt of Mandatory Rate Relief of 
80% if it is registered as a charity, in these cases the Council has the 
discretion to grant up to 20% additional rate relief. 
 

 In cases where a local child care provider is not in receipt of Mandatory 
Rate Relief the council has the discretion to consider granting an award 
up to 100% of rate relief. 

 

 If a local childcare provider applies for relief they must not charge fees 
that would be considered unaffordable by most Oldham residents. The 
provider must also not restrict attenders with admittance policies that are 
deemed unfair. 

 

 If a nursery charges unreasonable fees or if they make significant profits 
that are not reinvested into the business that they are unlikely to be 
awarded DRR. 

 

 In reviewing an application from a child care provider, there will be 
consultation with the Early Intervention and Families team to determine if 
providing relief would meet the aim of supporting local child care 
provision. 

 
6.2 Applications for Discretionary Rate Relief must be supported by, and include: 

 

 The applicant organisation’s main purposes and objectives, as set out in, 
for example, a written constitution, a memorandum of association, or set 
of membership rules; 

 

 A full set of audited accounts relating to the two years preceding the date 
of application. Where audited accounts are not available, projected 
figures should be provided instead; 

 

 Details of how the organisation meets the criteria outlined in these 
guidelines. 

 
6.3 If an application is received without the necessary supporting information it will 

result in processing of the application to be delayed. 
 

6.4 In the event that supporting information isn’t provided within 21 working days of 
the initial application the application will be considered incomplete and closed. 

 
6.5 Applicants will be encouraged to submit their applications through an online 

Discretionary Rate Relief claim form. 

Page 104



Page 19 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
6.6 As a guide, to be eligible for DRR, a child care provider must not have enough 

financial resources available in unrestricted funds to continue to operate for more 
than 12 months, nor should it have sufficient financial resources in unrestricted 
reserves to continue to operate for more than 12 months, unless a business plan 
exists detailing how these additional reserves are to be used to benefit the local 
community. 

 
6.7 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of DRR will 

be asked to supply or confirm relevant information for the purpose of the review. 
 

6.8 If an organisation in receipt of DRR ceases to meet the eligibility criteria outlined 
in this policy, it will cease to receive DRR. The Council will give such 
organisations twelve months written notice prior to the withdrawal of DRR. Such 
organisations may appeal against this decision, as outlined in Section 14 of this 
policy. 

 
6.9 The Council delegates the decision making power for Discretionary Rate Relief 

awards to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head 
of Revenues, and Benefits. 

 
Each decision will adhere to the following process: 

 

 The initial recommendations to award or refuse a Discretionary Rate Relief 
top up will be made by the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues). 
 

 Before making a recommendation the Exchequer Client Manager 
(Revenues) may consult with other Council departments as appropriate. 

 

 Final approval will be sought from the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and Benefits. All 
recommended action will be justified by an explanation supporting the 
proposed decision. 

 
6.10 Any officer or Member involved in the decision-making process for Discretionary 

rate relief must declare if they have an interest in or association with any 
organisation which is applying for the relief. 

 
6.11 The Non-Domestic Rates team will inform applicants in writing of any decision 

as soon as possible. This letter will also explain that relief has been granted for 
twelve months only. A revised Non-Domestic Rates bill will be sent where 
appropriate. 

 
6.12 Unsuccessful applicants will be notified by letter and provided instructions on 

how they can appeal the decision as set out in Section 12. 
 
6.13 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 

Discretionary Rate Relief will be asked to supply or confirm relevant information 
for the purpose of the review. 

 
 
 

Page 105



Page 20 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

6.14 The Council recognises that there will be occasions when the applicant body does 
not appear to satisfy the criteria generally applied but where the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits may choose to award relief. The Council has the ability to depart from 
its general policy as to granting relief if it sees fit to do so, taking into account the 
facts of each case and the interests of residents and Council Taxpayers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



Page 21 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

7 RURAL RATE RELIEF 
 
7.1 Organisations or businesses which reside within a designated rural settlement 

(with a population of 3,000 or less) may be eligible for Discretionary Rural Rate 
Relief. Eligible organisations/businesses must be located in one of the 
settlements identified in the Council’s rural settlement list, which is reviewed 
periodically. 

 

 Current areas designated as rural settlements are: 

 
Delph Denshaw Diggle Dobcross 

Grasscroft Grotton Scouthead Woodhouses 

 
7.2 Discretionary Rural Rate Relief is open to any type of business within a classified 

rural settlement that satisfies the following criteria: 
 

 It is the only qualifying village shop or post office with a rateable value of up 
to £8,500 and already in receipt of mandatory relief of 50%. 

 

 The only qualifying public house or petrol station with a rateable value of up 
to £12,500 and already in receipt of mandatory relief of 50% 

 

 It is within the boundaries of a qualifying rural settlement; 
 

7.3 The Council also has the discretion to remit all or part of rate bills on other 
property in a settlement on the rural settlement list if the rateable value is 
£16,500 or less and is used for a purpose that benefits the local community. 

 
7.4 In the 2016 Autumn Budget the Government confirmed that Rural Rate Relief will 

be doubled to 100% from 1 April 2017 with the intention to introduce legislation to 
make the award of the relief mandatory.  

 
7.5 Until the necessary legislation is in place to award 100% Mandatory Rural Rate 

Relief the Council will use its discretionary powers to award 50% 
Discretionary Relief to ensure 100% relief is awarded to eligible businesses. 
Central Government will fully reimburse the Council using a grant under Section 
31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
7.6 Whilst the Council is required to use its discretion to top up Rural Rate Relief 

awards by 50% the Council will continue to grant awards for the period of one 
financial year at a time. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



Page 22 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
8 DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF USING POWERS CONFERRED BY THE 

LOCALISM ACT 
 

8.1 The Council is now able to grant Non-Domestic Rates discounts entirely as it 
sees fit within the limits of the primary legislation and European rules on state aid. 
These powers will generally be used as appropriate to support local shops or 
community services, but, to align with the regeneration objectives of the Council, 
any use of such powers will be focused on encouraging new business and 
investment and the regeneration of the Borough. 

 
8.2 Using the general exception from the state aid rule where the aid is below the “de 

minimis” level, the Council will limit awards to a maximum of €200,000 to any one 
business over any three year period. 

 
8.3 Applications should be supported by, and include:  

 

 A full set of audited accounts relating to the two years preceding the date of 
application. Where audited accounts are not available, projected figures 
should be provided instead. 

 

 Where applications seek rate relief in respect of new business set up etc., 
information provided should include business plans and other information that 
demonstrate the regeneration or economic benefit to Oldham. 

 
8.4 In reviewing an application from a business requesting Discretionary Rate relief 

under these powers, there will be consultation with the Council’s Investment 
Team to determine if providing relief would support the economic objectives of 
the borough. 

 
8.5 Applicants will be signposted to the Council’s Investment team for support prior 

to an award being considered. 
 
8.6 Applicants will be encouraged to submit their applications through the online 

Discretionary Rate Relief claim form. 
 
8.7 If an application is received without the necessary supporting information it will 

result in processing of the application to be delayed. 
 
8.8 In the event that supporting information isn’t provided within 21 working days of 

the initial application the application will be considered incomplete and closed. 
 
8.9 The primary consideration for an award is whether it could be considered 

reasonable for the Council to fund the granting of relief, with regard to the 
interests of its residents and Council Tax payers. 

 
8.10 An award of Discretionary Rate Relief under powers conferred by the Localism 

Act will typically be awarded as a temporary measure for one financial year.  
 
8.11 The Council delegates the decision making power for Discretionary Rate Relief 

awards to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head 
of Revenues and Benefits. 

Page 108



Page 23 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
 

Each decision will adhere to the following process: 
 

 The initial recommendations to award or refuse Discretionary Rate Relief will 
be made by the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues). 
 

 Before making a recommendation the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues) 
may consult with other Council departments as appropriate. 

 

 Final approval will be sought from the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and Benefits. All 
recommended action will be justified by an explanation supporting the 
proposed decision. 

 
8.12 Any officer or Member involved in the decision-making process for Discretionary 

rate relief must declare if they have an interest in or association with any 
organisation which is applying for the relief. 

 
8.13   The Non-Domestic Rates team will inform applicants in writing of any decision as 

soon as possible. This letter will also explain that relief has been granted for 
twelve months only. A revised Non-Domestic Rates bill will be sent where 
appropriate. 

 
8.14   Unsuccessful applicants will be notified by letter and provided instructions on how 

they can appeal the decision as set out in Section 12. 
 
8.15   The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 

Discretionary Rate Relief will be asked to supply or confirm relevant information 
for the purpose of the review. 

 
8.16   The Council recognises that there will be occasions when the applicant body does 

not appear to satisfy the criteria generally applied but where the Cabinet            
Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits may choose to award relief. The Council has the ability to depart from 
its general policy as to granting relief if it sees fit to do so, taking into account the 
facts of each case and the interests of residents and Council Taxpayers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



Page 24 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
 

9 DISCRETIONARY HARDSHIP RELIEF 
 

9.1 The Council has the power to reduce or remit the Non-Domestic Rates charged 
in certain circumstances where the applicant organisation is enduring temporary 
financial difficulties. This is known as Discretionary ‘Hardship’ Relief. 

 
9.2 The Council may grant Discretionary ‘Hardship’ Relief (DHR) if it is satisfied that: 

 

 The ratepayer would sustain financial hardship if the Council did not do so;  
And, 

 It is reasonable for the Council to grant relief, with regard to the interests of its 
residents and Council Tax payers. 

 
9.3 DHR is a temporary measure which should not be used to artificially sustain a 

failing business. DHR will be awarded where the applicant organisation is facing 
temporary financial difficulties and where the community would be significantly 
disadvantaged if the business were to close due to these temporary financial 
constraints. 

 
9.4 Applications for DHR must be accompanied by full set of audited accounts 

relating to the two years preceding the date of application. Where audited 
accounts are not available for the current financial year, projected figures should 
be provided instead. It is recommended that applicant organisations submit 
audited accounts dating back further than two years, if such information is 
available. 

 
9.5 If an application is received without the necessary financial information it will 

result in processing of the application to be delayed. 
 
9.6 In the event that supporting information isn’t provided within 21 working days of 

the initial application the application will be considered incomplete and closed. 
 

9.7 Applicants will be encouraged to submit requests for DHR through the use of an 
online Discretionary Rate Relief claim form. 
 

9.8 DHR is awarded as a temporary measure in accordance with the applicant 
organisations circumstances and the anticipated length of the financial difficulties. 
Successful applicants will be sent a letter confirming that their application for DHR 
has been granted and including the appropriate timeframe for relief. 
 

9.9 The Council delegates the decision making power for Discretionary Hardship 
Relief awards to the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources and the 
Head of Revenues, and Benefits. 

 
Each decision will adhere to the following process: 

 

 The initial recommendations to award or refuse Discretionary Hardship Relief 
will be made by the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues). 
 
 

Page 110



Page 25 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 

 Before making a recommendation the Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues) 
may consult with other Council departments as appropriate. 

 

 Final approval will be sought from the Cabinet Member for Finance and Human 
Resources and the Head of Revenues and Benefits. All recommended action 
will be justified by an explanation supporting the proposed decision. 

 
9.10 Any officer or Member involved in the decision-making process for Discretionary 

Hardship relief must declare if they have an interest in or association with any 
organisation which is applying for the relief. 

 
9.11 The Non-Domestic Rates team will inform applicants in writing of any decision as 

soon as possible. This letter will also explain that relief has been granted for 
twelve months only. A revised Non-Domestic Rates bill will be sent where 
appropriate. 

 
9.12 Unsuccessful applicants will be notified by letter and provided instructions on how 

they can appeal the decision as set out in Section 12. 
 
9.13 The granting of relief will be reviewed annually and those in receipt of 

Discretionary Hardship Relief will be asked to supply or confirm relevant 
information for the purpose of the review. 

 
9.14 The Council recognises that there will be occasions when the applicant body does 

not appear to satisfy the criteria generally applied but where the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Human Resources and the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits may choose to award relief. The Council has the ability to depart from 
its general policy as to granting relief if it sees fit to do so, taking into account the 
facts of each case and the interests of residents and Council Taxpayers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



Page 26 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

10. SECTION 44A RELIEF (PARTLY OCCUPIED PROPERTIES) 

 
10.1 The Council has discretion to consider requests from ratepayers asking that the 

rateable value of premises that is charged Non-Domestic (business) rates is split 
between the occupied and temporarily unoccupied portions and that the Council 
then only charges rates of the occupied portion. This is permitted under Section 
44a of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

 
10.2 The Council has discretion to accept or refuse such a request. If the request is 

accepted, then the Valuation Office Agency is asked to supply a Certificate 
indicating the relevant values for the occupied and unoccupied portions and this 
Certificate is binding to the Council. 

 
10.3 The definition of ‘temporary period’ is not prescribed with the law and therefore 

Oldham Council has the discretion to decide the period of relief that should be 
awarded. 

 
10.4 The law provides a discretionary power, but the decision whether to exercise that 

power must be taken before the Valuation Officer’s Certificate is requested, as 
the apportioned values are those upon which the charge must be levied once 
supplied. The discretionary power does not alter the general rule that occupation 
of part of a premise constitutes occupation of the whole of the premises. 

 
10.5 The effect of the apportioned values applies for the operative period, which is 

defined as the period beginning with the day on which the premises became partly 
unoccupied and ending with the first day on which one or more of the following 
events occurs. 

 The occupation of any of the unoccupied part of the premises; 

 The ending of the financial year in which the apportionment was required; 

 The requiring of a further apportionment; 

 The complete occupation of the premises; or 

 The complete vacation of the premises. 

 
10.6 The Authority is required to terminate this relief in the event of a change in the 

proportions of the premises occupied and unoccupied or at the end of a financial 
year, and then may, if appropriate consider requesting the Valuation Officer to 
issue a further Certificate. 

 
10.7 The amount of Rate Relief that is awarded is determined by statute and is 

calculated by reference to the Rateable Value attributed to the unoccupied area 
by the Valuation Office Agency, part of Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC). 

 
10.8 Applications will only be considered in respect of unoccupied parts of a property 

that can be clearly defined and are reasonably segregated from the occupied part 
of the property. 

 
10.9 The use of Section 44a is intended to apply to those premises where there are 

practical difficulties in either occupying the premises or vacating the premises. 
Therefore it is not intended that all premises which temporarily become partly 
unoccupied should have their liability reduced. 

Page 112



Page 27 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

 
10.10 No award shall be made where it appears to the Council that the reason that part 

of the property is unoccupied is wholly or mainly for the purposes of applying for 
Rate Relief. 

 
10.11 Rate Relief under this section will not be awarded in respect of partly occupied 

property where the partial occupation of the property may arise due to the ordinary 
day to day nature of the business (for example the operation of a warehouse). 

 
10.12 The period of Relief will not exceed either 3 or 6 months depending on the type 

of property the claim has been made for, in line with the current legislation for 
part-occupied properties. 

 
10.13 In determining the application favourable consideration will be given (but not 

limited to) where: 

 There is a partial occupation of a warehouse, factory or commercial premises 
to facilitate relocation of the company into the borough or to extend the current 
portfolio and associated occupation levels in the borough; or 

 Where fire, flood or other disaster prevents full use of the premises. 

 
10.14 Favorable consideration would not normally be given (but not limited to): 

 For a period that has now passed; 

 For consecutive periods; 

 To support a business moving its operation outside of the borough; 

 Where the owner sublets part of the premises on a commercial basis; 

 Where the part occupation is likely to continue for more than 3 months (6 
months if industrial premises); 

 Where there appears to be no effort to let, sell or occupy the empty part; or 

 Where part occupation is seasonal or cyclical in nature. 

 
10.15 At all times consideration will be made for the regulations contained within Section 

44a of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and any relevant case law. 
 

10.16 A Ratepayer making an application under Section 44a should do so in writing and 
should include: 

 

    A plan of the property showing the dimensions of the occupied and 
unoccupied area of suitable quality to enable the Valuation Office Agency to 
apportion the Rateable value of the property between the occupied and 
unoccupied areas. Applications will not be considered until such time as the 
plan is provided; 

 

 The period to which the application relates; 

 

 Contact details in order to inspect the site where necessary. 

 
10.17 In considering the application, a visit may be made to the premises to confirm the 

accuracy of the submitted plan. Independent evidence may also be requested 
and this may be in the form of surveyors’ reports, dated photographs, solicitors’ 
letters and estate or letting agents’ records (list not exhaustive). 
 

Page 113



Page 28 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

11 SUPPORTING SMALL BUSINESSES 
 

11.1 The Supporting Small Business Relief scheme is available for ratepayers who are 
losing some or all of their small business rate relief as a result of a large rateable 
value increase following the 2017 revaluation. The scheme is available for 5 years 
from 1 April 2017. 

 
11.2 The Supporting Small Business relief will ensure that the increase per year in the 

bills of these ratepayers is limited to the greater of: 

 
a. A percentage increase per annum of 5%, 7.5%, 10% and 15% in the 

financial years 2017/18 to 2021/22, all plus inflation. Unlike the transitional 
relief scheme, for the first year of the scheme the percentage increase is 
taken against the bill for 31 March 2017 after small business rates relief; or 

 
b. A cash value of £600 per year (£50 per month), this cash minimum increase 

ensures that those ratepayers who paid nothing or very small amounts in 
2016/17 after small business rate relief start to pay something in 2017/18. 

 
In the first year of the scheme (2017/18), all ratepayers losing some or all of the 
small business rate relief or rural rate relief saw the increase in their bill capped 
at £600. The cash minimum increase is £600 per year thereafter.  

 

Page 114



Page 29 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

12 APPEALS AGAINST DECISIONS 
 
12.1 Any organisation requiring a review of a decision may submit a request by email 

to DiscretionaryRateRelief@oldham.gov.uk 
 
12.2 Oldham Council can review a Discretionary Rate Relief, Hardship Relief or 

Section 44a decision in the event of a dispute or in light of any new information. 
Final decisions on appeals will be made by the Section 151 Officer (Director of 
Finance). 

 
12.3 If the Ratepayer is further dissatisfied the only remaining route to challenge the 

decision would be by judicial review in line with Section 138 of the Local 
Government Act 1988. 

 
 

13 POLICY REVIEW 
 

13.1 The Council will review the Discretionary Rate Relief policy on an annual basis 
but the Council reserves the right to review and revise the policy at any time as a 
result of information gained as a result of operating the policy or in response to 
Government initiatives. 

 
13.2 The Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources in conjunction with the 

Director of Finance are authorised by Cabinet to agree any revisions to the policy. 

Page 115

mailto:DiscretionaryRateRelief@oldham.gov.uk


Page 30 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

ANNEX A - DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF POLICY  
 
TEMPORARY RELIEF UNDER SECTION 47 OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
FINANCE ACT ARISING FROM CENTRAL GOVERNMENT POLICY DECISIONS 

 
Business Rates Relief for Local Newspapers 

 
This Annex (based on Government guidance) sets out the detailed criteria to be used 
to determine business rates relief for local newspapers. 

 
Local Authorities may use their discretionary powers (under section 47(3) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 to grant relief in line with the eligibility criteria set out in 
this guidance. 

 
On 16 March 2016 the Chancellor announced at the Budget that the Government will 
introduce a £1,500 business rates discount for office space occupied by local 
newspapers, up to a maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per 
hereditament, and up to state aid limits, for 2 years from 1 April 2017. 

 
This is a temporary measure to support local newspapers adapt to technological 
changes within the industry. The relief is intended to be specifically for local newspapers 
and will be delivered through local authority discretionary discount powers (under 
Section 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act. The relief will be limited by state 
aid rules. 

 
How will the relief be provided? 

 
As this is a temporary relief for 2017-18 and 2018-19, the Government is not changing 
the legislation around the reliefs available to properties. Instead the Government will 
reimburse the Council (under section 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 
to grant relief in line with the eligibility criteria set out in this guidance. 

 
Central Government will reimburse the Council for the actual cost under the rates 
retention scheme of granting relief that falls within the definitions in this guidance. 

 
Eligibility criteria 

 
The relief will provide: A £1,500 relief for office space occupied by local newspapers up 
to a maximum of one discount per local newspaper title and per hereditament, for two 
years from 1 April 2017. 

 
Local Newspapers 

 
The relief is to be specifically for local newspapers and by that would be considered to 
be a “traditional local newspaper.” The relief will not be available to magazines. 

Page 116



Page 31 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

Office Space 
 
The hereditament must be occupied by a local newspaper and wholly or mainly used 
as office premises for journalists and reporters. 

 
Amount of Relief 

 
The amount of relief is limited to a maximum of one discount: - per newspaper title (e.g. 
per newspaper name) and per hereditament. 

 
Examples 

 
Two worked examples of how the relief will work are shown below: 

 
- A local newspaper with two offices would be able to claim a discount for only 

one of them 

 
- An office shared by three separate local newspaper titles would only be eligible 

for a single discount 
 
The total amount of government-funded relief available for each newspaper title and 
hereditament for 2017-18 and 2018-19 under this scheme is £1,500. The amount does 
not vary with rateable value. The eligibility for the relief and the relief itself will be 
assessed and calculated on a daily basis. The following formula should be used to 
determine the amount of relief to be granted for a particular hereditament: 

 
Amount of relief to be granted = £1,500 x A/B 

Where: 

A is the number of days in the financial year that the hereditament is eligible for 

relief; and 

 
B is the number of days in the financial year. 

 
The Council may use their discretionary powers in Section 47(3) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988 to offer further discounts outside this scheme (and under 
the 100% rates retention pilot scheme, 100% of the cost would be locally funded). 

 
State Aid 

 
The relief available is up to state aid de minimis levels for each business entity. 

Page 117



Page 32 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

ANNEX B SUPPORT FOR PUBS – ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 
 

This section describes in principle the Pubs Relief Scheme. The scheme will be available 
to eligible occupied properties with a rateable value of less than £100,000. The majority 
of pubs are independently owned or managed and will not be part of chains. Where pubs 
are part of a chain, relief will be available for each eligible property in the chain, subject 
to meeting State Aid requirements. 

 
There is no definitive description of a traditional pub or public house in law which could 
be readily used to determine eligibility. The objective has been to adopt an approach 
that makes the design and eligibility of the scheme easy to implement in a clear and 
consistent way, is widely accepted by the industry and which is consistent with the 
Government’s policy intention. 

 
The Government’s policy intention is that eligible pubs should: 

 be open to the general public 

 allow free entry other than when occasional entertainment is provided 

 allow drinking without requiring food to be consumed 

 permit drinks to be purchased at a bar. 

 
For these purposes, it should exclude: 

 restaurants 

 cafes 

 nightclubs 

 hotels 

 snack bars 

 guesthouses 

 boarding houses 

 sporting venues 

 music venues 

 festival sites 

 theatres 

 museums 

 exhibition halls 

 cinemas 

 concert halls 

 casinos 

 
The proposed exclusions in the list above is not intended to be exhaustive and it will be 
for the Council to determine those cases where eligibility is unclear. The Council already 
has a good understanding of the licensed premises in the borough and will be able to 
readily form a view on eligibility in the majority of cases. 

Page 118



Page 33 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

The stated intent of the Government policy is that it demonstrates the characteristics 
that would lead it to be classified as a pub, for example being owned and operated by a 
brewery. The Council may also consider other methods of classification, such as the 
planning system and the use classes order to help decide whether a property is a pub 
or not. However, permission for a particular use class will not necessarily mean that the 
property meets the definition of a pub. 

Page 119



Page 34 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19 March 2018  

ANNEX C – DISCRETIONARY REVALUATION RELIEF SCHEME 2018/19

 

This Local Discretionary Business Rate Relief Scheme will apply for the year 1 April 
2018 to 31 March 2019 only. 

 
To qualify for relief a ratepayer must be in occupation of a property with a rateable 
value of less than £200,000 and must meet the following criteria: 

 The ratepayer must have been liable for rates and in continual occupation of 
the relevant property since before 1st April 2017. 

 The property must be occupied. 

 The rateable value must be less than £200,000 

 There has been an increase in liability before other reliefs are applied of more 
than 5% of the eligible occupied charge when compared to the 2016/17 Business 
Rates bill 

 The award of relief must comply with EU law on State Aid. It is the responsibility 
of the Ratepayers to inform the Council if they have received State Aid that 
exceeds in total €200,000 over a three year period, including any other rates relief 
(other than exemptions, transitional or mandatory reliefs) being granted for 
premises other than the one to which the declaration relates, under the De 
Minimis Regulations EC 1407/2013. 

 
The following businesses will not be eligible for the relief: 
a) Local Authority properties and the wider public sector 
b) Businesses that fall into the following categories 

i. Financial services (e.g. banks, building societies, cash points, 
bureau de change, payday lenders, betting shops, pawn brokers) 

ii. Other services (e.g. estate agents, letting agents, employment 
agencies) 

iii. Medical services (e.g. vets, dentists, doctors, osteopaths, 
chiropractors) 

iv. Professional services (e.g. solicitors, accountants, insurance 
agents/ financial advisers, tutors) 

v. Post office sorting office 
vi. Betting shops 
vii. Shisha Bars 

 
c) Non trading rating assessments (e.g. Advertising rights, parking spaces, 

communication masts, kiosks  Car Parking Spaces) 
d) Properties which were not on the rating list at 1 April 2017. (Relief will not apply 

where properties are entered into the list retrospectively). 
 
The Council will prioritise the following: 

I. Local businesses 
II. Ratepayers occupying lower value properties 

III. Ratepayers facing the most significant increases in bills 
IV. Business facing hardship as a result of the impact of the revaluation 
V. Businesses with employees 

VI. Businesses whose rateable value is not currently the subject of an outstanding 
appeal with the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) 

Page 120



 

 

How the Business Rates Discretionary Business Rate Revaluation Relief will be 
calculated: 

 
Discretionary business rate relief is calculated after any or all of the following have been 
applied: 

 Exemptions and other reliefs, including pub relief and supporting small business 
relief. 

 Transitional arrangements 
 
Amount of relief 
 
Each award will be considered on a case by case basis up to a maximum of 50% of the 
difference between the 2016/17 base charge (before the application of any reliefs) and 
the 2018/19 business rates bill after all other reliefs and exemptions have been applied 

 
The scheme is for 2018/19 only. Future years’ allocations will be reconsidered on an 
annual basis 

 
Where a qualifying ratepayer’s 2018/19 rates bill is reduced for any of the following 
reasons, the amount of their relief will be reduced or removed accordingly: 

 A reduction in rateable value in the 2017 rating list 

 The provision of a certified value for the 2010 rating list or historical change 

 The application of any additional rate relief or exemption 

 Vacation and re-occupation of the property 

 Any other reason 

 
Oldham’s funding allocation is £146k in 2018/19. The Council will not make awards in 
excess of the relevant grant and decisions will take account of available funding. 

 
Application 
Businesses will be invited to apply for the relief. An application form will be made 
available on the Council’s website and businesses that may fit the eligibility criteria will 
also be contacted directly and asked to apply. Decisions will be made by the Council’s 
Exchequer Client Manager (Revenues). Appeals will be considered by the Director of 
Finance 
 

 
Hardship 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Human Resources in conjunction with the Director 
of Finance are authorised to vary the criteria and application process of the scheme to 
support businesses facing hardship following the 2017 revaluation to ensure take up of 
the scheme and to ensure support to businesses in Oldham is maximised. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                            

Page 121



 

 

 

  36 

 

 

APPENDIX 2 
 

EIA Ref: Discretionary Rate Relief Policy – 2018/19 
 
 

Lead Officer: Adam Parsey 

People involved in completing EIA: Adam Parsey 

Is this the first time that this project, 
policy or proposal has had an EIA 
carried out on it? If no, please state 
date of original and append to this 
document for information. 

No 
 
 
 
 
 

 
General Information 

1a Which service does this 
project, policy, or proposal 
relate to? 

Discretionary Rate Relief Policy – 2018/19 – 
Corporate and Commercial Services 

1b What is the project, policy or 
proposal?  
 

As part of its role in the administration of Non-
Domestic Rates (NDR) (more commonly referred to 
as business rates), the Council has several areas 
where it can exercise its discretion to provide 
reductions to the amounts of Non-Domestic Rates 
that are due to be paid.  
 
This policy document outlines the areas of local 
discretion and the Council’s approach to the 
various awards. This approach has regard to the 
impact: 

 of granting Discretionary/Hardship Rate Relief 
on the Council’s wider financial position and 
Council tax payers; 
 

 on the organisations and businesses that 
currently receive or may apply for relief in the 
future; 
 

 for Oldham residents if relief is awarded and the 
regeneration benefits to the borough 

 

1c What are the main aims of the 
project, policy or proposal? 
 

The policy aims to ensure that there is an equitable 
approach to the consideration of applications for 
Discretionary/Hardship Rate Relief by setting out a 
transparent guidance. 

Page 122



 

 

 

  37 

 

 

1d Who, potentially, could this 
project, policy or proposal 
have a detrimental effect on, or 
benefit, and how? 

It is not considered that the application of the 
policy will have a detrimental impact.  The 
amendment to the policy will benefit those who are 
now eligible for the award of a relief. 

 

1e. Does the project, policy or proposal have the potential to disproportionately impact 
on any of the following groups? If so, is the impact positive or negative? 

 None Positive Negative Not 
sure 

Disabled people     

Particular ethnic groups     

Men or women  
(include impacts due to pregnancy / maternity) 

    

People of particular sexual orientation/s     

People who are proposing to undergo, are 
undergoing or have undergone a process or part of 
a process of gender reassignment 

    

People on low incomes     

People in particular age groups     

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs 
    

Are there any other groups that you think may be 
affected negatively or positively by this project, 
policy or proposal?         

      

 

1f. What do you think that the overall NEGATIVE impact on 
groups and communities will be?  
 

None / 
Minimal 

Significant 

  

None  

 

1g Using the screening and 
information in questions 1e 
and 1f, should a full 
assessment be carried out on 
the project, policy or proposal? 

 
 
      Yes         No    

1h How have you come to this 
decision? 
 
 

 Current recipients of Discretionary Rate 
Relief and Discretionary Hardship Relief will 
be unaffected by the proposed changes.  

1i Review date  January 2019 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To approve a new Highways Safety Inspection Policy 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Highway Safety Inspection Policy details how Oldham Council will carry out proactive 
and reactive safety inspections to ensure that the Council can meet its statutory duty to 
maintain the highway. This policy also sets out how Oldham will apply the principles of the 
national code of practice and Greater Manchester Highway Inspection Framework to its 
safety inspection regime. 
 
Recommendations 
 
To approve the new Highway Safety Inspection Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report to CABINET 

 
Highway Safety Inspection Policy 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Fida Hussain, Cabinet Member for Environmental 
Services 
 
Officer Contact:  Executive Director Economy, Skills and 
Neighbourhoods 
 
Report Author: Daniel Meadowcroft, Highways Asset Client 
Manager 
Ext. 2049 
 
26th March 2018 

Page 125

Agenda Item 12



 

   

Cabinet 26 March 2018 
 
 
Highway Safety Inspection Policy 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The main purpose of highway maintenance is to maintain the highway network for the 

safe and convenient movement of people, traffic and goods.  However, even the best 
maintained roads will still be subject to deterioration. 

 
1.2 Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 imposes a duty upon the Highway Authority 

(Oldham Council) to maintain the adopted highway network (i.e. those highways 
maintainable at public expense) in such a way so as to ensure the safe passage of all 
road users, and almost all claims against the Authority relate to an alleged breach of this 
duty. 

 
1.3 Section 58 of the Act provides a statutory defence against such claims, on the grounds 

that the Authority has taken such care as in all circumstances was reasonably practicable 
to ensure that the highway in question was safe for highway users. 

 
1.4 In effect this requires the Highway Authority to: 

• Consider what constitutes a danger to road users. 
• To regularly inspect the highway in search of such defects, and 
• To repair such defects in a timely fashion. 

 
1.5 In order to comply with our duty of care the Council carries out a variety of safety 

inspections specifically designed to identify those defects which represent, in varying 
degrees, a danger to users of the highway. 

 
1.6 In October 2016 the document “Well-managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of 

Practice” (WmHI) was published to replace the previous Code of Practice, “Well 
Maintained Highways” (WMH). Authorities have until October 2018 to adopt the new Code 
of Practice. 

 
1.7 WMH recommended best practice with regards highways maintenance whereas the new 

Code of Practice recommends that authorities adopt a risk-based approach to highway 
maintenance and to work consistently with neighbouring authorities. 

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The existing policy has been in place since 2013 and it is considered appropriate to now 

refresh this document. 
 
2.2 A Greater Manchester Highway Inspection Framework (GMHIF – Appendix A) has been 

developed by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) to ensure that each 
authority’s procedures for inspection and repair will comply with WmHI and ensure that 
they are consistent across the Greater Manchester area. The ten Greater Manchester 
(GM) authorities are working towards implementing the GMHIF from April 2018.  

 
2.3 This will reduce the potential for accidents to occur, whilst also providing the evidence that 

safe systems are in place in the event that an accident claim is made against the Council. 
 
2.4 Oldham’s new Highway Safety Inspection Policy deals specifically with safety inspections 

and repairs, and it details how Oldham Council’s approach will be consistent with the 
GMHIF and consequently our neighbouring authorities across GM. 

Page 126



 

   

 
2.5 Highway Safety Inspections are currently carried out as part of the Unity Partnership 

contract. Any defects identified on these inspections are repaired by the Council’s in-
house Highways Operations team. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 Option 1 
 
 Approve the new Highway Safety Inspection Policy. 
 
 Advantages to approving the new policy: 

 Compliance with WmHI (national Code of Practice) 

 Collaborative working with neighbouring GM authorities 

 Risk assessed approach to safety inspections 
 
 Disadvantages: 

 Reduction in inspection frequencies for some streets 

 Additional pressures on Highway Operations budget 

 Increased risk of kerb repairs not being completed on time 

 Some defects that may have been repaired under the current policy may now not get 
repaired under the new policy 

 Possible increased demand on Unity Workplan budget 
 
Option 2 
 
Retain the existing policy published in 2013 
 
Advantages 

 Current working practices retained 

 No additional pressures on existing budgets 
 
Disadvantages: 

 Not compliant with principles of WmHI 

 Working independently from the rest of GM 

 Different repair criteria from the rest of GM 

 May harm the Council’s ability to defend claims in court 
 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 The preferred option is Option 1 to approve the new policy. 
 
4.2 Adopting the new policy will ensure that we are working towards the same standards as 

the rest of GM. Claims hearings are likely to be held at courts across GM and any 
deviation in policy that is not consistent with GMHIF are likely to harm the Council’s ability 
to defend claims. 

 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 Internally the proposed policy has been developed in conjunction with: 
 i) Unity Partnership (Highways) 
 ii) Highways Operations 
 iii) Risk and Insurance 
 iv) Oldham Council Highways Client 
 

Page 127



 

   

6 Financial Implications  
 

  Revenue 
 
6.1 The initial exercise to categorize Oldham’s Carriageways, Footpaths and Cycle Ways 

according to risk is cost neutral and will not result in an additional financial outlay. 
 
6.2 Adopting the proposed inspection policy is likely to result in additional future cost 

pressures. These pressures will impact on the Highways Operations and the Unity Work-
plan Medium Term Financial Strategy on cost centres 40350 and 40910 respectively. This 
was referred to in paragraph 3.1 above.  It is anticipated that any additional costs will be 
absorbed within existing budget estimates.  However, the situation will be carefully 
monitored as part of the annual budget monitoring timetable.   

 
6.3 Any resulting cost increase is likely to be greater in the first year of operation due to the 

need to perform additional works associated with meeting the new inspection criteria. 
Costs, thereafter, are likely to moderate significantly as inspection work reverts to a 
‘business as usual’ approach. The precise value of any increased cost is not known at this 
time but is not expected to be significant in terms of the Council’s delivery of its Highway 
function. 

 
6.4 If the existing inspection policy were retained, however, there is a risk that the number and 

value of insurance payouts will increase (due to a lowering of the claim repudiation rate). 
The inherent risk associated with insurance payouts is that they have the potential to be 
open ended in cost terms. 

 
6.5 There is adequate funding available within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy 

to fund the cost of works associated with adopting this new inspection policy. 
 

  Capital 
 
6.6 Any capital investment on the overall road network should result in an improvement in the 

overall council repudiation rates relating to insurance.  Annual statistics will have to be 
carefully monitored within the insurance section to determine the overall impact as the 
year progresses. (Sadrul Alam/Nigel Howard). 

 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 Under section 58 of the Highways Act 1980, in an action against a highway authority in 

respect of damage resulting from their failure to maintain a highway maintainable at the 
public expense it is a defence to prove that the authority had taken such care as in all the 
circumstances was reasonably required to secure that the part of the highway to which the 
action relates was not dangerous for traffic.  For the purposes of a defence under section 
58, the court shall in particular have regard to the character of the highway, and the traffic 
which was reasonably to be expected to use it, the standard of maintenance appropriate 
for a highway of that character and used by such traffic, the state of repair in which a 
reasonable person would have expected to find the highway, whether the highway 
authority knew, or could reasonably have been expected to know, that the condition of the 
part of the highway to which the action relates was likely to cause danger to users of the 
highway and where the highway authority could not reasonably have been expected to 
repair that part of the highway before the cause of action arose, what warning notices of 
its condition had been displayed. 

 
7.2 The WmHI Code of Practice is not a statutory document but it provides highway 

authorities with guidance on highways management.  Compliance with the Code and the 
Council’s revised Highway Safety Inspection Policy will be a relevant consideration in 

Page 128



 

   

assisting the Council in establishing the defence under section 58 of the Highways Act 
against claims for loss or personal injury or of legal action by those seeking to establish 
non-compliance by the Council with its highway maintenance duties.  (A Evans) 

 
8. Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 Highway maintenance helps the Council achieve its corporate priorities: 

 By carrying out highway inspections and repairs we can improve the appearance of 
the environment resulting in safer communities. Residents are also encouraged to 
report any defects that may appear between inspections 

 Adopting the new policy will improve service delivery by increasing inspection 
frequencies in high risk locations reducing them where the risk is low. This ensures 
that resources will be targeted in the areas most in need of repair, ensuring best value 
for money.  

 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 N/A 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
 It is recognised that it will not be always possible to inspect a highway at exactly the same 

time of each month that it is due for inspection, so some flexibility will be required 
regarding inspection dates. Inspections will be scheduled to be completed as close as 
possible to their due inspection date, taking into account availability of resources, 
weekends / bank holidays and periods of adverse weather. In these instances the 
maximum tolerances for each inspection will be determined by the inspection frequency 
as shown in the following table. 

 

Inspection Frequency Tolerance 

1 month ± 1 week (7 days) 

3 months ± 2 weeks (14 days) 

6 months ± 3 weeks (21 days) 

1 year ± 4 weeks (28 days) 

18 months ± 4 weeks (28 days) 

  
 The expectation is that all inspections will be completed within the tolerances allowed. 

Where an inspection is completed outside of the tolerances then there is a risk that the 
Council will not be able to defend claims. Where performance drops below 92.5% of 
inspections completed within tolerance, there will be contractual financial implications for 
the partner. 

 
Adopting the recommendations in the Greater Manchester Framework and providing a 
risk based approach should reduce the opportunity for legal challenge over the safety of 
the highway network will help achieve a consistency in claims decisions across Greater 
Manchester.  If the changes identified lead to an increase in inspections, and repairs 
which are not carried out on time, this could result in a reduction of the present 
repudiations rate.  The numbers and details of claims, inspections and repairs will need to 
be closely monitored to ensure that there are adverse financial implications for the 
Council. (Victoria Gallacher) 
 

 

Page 129



 

   

11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 No IT Implications associated with this policy paper (Chris Petrie) 
 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 13.1 All Council subsequent sourcing activity arising from this policy outcome will be 

procured in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.  This will include 
satisfying value for money principles and with due regard to social, economic and 
environmental factors.   

 
13.2 The new policy needs to be incorporated as part of the Terms & Conditions of any 

contractors that the Authority engages with, including those of Unity Partnership Limited.  
(Darren Judge) 

 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 The introduction and adoption of the Highway Safety Inspection Policy will not have a 

negative impact on the local environment or air quality.  (Justine Addy) 
In addition to this policy, it must be ensured that suitable and sufficient risk assessments 
are in place relating to the role of the highways inspectors.  The risk assessment should 
identify suitable controls to ensure the safety of a highways inspector and these controls 
must be implemented. (Laura Smith) 

 
15 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1 A poorly maintained highway network may become a barrier to effective movement, 

deterring some people from making the journeys that they might otherwise have made. 
This, in turn, can reduce the level of natural surveillance which is known to be an effective 
deterrent to both crime and the fear of crime. 

 
16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
16.1  N/A 
 
17 Key Decision 
 
17.1 Yes  
 
18 Key Decision Reference 
 

18.1 ENVS-01-18 

 
19 Background Papers 
 
19.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in accordance 

with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 1972.  It does not 
include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information as defined by 
the Act : 
Well-managed Highways Infrastructure – A Code of Practice 
http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/utilities/document-
summary.cfm?docid=4F93BA10-D3B0-4222-827A8C48401B26AC 

Page 130

http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/utilities/document-summary.cfm?docid=4F93BA10-D3B0-4222-827A8C48401B26AC
http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/utilities/document-summary.cfm?docid=4F93BA10-D3B0-4222-827A8C48401B26AC


 

   

 
 

20 Appendices  
 
20.1 Appendix A – Highway Safety Inspection Policy 
 Appendix B – Greater Manchester Highway Inspection Framework 
 
 

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

 

Highway Safety 
Inspection Policy 
 

 

October 2018 
 
 

Page 133



Page 2 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

1 Contents 
 
 
 
1 Contents……………………………………….. page 2   
 
2 Introduction……………………………………. page 3  
 
3 Overview………………………………………. page 3 
 
4 Types of Highway Inspections………………. page 5 
 
5 Hierarchy………………………………………. page 6 
 
6 Inspection Frequency………………………… page 7 
 
7 Highway Safety Inspections…………………. page 9 
 
8 Defect Investigatory Levels………………….. page 11 
 
9 Repair Response Times……………………...page 12 
 
10 Defect Risk Assessment…………………….. page 12 
 
11 Enquiries………………………………………. page 14 
 
12 Training………………………………………… page 15 
 
 

Page 134



Page 3 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

2 Introduction 
 
Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 places a statutory duty on all Highway 
Authorities (HA) to maintain the highway network under their control.  For there to be 
a breach of section 41 there must have been a failure to maintain or a failure to repair.  
 
All councils within the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) region in 
complying with this duty to maintain, have collaborated to develop a Greater 
Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework document (GMHIF). Oldham 
Council will adopt and carry out highway safety inspections in accordance with the 
GMHIF, adapted for local circumstances, in order to provide a special defence by 
virtue of Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 in an action against the Council for an 
alleged breach of Section 41. 
 
Highway Authorities (HAs) need to prove that they have taken such care as in all the 
circumstances was reasonably required to secure that the part of the highway was not 
dangerous for traffic.  This is usually proved by the Council having a reasonable 
system of routine scheduled highway safety inspections in place, having regard to 
various factors set out within section 58 of the Highways Act 1980. 

 

 
3 Overview 
 
This poilcy document has been developed with the primary aim of providing direction 
to those officers involved in undertaking highways safety inspections, that they may 
carry out their duties with consistency and to clear recognised and understood criteria. 
 
This document is Oldham Council’s Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections 
and details how Oldham will comply with the practices set out in the GMHIF, in terms 
of network hierarchy, investigatory levels, frequency of inspection and response times 
to repair. 
 
The GMHIF has been developed through a collaborative GMCA working group of 
officers who are directly involved at varying levels of responsibility in the function of 
highway maintenance, inspections, and claims management.  The new Code of 
Practice, Well-managed Highway Infrastructure (WmHI), published on 28 October 
2016 recommends.  ‘In the interest of route consistency for highway users, all 
authorities, including strategic, local, combined and those in alliances, are 
encouraged to collaborate in determining levels of service, especially across 
boundaries with neighbours responsible for strategic and local highway networks’. 
 
The GMHIF and this policy document gives due regard to all Council highway duties 
and has adopted the guidance that reflects the recommendations from WmHI. The 
framework document is itemised on the agenda for the GMCA Highway Claims 
Benchmarking Group for the purpose of continual review and improvement. 
 
WmHI recommends changing from reliance on specific guidance and 
recommendations in the previous codes to a risk-based approach determined by each 

Page 135



Page 4 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

highway. The council’s frequency of inspection and specific investigatory levels are 
based on the appropriate risk, functionality or usage of the highway. It further 
recommends adopting standards set out in ISO 31000.    
 
ISO 31000 is a family of standards relating to risk management codified by the 
International Organization for Standardization. The purpose of ISO 31000: 2009 is to 
provide principles and generic guidelines on risk management.  
 
Figure 1 shows an example risk management process, based on ISO 31000  
 
Figure 1 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 136



Page 5 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Figure 2 shows the relationship between the guidance documents, Codes of Practice 
and Frameworks used to help Oldham Council in developing this highway safety 
inspection policy.  

 
 

Figure 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
4 Types of Highway Inspections 
 
This policy document deals specifically with highway safety inspections and repairs. 

The GMCA methodology is to undertake safety inspections as one process to enable 
inspectors to focus specifically on defects which if not repaired, are likely to become a 
potential danger to road users and pedestrians.  

Highway safety Inspections are derived from two main sources, these are; 

• Planned cyclic safety inspections to identify potential dangers; and 

• Ad hoc reactive safety inspections following enquiries in respect of the 
condition of the highway. 

Records of cyclic safety inspections and reactive safety inspections following 
complaints are maintained on Confirm, a purpose designed computer database. 

 

Well Managed 
Infrastructure Code of 
Practice October 2016 

HMEP – Highway 
Infrastructure Asset 

Management Guidance 
May 2013 

Greater Manchester 
Highway Safety 

Inspection Framework 
April 2018 

Oldham Highway Safety 
Inspection Policy 

October 2018 

ISO Series 31000 
Risk management 

Page 137



Page 6 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

5 Hierarchy 
 
 

All the adopted highways have been assigned where appropriate a carriageway, 
footway and cycleway hierarchy in accordance with WmHI and the Greater 
Manchester Framework. 
 
Table 1 details the hierarchy determining factors to be considered when assigning 
network hierarchies.  Other factors may also be pertinent. 
 
Table 1 

Road classification Strategic network, A,B,C, unclassified 
network 

Traffic use Traffic flow data, footfall data 

Characteristics of street Schools, shops, hospitals, areas of large 
employment located adjacent to the 
highway 

Characteristics of adjoining network 
elements 

Hierarchy of adjoining streets 

 
WmHI details the criteria for assigning categories within the hierarchy. Each adopted 
highway in Oldham has been assigned a category within the hierarchy, according to 
the descriptions given in WmHI, and its corresponding reference number for that 
category as listed in the GMHIF. 

Page 138



Page 7 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

6 Inspection Frequency 
 

The council’s frequency of inspections is based on the appropriate risk, functionality 
or usage of the highway and the subsequent hierarchy assigned.  The road category 
within the hierarchy, in combination with traffic use, is the main determinant of 
inspection frequency. Hierarchy reviews will be undertaken on a 5 year cycle and by 
competent staff on a group basis. 
 
Table 2 shows other factors that may affect inspection frequency. 
 
Table 2 

 

GMHIF details the inspection frequency for each category within the hierarchy, 
however it states that an authority may decide to temporarily or permanently increase 
or reduce inspection frequency in a specific location (for example to mitigate the risk 
of unusually high defect levels or accident rates). 
 
Table 3 shows the inspection frequency adopted by the GMCA for each category of 
highway and its corresponding reference number. 
 

Condition data Walked survey data, SCRIM, SCANNER,  

Structural Maintenance Visual 
Assessments (CVI or DVI), Defect 
numbers including minor repairs 

Insurance claims data Claim statistics recorded on street, 
numbers and trends derived from claims 

Wider policy or operational 
considerations. 

Enquiries, complaints data 

Page 139



Page 8 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Table 3 

Feature Category Reference Frequency 

Carriageways Strategic Route 2 1 month 

 Main Distributor 3(a) 1month 

 Secondary Distributor 3(b) 1month 

 Link Road 4(a) 3 months 

 
Local Access Road 

Minor Roads 

4(b) 

4(b) 

1 year 

1 year 

Footways Prestige Walking Zones 1(a) 1 month 

 Primary Walking Routes 1 1 month 

 
Secondary Walking 

Routes 
2 3 months 

 Link Footways 3 6 months 

 
Local Access Footways 

Minor Footways 
4 

1 year 

1 year 

Cycle ways Part of Carriageway A As for Roads 

 

Cycle Track, Shared 
Cycle/Footway – a route 
for cyclists not contiguous 
with the public footway or 
carriageway or a shared 
cycle/pedestrian path 

B 
As for 
footway/Annually 

 

Oldham Council has risk assessed each street to determine whether any locations 
require an increase or decrease to the inspection frequency listed in Table 3, based 
on the factors in Table 2. 
 
The condition of the street and insurance data are the principal factors in determining 
whether or not to amend inspection frequency. Other factors may also be taken into 
account, such the potential for a street to be used as a motorway diversion route. 
Special consideration may also be given to situations where the condition or 
insurance data is on the borderline of two different scores which would have an effect 
on inspection frequency. 
 
It is anticipated that most changes to inspection frequency will be temporary, until 
such time that risk assessment justifies a further change in frequency. A review of 
inspection frequencies will be held each year to ensure that the risk assessments are 
up-to-date and a full review, including network hierarchy, will be carried out every five 
years. There will also be occasions where streets have their inspection frequency 
amended outside of the review where justified by exceptional circumstances (e.g. the 
street has been resurfaced or is temporarily being used as a diversion route). 
 

Page 140



Page 9 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Permanent changes to inspection frequency may also be considered based on local 
factors specific to a street, however these streets will still be subject to any risk 
assessments which could justify a further (temporary) change in frequency based on 
condition and insurance data. 
 
Highways will be inspected in accordance with the frequencies listed in GMHIF, 
however where justified by risk assessment, highways may be inspected more or less 
frequently. Table 4 shows the inspection frequencies for each category within the 
hierarchy according to risk. 
 
Table 4 

Feature Reference Frequencies 

  Low Risk GMHIF High Risk 

Carriageways 2 1 month 1 month 1 month 

 3(a) 3 months 1 month 1 month 

 3(b) 3 months 1 month 1 month 

 4(a) 6 months 3 months 1 month 

 4(b) 18 months 1 year 6 months 

Footways 1(a) 1 month 1 month 1 month 

 1 3 months 1 month 1 month 

 2 6 months 3 months 3 months 

 3 1 year 6 months 3 months 

 4 18 months 1 year 6 months 

Cycle ways A  As for Roads  

 B 
As for 
footway / 
Annually 

As for 
footway / 
Annually 

As for 
footway / 6 
months 

 
It is recognised that it will not be always possible to inspect a highway at exactly the 
same time of each month that it is due for inspection, so some flexibility will be 
required regarding inspection dates. An inspection will be scheduled to be completed 
as close as possible to its due inspection date, taking into account weekends / bank 
holidays and periods of adverse weather and inspector availability (e.g. periods of 
leave). In these instances the tolerances for each inspection will be determined by the 
inspection frequency as shown in Table 5. 
 

Page 141



Page 10 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Table 5 

Inspection Frequency Tolerance 

1 month ± 1 week (7 days) 

3 months ± 2 weeks (14 days) 

6 months ± 3 weeks (21 days) 

1 year ± 4 weeks (28 days) 

18 months ± 4 weeks (28 days) 

 
 
 

7 Highway Safety Inspections 
 
Highway safety inspections are carried out to specified frequencies.  During the 
inspection, defects which are identified using the risk matrix criteria outlined within this 
policy are recorded and processed for repair. 
 
 Inspection Methodology  
 
All footways will have a walked inspection at the assigned frequency determined by 
the hierarchy and risk assessment, and the carriageway will also be inspected during 
these walked inspections. 
 
When, in accordance with the hierarchy, it is only the carriageway to be inspected, 
then the inspection can be by means of a driven or walked inspection. 

 
Walked Highway Safety Inspections  
 
Before commencing any walked safety inspection, the inspector shall note the 
following information; 
 

 The street name; 

 Inspection frequency; 

 Current date; and 

 Weather conditions (Ground conditions) 
 
The inspector shall position themselves in a safe location on the footway, in such a 
position that it enables him/her to view the full width of the footway and carriageway to 
the centre line including the carriageway channel areas. 
 
When the inspector encounters parked vehicles they shall take reasonable steps 
where appropriate so as to view the area obstructed by the vehicle.  
 
The inspector shall proceed along the footway, identifying defects that meet the 
investigatory levels set out in Table 6. The inspector identifies defects and then 
undertakes a risk based approach on assessing the danger of the defect. 
 

Page 142



Page 11 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Any defect which falls at or outside these levels that the inspector identifies, would be 
assigned a score from Table 7 and then a response time from Table 8. On completing 
the inspection of one side of the street, the inspector shall apply the same process to 
the opposite side of the road. The results of the inspections will be recorded on the 
Confirm database. 

 
Driven Carriageway Safety Inspection 
 
The purpose of these carriageway safety inspections is to identify defects that are 
likely to pose a risk or serious inconvenience to users of the network or the wider 
community and to arrange for their remedy. 
 
Before commencing the Driven Safety Inspection, the inspector shall note the 
following information; 
 

 The street name; 

 Inspection frequency; 

 Current date; and 

 Weather conditions (Ground conditions) 
 
Driven carriageway inspections shall be carried out utilising a driver (albeit more often 
than not they will be a trained highway inspector) and a highway inspector. The driver 
shall be responsible for driving and the highway inspector will be responsible for 
carrying out the safety inspection. 

 
The Inspector shall have due regard to their personal safety and in particular from 
moving traffic either on the main highway or at junctions and crossings. On no 
account must he/she put himself/herself in any hazardous situation. 
This relevant method statement must be read in conjunction with the Highways 
agency documents listed below, which are; 
 
• Temporary Traffic Management on High Speed Roads good working practice; 
• Guidance for safer Temporary Management workforce issues; and 
• Guidance for crossing High Speed Roads on foot during temporary traffic   

management works 
 
All Inspectors carrying out driven carriageway safety inspections of high speed roads, 
will attend appropriate training. 
 
 
Inspection Vehicle  
 
The inspection vehicle used for the driven highway safety inspections will be an 
appropriate vehicle for the task. The vehicle will ideally be equipped with all the 
necessary livery, flashing beacons, advisory LED vehicle mounted display signage 
etc., so it can be driven safely at low speeds to facilitate a driven visual inspection of 
the highway having due regard to minimising inconvenience to other road users.  
 

 

Page 143



Page 12 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

8 Defect Investigatory Levels 
 
This section of the policy document sets out the investigatory levels and operational 
processes that are considered to be appropriate and responsible, taking into account 
the safety of highway users. 
 
Table 6 below lists the Defect Investigatory levels that would trigger the risk 
assessment using the matrix. 

 
Table 6 
 
 

Footway  investigatory level 
 

25mm 
20mm in pedestrianised 
areas of Town Centre (see 
Table 6.1) 

Carriageway Investigatory level 
 

40mm 

Carriageway investigatory level at  
pedestrian crossing points 
 

25mm 

Kerb defects 
 

50mm or over horizontal 
displacement 
 

 

 
 
Table 6.1 – list of pedestrianised streets in Oldham Town Centre 
 

Street Name From to 

Henshaw Street o/s 39 / end of Market Hall to Market Place 

Market Place Henshaw Street to High Street 

High Street Market Place to Lord Street 

Albion Street Henshaw Street to Lord Street 

Curzon Street Albion Street to High Street 

Manchester Chambers Cheapside to George Square 

George Square Manchester Chambers to George Street 

 
 

Page 144



Page 13 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

9 Repair Response Times 
 
During safety inspections, all observed defects that provide a potential risk to users 
are recorded and the level of response determined on the basis of an onsite risk 
assessment. 
 
This Policy defines defects in two categories, which are; 
 
• Category 1 - those that require prompt attention because they represent an 

immediate hazard; and 
• Category 2 - all other defects. 
 
Category 1 
 
These defects will be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 
reasonably practicable. In this context, making safe may constitute displaying warning 
notices, coning-off or fencing-off to protect the public from the defect or other suitable 
action. If the inspection team cannot make safe the defect at the time of inspection 
then they will instigate the relevant emergency call procedures to ensure appropriate 
resources are mobilised to make the defect safe. These procedures aim to ensure 
initial attendance to the defect within 24 hours of the defect being identified or within 2 
hours where there is an immediate threat to life or limb. 
 
Category 2  
 
These defects are those which are deemed not to represent an immediate hazard and 
which can be repaired within longer timescales. Category 2 defects are categorised 
according to priority with response times defined within Table 8. 
 

 

10 Defect Risk Assessment 
 
The principles of a system of defect risk assessment for application to safety 
inspections are set out below. Any item with a defect level which corresponds to, or is 
in excess of, the minimum investigatory level, is to be assessed using the risk 
assessment matrix in Table 7. 
 

The risk factor for a particular risk is calculated by;  
 

 Risk Factor = Likelihood score x Consequence score.  
 
It is this factor that identifies the overall seriousness of the risk and consequently the 
appropriateness of the speed of response to remedy the defect. 
 
Having identified a particular risk, assessed its Likelihood and Consequence thus 
calculating the risk factor, the category and the timescale to rectify the defect is either 
defined as a Category 1 response, or allocated to one of the Category 2 defect types 
(Low, Medium or High).  

Page 145



Page 14 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Likelihood of Event Occurring  
This is the inspector’s assessment of the likelihood of the defect affecting the safe 
passage of vehicles along the highway, or affecting the structural integrity of the 
highway. It follows an assessment of the highway hierarchy and the location of the 
defect within the highway.  
 
Consequence of Event Occurring This is the impact/severity and is quantified by 
assessing the extent of damage likely to be caused should the risk be realised. The 
main consideration of impact/severity is the magnitude or dimension of the defect. 
However, other variables such as road speed may also affect the likely impact 

The risk assessment matrix detailed below used by the Highway Inspectors during the 
course of their inspections.  The matrix will be used to determine the defect 
categorisation and response. 
 
Table 7 – Risk Matrix (Taken from Institute of Highway Engineers) 
 
 

Likelihood 
of Event 
Occurring 

Consequence of Event Occurring 

Negligible Low Medium High Severe 

Negligible 
 
1 
 

 
2 

 
3 

 
4 

 
5 

Very Low 
 
2 
 

4 6 8 10 

Low 
 
3 
 

6 9 12 15 

Medium 
 
4 
 

8 12 16 20 

High 
 
5 
 

10 15 20 25 

 
 
Key to Risks 

Low Medium High 

 
 
Priority Responses defined by colour 
 

Page 146



Page 15 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

Table 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Priority Response (Calendar days / hours) 

1 2Hr 

2 24Hr 

3 14 Days 

4 28 Days 

5 Review At Next Inspection – or consider for planned maintenance 

 
 
 
Minimum Investigatory Levels  
 
It is recognised that on any highway network, a multitude of minor defects will exist 
which do not pose any risk to either the safety or the integrity of the highway and for 
which it may be impractical and inefficient to expend limited resources to undertake 
repairs.  Any defects which do not meet the minimum investigatory levels can be 
recorded should the Inspector deem this appropriate using his discretion (for example, 
where a cluster of such defects may form a potential preventative maintenance 
scheme in the future). Where such defects are recorded, they will be recorded as an 
internal enquiry for consideration for planned maintenance. 
 
 

11 Enquiries 
 
Additional ad-hoc Safety Inspections of specific defects are carried out in response to 
reports or enquiries from members of the public and other road users. In such 
instances these inspections will be carried out within 7 days from receipt of enquiry 
dependent upon volume of enquiries and availability of inspectors. 
 
Each enquiry will be assessed on receipt and where from the information given it is 
deemed that a more urgent response is required, appropriate action will be taken.  
 
 

Risk factor Defect Category Priority Response 

25 1 1 

15 to 25 1 2 

9 to 12 2 3 

5 to 8 2 4 

1 to 4 2 5 

Page 147



Page 16 of 16 Highway Safety Inspection Policy April 2018 

12 Training 
 
All staff that are employed to undertake highway safety inspections will be trained to 
Highway Safety Inspection Qualification City and Guilds 6033 – Units 301 and 311 or 
similar approved LANTRA accreditation wherever possible. This qualification lasts 5-
years and refresher training must be undertaken. 
 
Any new highway inspector that is permanently employed but does not already hold 
the above qualification or accreditation will be enrolled on an approved Highway 
Safety Inspection course at the earliest practicable opportunity. 
 
If an inspector is to be employed on a temporary contract, their competence will be 
assessed at interview by a qualified line manager / supervisor and where additional 
training needs are identified, in-house training will be provided before the inspector is 
allowed to undertake inspections. 
 
Any new highway inspector will shadow a qualified colleague within the inspection 
team for a period of time prior to being allowed to undertake inspections alone, and 
then is subject to close monitoring and supervision. 
Induction training will be undertaken for any new employees.  
The appropriate line manager / supervisor also undertakes regular follow-up checks in 
the way of on-site staff appraisals with each inspector.   
Each team member is provided with access to this policy document. 
The highway inspectorate will hold regular team meetings to discuss issues in relation 
to the inspection process, therefore allowing it to be continually reviewed. 
 
Make up of training to include; 
 

• Manager Introduction & Briefing; 

• Work shadowing; 

• Highway related training modules contained within the City & Guilds training 

scheme; Units 301 and 311 or LANTRA approved training. 

• On-site staff appraisals/work monitoring (line supervisor); 

• Regular team meetings; 

• Staff Development Reviews (Annually); 

• Any other external courses of relevance to post; and 

• Documents relating to relevant Codes of Practice   

 

 
 

Page 148



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 1 
 

 

 

 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety 

Inspection Framework 

 

April 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjWtpfTqqLXAhVJWRoKHclrD6kQjRwIBw&url=http://www.greatermanchesterpccelection.org.uk/info/10/your_area&psig=AOvVaw2XiprJW1XL6eyIMDuP31vk&ust=1509796023166390


 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 2 
 

Contents 

 

 

            Contents Page 

1 Introduction 3 

2 Overview 3 

3 Types of Highway Inspections 5 

4 Hierarchy and Frequency 6 

5 Highway Safety Inspections 7 

6 Defect Investigatory Levels 9 

7 Repair Response Times 10 

8 Defect Risk Assessment 10 

9 Enquiries 13 

10 Training 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 3 
 

1. Introduction 
 

Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 places a statutory duty on all Highway 
Authorities (HA) to maintain the highway network under their control.  For there to be 
a breach of section 41 there must have been a failure to maintain or a failure to 
repair.  

All councils within the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) region in 
complying with this duty to maintain, have collaborated to implement and carry out 
highway safety inspections in accordance with this framework document in order to 
provide a special defence by virtue of Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 in an 
action against the Council for an alleged breach of Section 41. 

Highway Authorities (HA’s) need to prove that they have taken such care as in all the 
circumstances was reasonably required to secure that the part of the highway was 
not dangerous for traffic.  This is usually proved by the Council having a reasonable 
system of routine scheduled highway safety inspections in place, having regard to 
various factors set out within section 58 of the Highways Act 1980 

 

 

2. Overview 

This framework document has been developed with the primary aim of providing 
direction to those officers involved in undertaking highways safety inspections, that 
they may carry out their duties with consistency and to clear recognised and 
understood criteria. 

Greater Manchester (GM) is one of the country's most successful city-regions. Home 
to more than 2.7 million people and with an economy bigger than that of Wales or 
Northern Ireland 

The GMCA is made up of the ten Greater Manchester councils and Mayor, who work 
with other local services, businesses, communities and other partners to improve the 
city-region. 

The ten councils (Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Stockport, 
Tameside, Trafford and Wigan) have worked together voluntarily for many years on 
issues that affect everyone in the region, like transport, regeneration, and attracting 
investment. Our highway network comprises over 10,000 km (6,000 miles) of roads. 

The information contained within this framework document sets out the practices in 
terms of network hierarchy, investigatory levels, frequency of inspection and 
response times to repair for all the 10 GMCA authorities.  Each of these authorities 
will then produce its own Code of Practice for inspections complying with the 
practices set out in this framework document 

This framework document has been developed through a collaborative GMCA 
working group of officers who are directly involved at varying levels of responsibility 
in the function of highway maintenance, inspections, and claims management.  The 
new Code of Practice, Well managed Highway Infrastructure (WmHI), published on 

Page 151



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 4 
 

28 October 2016 recommends.  ‘In the interest of route consistency for highway 
users, all authorities, including strategic, local, combined and those in alliances, are 
encouraged to collaborate in determining levels of service, especially across 
boundaries with neighbours responsible for strategic and local highway networks’. 

This framework document gives due regard to all Council highway duties and has 
adopted the guidance that reflects the recommendations from the new WmHI. The 
framework document is itemised on the agenda for the GMCA Highway Claims 
Benchmarking Group for the purpose of continual review and improvement. 

The new WmHI recommends changing from reliance on specific guidance and 
recommendations in the previous codes to a risk-based approach determined by 
each highway. The council’s frequency of inspection and specific investigatory levels 
are based on the appropriate risk, functionality or usage of the highway. It further 
recommends adopting standards set out in ISO 31000.    

ISO 31000 is a family of standards relating to risk management codified by the 
International Organization for Standardization. The purpose of ISO 31000: 2009 is to 
provide principles and generic guidelines on risk management. 

Figure 1 below shows an example risk management process, based on ISO 
31000  

 

Figure 1 

 

 

 

 

Page 152

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwii1OON_fHTAhVF2hoKHd6aAlYQjRwIBw&url=http://www.swac.co.za/newsletter/issue15.htm&psig=AFQjCNHIVdKNXGZzHW-FLdPlBBEGLgdBEg&ust=1494940392209008


 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 5 
 

Figure 2 below shows the relationship between the guidance documents, Codes of 
Practice and Frameworks used to help HA’s in developing their district highway safety 
inspection policies.  

 

Figure 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Types of Highway Inspections 

This framework document deals specifically with highway safety inspections and 
repairs. 

The GMCA methodology is to undertake safety inspections as one process to enable 
inspectors to focus specifically on defects which if not repaired, are likely to become 
a potential danger to road users and pedestrians.  

Highway safety Inspections are derived from two main sources, these are; 

• Planned cyclic safety inspections to identify potential dangers; and 

• Ad hoc reactive safety inspections following enquiries in respect of the 
condition of the highway. 

Records of cyclic safety inspections and reactive safety inspections following 
complaints are maintained on purpose designed computer databases individual to 
each of the 10 GMCA districts party to this framework document. 

Well Managed 

Infrastructure Code of 

Practice October 2016 

HMEP – Highway 

Infrastructure Asset 

Management Guidance 

May 2013 

Greater Manchester 

Highway Safety 

Inspection Framework 

April 2018 

Greater Manchester 

District Highway Safety 

Inspection Policies 

ISO Series 31000 

Risk management 

Page 153



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 6 
 

4. Hierarchy and Frequency  

All the adopted highways have been assigned a carriageway, footway and cycleway 
hierarchy in accordance with WmHI. 

Table 1 below details the hierarchy determining factors to be considered when 
assigning network hierarchies.  Other factors may also be pertinent. 

Table 1 

Road classification Strategic network, A,B,C, unclassified 
network 

Traffic use Traffic flow data, footfall data 

Characteristics of street Schools, shops, hospitals, areas of large 
employment located adjacent to the 
highway 

Characteristics of adjoining network 
elements 

Hierarchy of adjoining streets 

Condition data Walked survey data, SCRIM, SCANNER, 
Structural Maintenance Visual 
Assessments (CVI or DVI), Defect 
numbers including minor repairs 

Insurance claims data Claim statistics recorded on street, 
numbers and trends derived from claims 

Wider policy or operational 
considerations. 

Enquiries, complaints data 

 

 

The council’s frequency of inspections is based on the appropriate risk, functionality 
or usage of the highway and the subsequent hierarchy assigned.  The road category 
within the hierarchy, in combination with traffic use, will be the main determinant of 
inspection frequency. Reviews will be undertaken on a 5 year cycle and by 
competent staff on a group basis. 

Table 2 below shows the inspection hierarchy and frequency of inspections to be 
adopted by the GMCA district highway authorities, although site specific factors may 
merit a decision to temporarily or permanently increase or reduce the frequency in a 
specific location (for example to mitigate the risk of unusually high defect levels or 
accident rates).  

 

 

 

Page 154



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 7 
 

Table 2 

Feature Category Reference Frequency 

Carriageways Strategic Route 2 1 month 

 Main Distributor 3(a) 1month 

 Secondary Distributor 3(b) 1month 

 Link Road 4(a) 3 months 

 
Local Access Road 

Minor Roads 

4(b) 

4(b) 

1 year 

1 year 

Footways Prestige Walking Zones 1(a) 1 month 

 Primary Walking Routes 1 1 month 

 
Secondary Walking 

Routes 
2 3 months 

 Link Footways 3 6 months 

 
Local Access Footways 

Minor Footways 
4 

1 year 

1 year 

Cycle ways Part of Carriageway A As for Roads 

 

Cycle Track, Shared 
Cycle/Footway – a route 
for cyclists not contiguous 
with the public footway or 
carriageway or a shared 
cycle/pedestrian path 

B 
As for 
footway/Annually 

 
 
 

5. Highway Safety Inspections 

 
Highway safety inspections are carried out to specified frequencies.  During the 
inspection, defects which are identified using the risk matrix criteria outlined within 
this framework document, are recorded and processed for repair. 
 
 Inspection Methodology  
 
All footways will have a walked inspection at the assigned frequency determined by 
the hierarchy, and the carriageway will also be inspected during these walked 
inspections. 
 
When, in accordance with the hierarchy, it is only the carriageway to be inspected, 
then the inspection can be by means of a driven or walked inspection. 
 
 

Page 155



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 8 
 

Walked Highway Safety Inspections  
 
Before commencing any walked safety inspection, the inspector shall note the 
following information; 
 

 The street name; 

 Inspection frequency; 

 Current date; and 

 Weather conditions (Ground conditions) 
 
The inspector shall position themselves in a safe location on the footway, in such a 
position that it enables him/her to view the full width of the footway and carriageway 
to the centre line including the carriageway channel areas. 
 
When the inspector encounters parked vehicles they shall take reasonable steps 
where appropriate so as to view the area obstructed by the vehicle.  
 
The inspector shall proceed along the footway, identifying defects that meet the 
investigatory levels set out in table 3. The inspector identifies defects and then 
undertakes a risk based approach on assessing the danger of the defect 
 
Any defect which falls at or outside these levels that the inspector identifies, would 
be assigned a score from table 4 and then a response time from table 5. These will 
be recorded on their handheld device, or by any other means operated by the 
individual HA. On completing the inspection of one side of the street, the inspector 
shall apply the same process to the opposite side of the road.  
 
 
Driven Carriageway Safety Inspection 
 
The purpose of these carriageway safety inspections is to identify defects that are 
likely to pose a risk or serious inconvenience to users of the network or the wider 
community and to arrange for their remedy. 
 
Before commencing the Driven Safety Inspection, the inspector shall note the 
following information; 
 

 The street name; 

 Inspection frequency; 

 Current date; and 

 Weather conditions (Ground conditions) 
 
Driven carriageway inspections shall be carried out utilising a driver (albeit more 
often than not they will be a trained highway inspector) and a highway inspector. The 
driver shall be responsible for driving and the highway inspector will be responsible 
for carrying out the safety inspection. 
 
The Inspector shall have due regard to their personal safety and in particular from 
moving traffic either on the main highway or at junctions and crossings. On no 
account must he/she put himself/herself in any hazardous situation. 

Page 156



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 9 
 

This relevant method statement must be read in conjunction with the Highways 
agency documents listed below, which are; 
 
• Temporary Traffic Management on High Speed Roads good working practice; 
• Guidance for safer Temporary Management workforce issues; and 
• Guidance for crossing High Speed Roads on foot during temporary traffic   

management works 
 
All Inspectors in an inspecting role carrying out driven carriageway safety inspections 
of high speed roads, shall attend the High Speed Traffic Management Awareness 
Course before they are allowed to carry out inspections of any high speed road. 
Drivers of these inspections will be required to attend the course also. 
 
 
Inspection Vehicle  
 
The inspection vehicle used for the driven highway safety inspections will be an 
appropriate vehicle for the task. The vehicle will ideally be equipped with all the 
necessary livery, flashing beacons, advisory LED vehicle mounted display signage 
etc., so can be driven safely at low speeds to facilitate a driven visual inspection of 
the highway having due regard to minimising inconvenience to other road users.  
 
 
 
 

6. Defect Investigatory Levels 
 
This section of the framework document sets out the investigatory levels and 
operational processes that are considered to be appropriate and responsible, taking 
into account the safety of highway users. 
 
Table 3 below lists the Defect Investigatory levels that would trigger the risk 
assessment using the matrix. 
 
            Table 3 
                                                                                                                                                                        

Footway  investigatory level 
 

25mm 

Carriageway Investigatory level 
 

40mm 

Carriageway investigatory level at  
pedestrian crossing points 
 

25mm 

Kerb defects 
 

50mm or over horizontal 
displacement 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 157



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 10 
 

7. Repair Response Times 

 
During safety inspections, all observed defects that provide a potential risk to users 
are recorded and the level of response determined on the basis of an onsite risk 
assessment. 
 
This Policy defines defects in two categories, which are; 
 
• Category 1 - those that require prompt attention because they represent an 

immediate hazard; and 
• Category 2 - all other defects. 
 
Category 1 
 
These defects will be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 
reasonably practicable. In this context, making safe may constitute displaying 
warning notices, coning-off or fencing-off to protect the public from the defect or 
other suitable action. If the inspection team cannot make safe the defect at the time 
of inspection then they will instigate the relevant emergency call procedures to 
ensure appropriate resources are mobilised to make the defect safe. These 
procedures aim to ensure initial attendance to the defect within 2 or 24 hours of the 
defect being identified. 
 
Category 2  
 
These defects are those which are deemed not to represent an immediate hazard 
and which can be repaired within longer timescales. Category 2 defects are 
categorised according to priority with response times defined within Table 5 below. 
 
 
 

8. Defect Risk Assessment  
 
The principles of a system of defect risk assessment for application to safety 
inspections are set out below. Any item with a defect level which corresponds to, or 
is in excess of, the minimum investigatory level, is to be assessed using the risk 
assessment matrix in table 4 below. 
 

Risk Factor  

The risk factor for a particular risk is calculated by;  
 

 Risk Factor = Likelihood score x Consequence score.  
 
It is this factor that identifies the overall seriousness of the risk and consequently the 
appropriateness of the speed of response to remedy the defect. 
 
Having identified a particular risk, assessed its Likelihood and Consequence thus 
calculating the risk factor, the category and the timescale to rectify the defect is 

Page 158



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 11 
 

either defined as a Category 1 response, or allocated to one of the Category 2 defect 
types (Low, Medium or High).  

Likelihood of Event Occurring  
This is the inspector’s assessment of the likelihood of the defect affecting the safe 
passage of vehicles along the highway, or affecting the structural integrity of the 
highway. It follows an assessment of the highway hierarchy and the location of the 
defect within the highway.  
 
Consequence of Event Occurring This is the impact/severity and is quantified by 
assessing the extent of damage likely to be caused should the risk be realised. The 
main consideration of impact/severity is the magnitude or dimension of the defect. 
However, other variables such as road speed may also affect the likely impact 

The risk assessment matrix detailed below will be the prime document used by the 
Highway Inspectors during the course of their inspections.  The matrix will be used to 
determine the defect categorisation and response. 
 
 
 
Table 4 – Risk Matrix (Taken from Institute of Highway Engineers) 
 
 

Likelihood 
of Event 
Occurring 

Consequence of Event Occurring 

Negligible Low Medium High Severe 

Negligible 
 
1 
 

2 3 4 5 

Very Low 
 
2 
 

4 6 8 10 

Low 
 
3 
 

6 9 12 15 

Medium 
 
4 
 

8 12 16 20 

High 
 
5 
 

10 15 20 25 

 
Key to Risks 

Low Medium High 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 159



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 12 
 

Priority Responses defined by colour 
 
Table 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Priority Response 
(Calendar days) 

1 2Hr 

2 24Hr 

3 14 Days 

4 28 Days 

5 Considered For 
Planned 
Maintenance 

6 Review At Next 
Inspection 

 
 
 
Minimum Investigatory Levels  
 
It is recognised that on any highway network, a multitude of minor defects will exist 
which do not pose any risk to either the safety or the integrity of the highway and for 
which it may be impractical and inefficient to expend limited resources to undertake 
repairs.  Any defects which do not meet the minimum investigatory levels can be 
recorded should the Inspector deem this appropriate using his discretion (for 
example, where a cluster of such defects may form a potential preventative 
maintenance scheme in the future). Where such defects are recorded, they will be 
recorded as Cat 2 defects but assigned a planned maintenance response time, 
defined in the risk matrix priority responses 
 
 
Typical Types of Defects 
 
Typical types of highway defects to be identified during scheduled highway safety 

inspections, not all of which give rise to a duty under section 41are set out in each 

HA’s safety inspection policy 

 
 
 

Risk factor Defect Category Priority Response 

25 1 1 

15 to 25 1 2 

9 to 12 2 3 

5 to 8 2 4 

2 to 4 2 5 

1 2 6 

Page 160



 

Greater Manchester Highway Safety Inspection Framework  Page 13 
 

9. Enquiries 

 
Enquiries will be dealt with in accordance with each individual district HA service 

levels and set out in each HA’s safety inspection policy 

 

10. Training 

It is highly recommended that all staff that are employed to undertake highway safety 

inspections are trained to Highway Safety Inspection Qualification City and Guilds 

6033 – Units 301 and 311. This qualification lasts 5-years and refresher training 

must be undertaken. 

It is also strongly recommended that any new highway inspector shadows a 

colleague within the inspection team for a period of time prior to being allowed to 

undertake inspections alone, and then is subject to close monitoring and supervision. 

Induction training will be undertaken for any new employees.  

The appropriate line manager / supervisor also undertakes regular follow-up checks 

in the way of on-site staff appraisals with each inspector which is then recorded and 

signed by both the supervisor and inspector as a true record.   

Each team member is provided with this framework document. 

The highway inspectorate will hold regular team meetings to discuss issues in 

relation to the inspection process, therefore allowing it to be continually reviewed. 

Make up of training to include; 

• Manager Introduction & Briefing; 

• Work shadowing; 

• Highway related training modules contained within the City & Guilds 

training scheme; Units 301 and 311. 

• On-site staff appraisals/work monitoring (line supervisor); 

• Regular team meetings; 

• Staff Development Reviews (Annually); 

• Any other external courses of relevance to post; and 

• Documents relating to relevant CoP’s   

 

 

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To approve a Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy 
 
Executive Summary 
 
This policy seeks to formalise the Oldham Council’s procedures for assessing Light Duty 
Vehicle Crossing applications and to ensure that they are assessed in a consistent and fair 
manner. 
 
Recommendations 
 
To approve the new Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report to CABINET 

 
Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Fida Hussain, Cabinet Member for Environmental 
Services 
 
Officer Contact:  Executive Director Economy, Skills and 
Neighbourhoods 
 
Report Author: Daniel Meadowcroft, Highways Asset Client 
Manager 
Ext. 2049 
 
26th March 2018 

Page 163

Agenda Item 13



 

   

 
 
Cabinet 26 March 2018 
 
Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 It is unlawful to drive a motor vehicle over the kerb and across the footway (commonly 

known as the pavement) in order to gain access to premises where there is no dropped 
crossing to allow this. This is an offence under section 34 of the Road Traffic Act 1988 
and section 72 of the Highways Act 1835. Furthermore Rule 145 of the Highway Code 
states: “You MUST NOT drive on or over a pavement, footpath or bridleway except to gain 
lawful access to property, or in the case of an emergency.” 

 
1.2 Under Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 a person may to apply to the highway 

authority (in this case Oldham council) for a Light Duty Vehicle Crossing (LDVC) to enable 
them to lawfully access their property. There is no right to the provision or widening of an 
LDVC to provide driveway access to premises, it is at the discretion of the highway 
authority as to whether such a crossing should be allowed. 

 
1.3 In determining whether to exercise the powers under Section 184 of the Highways Act, the 

Council will have regard to the need to prevent damage to a footway or verge and will also 
have regard to the need to ensure, so far as practicable, safe access to and egress from 
premises and the need to facilitate, so far as practicable, the passage of vehicular traffic in 
highways. 

 
1.4 Oldham Council will normally allow such crossings except where provision or widening will 

cause demonstrable harm to highway operation, safety or the amenity of the street. 
 
1.5 This policy specifies how Oldham Council will deal with applications for the provision of or 

widening of LDVCs to a single dwelling, commonly known as dropped kerbs or dropped 
crossings, and has been written to: 
• Meet legal and planning requirements, 
• Ensure that the Council deals with requests in a consistent manner. 
• Ensure construction quality and safety of vehicle dropped crossings. 

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 Oldham Council does not currently have a policy to assess Light Duty Vehicle Crossing 

applications. 
 
2.2 At present applications are assessed on an individual basis with a highways officer 

deciding whether or not an application should progress. 
 
2.3 Applications are rejected where the officer has assessed that it would be unsafe or would 

cause demonstrable harm to the operation of the highway. 
 
2.4 Many residents whose applications are rejected disagree with the decision not to allow an 

LDVC and complain to the Council through various channels, such as through council 
officers or elected members. 

 
2.5 This proposed policy seeks to define the criteria of when a LDVC request (using the 

policy) should or should not be permitted for the majority of situations. However, 

Page 164



 

   

occasionally there may be special circumstances unique to a specific street where it would 
not be appropriate to allow a crossing. 

 
2.6 The policy generally permits the construction of an LDVC except in instances where there 

are highway safety or engineering reasons as to why it would not be appropriate to allow 
an LDVC. 

 
2.7 The policy also sets out an appeals process for residents so that they may make 

representations if they disagree with a decision not to allow an LDVC. In this way any 
appeals can be managed through a formalised process. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 There are two options available: 
 
3.2 Option 1 
 
 Approve the new Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy. 
 
 Advantages to approving the new policy: 

 Ensuring that all LDVC applications are assessed in a fair and consistent manner 

 Ensuring that LDVCs are not permitted in unsafe or inappropriate locations 

 Formalised appeals process for applications 
 
 Disadvantages: 

 Conflict with residents where similar crossings (e.g. a neighbour’s) were previously 
constructed, but their property does not meet the new requirements 

 
3.3 Option 2 

 
Retain existing practices – working to no policy  
 
Advantages 

 Current working practices retained 
 
Disadvantages: 

 Inconsistent appeals process 

 Pressure on officers and members to allow a crossing where there is no policy to 
support a decision that has been made. 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 The preferred option is Option 1 to approve the new policy. 
 
4.2 Approving the policy will ensure that applications are managed in a consistent manner 

and appropriate engineering principles are applied when decisions are made. 
 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 Internally the proposed policy has been developed in conjunction with: 
 i) Oldham Council Highway Operations 
 ii) Oldham Council Highways Client 
 iii) Oldham Council Development Control & Planning 
 iv) Unity Partnership (Highways) 
 v) Legal Services 

Page 165



 

   

 
 
6 Financial Implications  
 
Revenue Implications 
 
6.1 Income and expenditure for Light Duty Vehicle Crossings is recorded on cost centre 40350, 

Highways Operations.  Income is offset by expenditure costs which include labour, 
operational materials, and hired in plant and contractors. Costs incurred are always 
recovered 100% from the end user based on each individual request.  

 
6.2 It is envisaged that a formalised policy for Light Duty Vehicle Crossing applications will not 

have any significant impact on Highways LDVC related income as the Highways Officer 
already assesses applications on the basis of “Safety and Operation of the Highway”.  

 
It is possible there may be a slight increase in the number of application refusals with 
regard to strict adherence to the space requirements for parking areas for vehicles on 
driveways.  However there has been a general increase in applications with more residents 
requiring off-road parking. 
 

6.3 The new policy proposes a consistent, formalised approach and can be referred to in the 
event of appeals.  This may assist in reducing time spent on appeals. 

 
6.4 Capital Implications 
 

There are no Capital implications (Sadrul Alam, Finance Manager, Cath Conlon, 
Accountant) 

 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 Adjoining landowners have a common law right of access to the highway without 

restriction but this is subject to statutory restrictions, particularly section 184 of the 
Highways Act 1980.  There is a right of appeal to the Secretary of State in relation to the 
service of a notice under section 184.  Introducing a policy would introduce greater 
certainty into the creation of light duty vehicle crossings, but the Council must not fetter its 
discretion and all applications must be considered on their merits.  (A Evans)   

 
8. Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 Implementing a policy to manage LDVC applications will help the Council achieve its 

corporate priorities: 
 

 Providing LDVCs will help vulnerable members of the community live independently. 
Knowing that they have somewhere secure to park their vehicle when they return 
home and will not have to park some distance away may encourage people to make 
journeys that they would otherwise not make, thus enabling them to actively engage 
with the community 

 Adopting the new policy will ensure that LDVCs are installed only in locations where it 
is appropriate to do so. This will ensure that no additional hazards are created in the 
footpath for pedestrians and in particular ensure that our footpaths remain accessible 
for wheelchairs and buggies. 

 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 N/A 

Page 166



 

   

 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 A consistent approach to Light Duty Vehicle Crossing will reduce risks as a consistent 

approach will be adopted across decision makers ensuring a consistent approach in line 
with legislation. 

 
10.2 A Light Duty Vehicle Crossing Policy should reduce the number of unauthorised crossings 

across the borough and will minimise the amount of pavement damage caused by 
vehicles using unauthorised vehicles crossing and reduce budget pressures for funding 
associated repairs and claims. (Victoria Gallagher). 

 
11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 No IT Implications associated with this policy paper (Chris Petrie) 
 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 Any subsequent sourcing activity arising from this funding allocation will be procured in 

accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.  This will include satisfying 
value for money principles and with due regard to social, economic and environmental 
factors.  (Darren Judge) 

 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 Planning applications fully assessed to ensure works undertaken does cause an 

increased risk of flooding to the property and/or local area.  (Justine Addy) 
 
 Health & Safety – No comments (Laura Smith) 
 
15 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1 A lack of access to off-street parking may become a barrier to effective movement, 

deterring some people from making the journeys that they might otherwise have made. 
Access to off-street parking can also reduce the fear of crime as many residents feel their 
vehicle would be less at risk of theft or vandalism than if parked on the street. 

 
16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
16.1  N/A 
 
17 Key Decision 
 
17.1 Yes  
 
18 Key Decision Reference 
 

18.1 ENVS-02-18 
 
 

Page 167



 

   

 
 
19 Background Papers 
 
19.1 None 

 
20 Appendices  
 
20.1 Appendix A – Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy 
  

 

Page 168



 

 

 

 
 

 

Light Duty Vehicle 
Crossings Policy 
 

 

April 2018 

 

Page 169



Page 2 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 This policy specifies how Oldham Council will deal with applications for the provision 

of or widening of Light Duty Vehicle Crossings (LDVCs) to a single dwelling, 
commonly known as dropped kerbs or dropped crossings. 

 
1.2  This policy only applies to domestic LDVCs for access to single dwellings.  
 

Applications for medium or heavy duty vehicle crossings (for vehicles ≥ 3,500kg), or 
for access to multiple dwellings or commercial premises are not covered by this policy. 
In these instances applicants should contact the Council’s Development Control and 
Planning service. 
 

1.3 The decision to grant a vehicle crossing is at the discretion of the highway authority (in 
this case, Oldham Council). Oldham Council will normally allow such crossings 
except where provision or widening will cause demonstrable harm to highway 
operation, safety or the amenity of the street. 

 
1.4 The policy has been written to:  

 Meet legal and planning requirements, 

 Ensure that the Council deals with requests in a consistent manner. 

 Ensure construction quality and safety of vehicle dropped crossings. 
 
1.5 Applications for an LDVC over the footway or verge are investigated and priced 

individually. 
 
 Oldham Council will assess applications in line with this policy but reserves the right to 

refuse applications on highway safety grounds for other engineering reasons not 
specifically covered in this policy. 

 
If the Council agrees to provide an LDVC, the works can only be carried out by the 
Council. The Council will provide the applicant with a quotation for the cost of the 
proposed works and if the applicant wishes to proceed, then the costs must be paid 
for in full before the works begin. The crossing will not be constructed until the 
driveway is complete. 

 
 
 
 

Page 170



Page 3 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

2 Legislative background 
 
2.1 It is unlawful to drive a motor vehicle over the kerb and across the footway 

(commonly known as the pavement) in order to gain access to premises where 
there is no dropped crossing to allow this. This is an offence under section 34 of 
the Road Traffic Act 1988 and section 72 of the Highways Act 1835. Furthermore 
Rule 145 of the Highway Code states: “You MUST NOT drive on or over a 
pavement, footpath or bridleway except to gain lawful access to property, or in the 
case of an emergency.” 

 
 Lawful access to a property may be obtained by applying to the highway authority 

for a vehicle crossing. Under normal circumstances it is not lawful to drive over a 
raised kerb to access a property. 

 

2.2 Any person who drives a motor vehicle across the pavement or verge without an 
authorised and properly constructed vehicle crossing could cause damage to the 
surface and kerb, and any underground service cables or pipelines laid beneath 
the surface. The person responsible for causing the damage would be liable for 
the cost of repairs. 

 
2.3 Under Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 a person may to apply to the Council 

for an LDVC. There is no right to the provision or widening of an LDVC to provide 
driveway access to premises, it is at the discretion of the highway authority as to 
whether such a crossing should be allowed.  

 
2.4 In determining whether to exercise the powers under Section 184 of the Highways 

Act, the Council will have regard to the need to prevent damage to a footway or 
verge and will also have regard to the need to ensure, so far as practicable, safe 
access to and egress from premises and the need to facilitate, so far as 
practicable, the passage of vehicular traffic in highways. 

 
2.5 The provisions of Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980, which empowers the 

highway authority to construct an LDVC, apply only to highway land. The highway 
authority does not have the power to authorise access to a property over land 
owned by a third party, including non-highway land that is owned by the Council. 
Any applications that would involve crossing non-highway land to access a 
property will be refused unless that land is owned by the applicant – in such 
instances planning permission may also be required. 

 

Page 171



Page 4 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

3 Planning Permission 
 
3.1  LDVCs for listed buildings, properties in conservation areas and accesses onto 

classified roads (A, B or classified unnumbered roads) require planning 
permission. Applicants for affected properties will be asked to provide the relevant 
planning application number. LDVCs that require planning permission will not be 
constructed until the highway authority has verified that planning consent has been 
granted. 

  
3.2 Where planning permission has been granted it is still necessary to obtain highway 

authority consent. A successful planning application does not necessarily mean 
that highway authority consent will be granted and vice versa. Applicants should 
liaise with both the planning and highway authority from the outset to avoid any 
confusion or disappointment. 

 
3.3  Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDSs) – Constructing a parking area or 

driveway on a property may also require planning permission. An applicant who 
wishes to construct a parking area in their front garden greater than 5 square 
metres in area must either use a permeable form of construction, or obtain 
planning permission from the Council. This requirement was introduced to reduce 
the risk of flooding by allowing more water to soak away into people's gardens. 

  
Furthermore it can be an offence under Section 163(1) of the Highways Act 1980 
to allow surface water from private land to flow on to or over the footway of the 
highway. 

Page 172



Page 5 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

4 LDVC Requirements 
 

4.1 The Council takes the following requirements into consideration when determining 
an application for a new or extended LDVC: 

 
4.2  Size of the intended parking area - The parking area must be at least 5 metres 

deep and 3 metres wide. 
 

If the driveway also forms part of the primary means of pedestrian access to the 
property, it should be a minimum 3.2 metres wide. 
 
Applications will be refused if the length of the driveway is less than 5 metres from 
the back of the pavement to the front of the building as this may result in the 
parked vehicle overhanging the highway. Vehicles must be parked at right angles 
to the highway wherever possible. Requests for bays to be parallel to the highway 
will not be accepted. This would restrict driver visibility and require an 
unacceptable number of vehicle movements over a footway, possibly causing a 
hazard and nuisance to pedestrians. It will usually be expected that the vehicle will 
be able to enter and leave a frontage in one manoeuvre. 
 
If the driveway is directly in front of a garage, the minimum length required is 5.5 
metres. This will allow sufficient space for the garage door to be opened with the 
vehicle standing clear of the highway. 
 

 
 
Although a resident may have a small car at the moment, the Council needs to 
consider what might happen in the future. A resident may purchase a larger car or 
sell the property to another person who drives a larger car. Overhanging vehicles 
cause a potential hazard to pedestrians. 
 

Property 

Vehicle 5m (min) 
5.5m (garage) 

3m (min) 
3.2m (ped access) 

Driveway 

Page 173



Page 6 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

4.3 Kerb Length – The minimum length of a new LDVC is 5 kerbs, 3 Bull-Nosed (flat) 
kerbs and 2 Transition* kerbs.  

 
 Creation or widening of an LDVC to a kerb length greater than 6 Bull-Nosed kerbs 

(approx. 5.4m) per property will not be permitted. Excessively long dropped kerbs 
may have a detrimental effect on the amenity of the street and the provision of 
kerb side parking. The length of the drop crossing may also make it difficult for a 
blind person using a long cane or a guide dog to follow the kerb line. 

 
*Transition kerbs are shaped to link the standard height kerb to the dropped kerb. 

 

Transition kerbs 

Bull-nosed 
(flat) kerbs 

Page 174



Page 7 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

4.4 Driveway Gradient – An LDVC will not be allowed where the parking area within 
5m of the rear of footway is of greater gradient than 1in10 (10%). This could cause 
difficulties for the driver entering and exiting the driveway and reduce visibility of 
pedestrians and vehicles on the highway. 

 

 

 
4.5 Footway Drainage – LDVCs need to ensure that pedestrian areas are properly 

drained and are neither washed by runoff nor subject to standing water. There 
should be a crossfall of at least 1in40 (2.5%) to allow water to flow from the 
footway onto the carriageway. When constructing a hardstanding it is the 
applicant’s responsibility that the hardstanding’s level at its threshold with the 
footway is high enough to allow sufficient crossfall to the carriageway. 

 

Page 175



Page 8 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

 In no circumstances will it be acceptable to allow water to flow from the footway 
onto the property. This could lead to a property being flooded.  

 
 Where sufficient crossfall cannot be achieved without maintaining the desired 

driveway gradient (see Sec 4.4) the application will be refused. Standing water on 
the footway can be a danger to pedestrians, especially during winter months when 
it could freeze. 

 
4.6 Junctions and Roundabouts – The Council will not allow an LDVC closer than 10m 

to a junction or roundabout (including mini-roundabouts) on an unclassified road or 
15m on a classified road. This distance will be extended to at least *20m on all 
road types for a junction with traffic lights. When located too close to a junction 
there is increased risk of conflict between vehicles using the junction and the 
LDVC. 

 
 *this distance may be extended subject to section 5.8 below. 
 

Where a property is situated on the junction of a major road and a minor road, the 
LDVC should be located on the minor road wherever possible. 

 
4.7 Visibility – A visibility splay of 1m x 1m must be provided either side of the 

driveway to provide inter-visibility between pedestrians using the footway and a 
vehicle manoeuvring from the drive onto the highway. Pillars, fences, walls or 
planting greater than 0.6m in height will not be allowed within this area as it would 
obstruct the view of a driver to a child or buggy on the footway. 

 
 

 
 

Pedestrian Visibility 

Pedestrian Visibility 

 

 

Footway or Verge Carriageway 

  ↑ 
1m  
  ↓ 

  ↑ 
1m  
  ↓ 

←1m→ 

←1m→ 

Page 176



Page 9 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

When a vehicle is being manoeuvred from the driveway there must be adequate 
visibility for the driver to see oncoming traffic and vice versa. On a flat road at a 
position of 2m (X distance) back from the kerb edge a visibility splay of 25m (Y 
distance) along the kerbline in either direction will be needed on a road with a 
20mph speed limit. On a road with a 30mph speed limit a Y distance of 43m would 
be necessary. Visibility requirements for roads with a higher speed limit or on a hill 
will be assessed on an individual basis using the guidance detailed in “Manual for 
Streets 2” or any superseding document. 
 
 

 
 
 

Any location where there is a single or double solid white line in the centre of the 
carriageway, as per Diagram 1013.1 below, will be deemed to have insufficient 
visibility even if it meets the criteria above. 
 
 

 
 

Page 177



Page 10 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

4.8 Difference in Footway/Carriageway Levels – Applications where the footway is 
significantly higher than the carriageway will be assessed on an individual basis. 
Any additional works identified should be paid for in full by the applicant and 
completed before the construction of the LDVC commences. 

 
As a general rule the following criteria shall apply: 

 

 Alterations to a highway structure, such as a retaining wall, will not be permitted. 

 The gradient of the LDVC should be a maximum of 1in10 (10%) across the 
footway (from the driveway to the road). 

 The footway should be re-profiled to a maximum gradient of 1in40 (2.5%) to 
facilitate wheelchair access – given the hilly nature of some parts of the borough 
this may not be achievable, in which case the gradient should not increase from its 
existing level. 
This may mean that an extensive length of the footway would have to be re-
profiled to achieve the desired gradients. This could expose the foundations and 
affect the stability of garden walls/fences, therefore existing walls/fences would 
have to be removed prior to the works commencing.  
Oldham Council will not agree to re-profile a footway where it will alter the level 
outside another property. In such cases the application will be refused. 

 Many utilities are located in footways and verges. Re-profiling a footway would 
most likely require the relocation of utility apparatus. Prior to granting a vehicle 
crossing access the applicant will be required to pay for a trial dig to verify the 
depth of any services. It would then be the applicant’s responsibility to liaise with 
the relevant utility companies to relocate their apparatus. (See section 5.2) 

 
Where the Carriageway is significantly higher than the footway the application will 
be refused. This could lead to water flowing from the highway onto the property, 
potentially leading to flooding. 

 
4.9 Gates – It is an offence under Section 153(1) of the Highways Act 1980 to allow a 

gate to open outwards towards the highway. Any gates fitted outside a property 
must be fitted in a manner that they open inwards, away from the highway. 

 
If a gate is to be used, the length of the driveway would need to be increased so 
that there is sufficient room for the gate to open and close. (See section 4.2) 

 

Page 178



Page 11 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

5 Obstructions 
 
5.1 Where there is a physical obstruction to a proposed LDVC, or its construction will 

have a detrimental impact on traffic then the application will be refused, unless the 
obstruction can be overcome by technical means (such as relocation). In all cases 
any accommodation works to overcome obstructions must be paid for in full by the 
applicant and the works must have been completed before the LDVC is 
constructed. 

 
5.2  Utility Apparatus – Location of Telegraph poles or other Statutory Undertaker 

apparatus – Where the LDVC affects the location of a telegraph pole, a utility box 
or chamber or other elements of the utility network the applicant will need to obtain 
agreement from the Utility concerned to move/alter the apparatus. The Utility will in 
turn need the agreement of Oldham Council to move the apparatus to the new 
location. In all cases all costs for the relocation of the apparatus will be a matter of 
negotiation between the applicant and the utility. The Council will not install an 
LDVC until all affected apparatus have been relocated. 

 
Please note that the cost of relocating utility apparatus can be prohibitive, 
potentially in the tens of thousands of pounds. 

 
5.3 Street lighting columns – Street lighting columns are arranged to provide an even 

level of illumination to the highway for safety reasons. Relocating them to facilitate 
an LDVC may affect the level of illumination offered and if this cannot be 
overcome by technical means then the application will be refused. If it is 
acceptable to move a column then all costs of the relocation will be charged to the 
applicant. 

 
5.4 Highway Trees – An LDVC will not normally be allowed where its construction 

would require either the removal of or cutting the roots of a highway tree. 
Generally, the Council will only agree to the removal of a highway tree if it is dead, 
diseased, dying, or considered to be at the end of its useful life expectancy. In all 
cases where it is agreed to remove a tree, the applicant will be required to pay for 
the cost of its removal and replacements to be planted. 

 
5.5 Bus Stops – An LDVC will not be allowed where there is potential for conflict with 

buses using bus stops. No LDVCs will be permitted: 

 within bus stop clearway markings 

 within *5.5m in front of the bus stop pole 

 or within *17.5m to the rear of the bus stop pole 
 
*These distances may need to be increased in special circumstances such as for 
double bus stops or stops that serve articulated (bendy) buses. 

 
5.6 Road humps - where an applicant requests a new vehicle access crossing or 

seeks an extension to a vehicle access crossing in circumstances where an 
existing road hump or similar feature is judged to create an unacceptable hazard 
or hindrance to the operation of the crossing, the application will not be approved. 

 
5.7 LDVCs are not suitable as pedestrian crossing points. Blind or partially sighted 

people need to be able to distinguish between LDVCs and places where it is safe 
to cross. Where there is a pedestrian crossing point the LDVC should be 

Page 179



Page 12 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

constructed separately with at least one full-height kerb stone between the LDVC’s 
transition kerb and the pedestrian crossing’s transition kerb. 

 
5.8 Traffic Signals – LDVCs should not affect the operation of traffic lights. The 

Council will not allow an LDVC on any side of the road where traffic regularly 
queues at traffic signals or within 20m of a set of traffic lights. 

 
Crossings Points – LDVCs will not be permitted within the confines of the zigzag 
lines at a controlled crossing, such as a zebra or pelican crossing. 
 

5.9  Cycle Lanes – LDVCs will not be permitted over a shared use footway / cycleway, 
over a cycle track or over a mandatory cycle lane in the carriageway. LDVCs may 
be permitted over an advisory cycle lane if it assessed to be safe. 

 
 A mandatory cycle lane is distinguished by a solid white line between the main 

carriageway and the cycle lane. For an advisory cycle lane this white line is 
broken. Motorised vehicles are not permitted to enter mandatory cycle lanes and 
should not enter advisory cycle lanes unless the driver has seen that it is safe to 
do so. 

 

 
 
5.10 Designated Parking bays – The Council has the power to enforce the prohibition of 

parking in front of a dropped crossing.  However this does not apply to designated 
parking places (e.g. laybys or other areas constructed for parking), or any area on 
the carriageway where parking is specifically authorised, such as in a marked 
parking bay. 

 
 An LDVC will not be permitted in a designated parking place. 
  

In areas where parking is specifically authorised, such as in marked parking bays, 
the applicant will also have to apply for Access Protection Markings and pay to 
have any existing road markings amended. This is so that motorists are able to 

Page 180



Page 13 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

distinguish between where they are and are not allowed to park. If the road 
markings are not amended then the Council will not be able to enforce the 
prohibition of parking in front of the dropped kerbs. 

 

Page 181



Page 14 of 14 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy April 2018 

6 Enforcement of Illegal Crossings 
 
6.1 The unlawful act of driving a motor vehicle over the kerb and across the footway 

(commonly known as the pavement) in order to gain access to premises where 
there is no dropped crossing could be subject to formal action by the Council or 
the Police. The Council’s approach to enforcement will be to offer advice and 
guidance as the first and preferred way to deal with illegal crossings. However, the 
Council will use formal powers where necessary to prevent illegal crossings.  

 
6.2 The Council have a number of formal options under Section 184 of the Highways 

Act 1980 available to it to prevent illegal crossings, for example, serving a notice 
on the occupier/owner of the property imposing conditions on the use of a crossing 
or to carry out work to construct an LDVC and re-charge the occupier/owner.  
There is a right of appeal to the Secretary of State in relation to the service of a 
notice under Section 184.   Other measures could include installing physical 
barriers, such as guardrails or bollards to prevent access to the driveway where a 
crossing is not permitted. 

 

7 Appeals 
 
7.1 In some cases applicants may not be entirely satisfied with the outcome of their 

application. In situations like this any representations should be made in writing to 
the Executive Director for Economy, Skills and Neighbourhoods at Oldham 
Council, Civic Centre, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1UT. 

 
7.2 Any appeals should include details of why the applicant thinks they have grounds 

for an appeal, such as that the policy has been incorrectly applied, or there are 
special circumstances as to why this policy should not apply to their property. 

 

Page 182



Document is Restricted

Page 183

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 215

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 217

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 241

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 251

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 327

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 333

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 335

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 337

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 339

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 385

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 413

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 423

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 437

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meetings
	Minutes
	$$MDocPackPublic.version0001
	Minutes


	6 Oldham Town Centre Masterplan Delivery Options
	7 PFI Refinancing
	8 Disposal of former Breeze Hill School, Roxbury Avenue, Salem [St. Marys]
	9 Tree Surgery Framework of Contractors
	10 Revenue Monitor and Capital Investment Programme 2017/18 Quarter 3 - December 2017
	2. Annex 1 - Revenue Monitor Report Month 9-Cabinet
	3. Appendix 1 Planned Transfers to from Reserves var from 8 to 9- Cabinet
	4 Appendix 2 - Grant Financing Quarter 3- Cabinet
	5. Annex 2 - Capital Report Quarter 3- Cabinet

	11 Discretionary Rate Relief Policy 2018/19
	12 Highway Safety Inspection Policy
	ENVS-01-18 Appendix A Draft Highway Safety Inspection Policy v2
	ENVS-01-18 Appendix B Greater Manchester Highway Inspection Framework APR2018

	13 Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy
	ENVS-02-18 Draft Light Duty Vehicle Crossings Policy - v3

	15 Oldham Town Centre Masterplan Delivery Options
	Appendix A Masterplan appointments
	Appendix B Masterplan consultation results
	Appendix C Temporary market hall option reduced
	Appendix D Condensed updated masterplan March 2018 reduced
	Appendix E QE Hall Final June 2017
	Appendix F Partner Engagement (C&W)
	Appendix G Southlink site location
	Appendix H Mecca bingo site location
	Appendix I Economic benefits
	Appendix J Masterplan delivery options appraisal
	Appendix K Financial appraisal

	16 PFI Refinancing
	17 Disposal of former Breeze Hill School, Roxbury Avenue, Salem [St. Marys]
	18 Tree Surgery Framework of Contractors

